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- Chairman’s Statement

BV

SUCCESSFUL LISTING OF XINGFA
ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The successful listing of Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited
(“our Company” and, together with its subsidiaries, “our Group”)
on the Main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) on 31 March 2008 represented another
significant chapter in the long, progressive history of our Group

over the years.

LEADING MARKET PLAYER IN THE
ALUMINIUM PROFILES INDUSTRY

We are one of the leading aluminium profiles manufacturers in
the PRC and are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of aluminium profiles. Our Group was awarded as the “No. 1 of
the Top-Ten National Aluminium Profiles Enterprises” by =157
HELREINT TE#RE (Ching Non-Ferrous Metals Fabrication
Industrial Association) (“CNFA”) in 2003 and such status was
confirmed by CNFA in February 2008. Our products can be
broadly categorised into aluminium profiles with surface finishing
and plain aluminium profiles. Our aluminium profiles with surface
finishing are generally applied as construction materials whilst
our plain aluminium profiles are generally applied as industrial

materials.
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Chairman’s Statement
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STRONG BUSINESS GROWTH IN 2007

By leveraging on our production capacity expansion and the
technical know-how in the manufacture of aluminium profiles, we
achieved encouraging growth in our business for the year ended
31 December 2007. Our turnover increased from approximately
RMB1,861.24 million for the year ended 31 December 2006
to approximately RMB2,148.67 million for the year ended 31
December 2007, representing a growth of approximately 15.4%.
Our profit also increased from approximately RMBG60.29
million for the year ended 31 December 2006 to approximately
RMB291.60 million for the year ended 31 December 2007,
representing a growth of approximately 383.7%. Such sharp
increase in profit for the year ended 31 December 2007 was
mainly due to the recognition of a one-off gain on disposal of
lease prepayments, net of business tax, land appreciation tax and
surcharges, which amounted to approximately RMB172.86 million.
If this gain on disposal of lease prepayments (net of business tax,
land appreciation tax and surcharges) was excluded, the increase in
profit for the year ended 31 December 2007 as compared to that in
the year ended 31 December 2006 would be approximately 97.0%.

THE LISTING OF
R NUM HOLD]I\JGSXNG
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FUTURE PLAN

Our aggregate annual design production capacity of aluminium
profiles at our Group’s production plant located at Chancheng
District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) (“Chancheng Factory”) and our Group’s

production plant located at Sanshui District,
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Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC FEEXIF113,400M o
(“Sanshui Factory”) was approximately EEERKKE EE
113,400 tonnes as at 31 December 2007. The FEAEFRGEMRLE X002 £E JNAE T GEE e 15 0 ik
relocation of production operation from the Po A =K s o H
Chancheng Factory to the Sanshui Factory o B 8 2L AT+ 5 BZEELFENA
will begin in May 2008. Up to September T—a =K R TR
2007, five smelters and eight extruders in the W W8 Ko B R A% > B
Sanshui Factory were installed and currently *Eﬁz;a 8 ﬂ%tbﬁ I Sz A7 AR o AR
in parallel run. Our Directors expect the l R TR R R e

entire relocation process will be completed

in December 2009. Upon integration of production facilities
originally located at the Chancheng Factory and new production
facilities to be acquired until June 2010, the Sanshui Factory will
have an annual designed production capacity of aluminium profiles

of approximately 150,000 tonnes in 2010.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to take this
opportunity to thank every member of my Board, management
and staff for contributing the success of our Group. Also, I wish to
express my appreciation to our customers and business partners for
their continuing support. We will remain committed to continuing
the success of our Company while seeking to generate greater

returns for our shareholders.

Luo Su, Chairman
Hong Kong, 21 April 2008
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TURNOVER

We are one of the leading aluminium profiles manufacturers in the
PRC and are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of

aluminium profiles.

Our turnover increased by approximately 15.4% from
approximately RMBI1,861.24 million for the year ended 31
December 2006 to approximately RMB2,148.67 million for the
year ended 31 December 2007. The increase in our turnover during
the year was mainly attributable to the increase in our total sales
volume by approximately 16.4% from 76,702 tonnes in 2006 to
89,295 tonnes in 2007.

In particular, our sales volume of plain aluminium profiles
increased by approximately 21.7% from 28,495 tonnes for the year
ended 31 December 2006 to 34,690 tonnes for the year ended 31
December 2007 as a result of the increased customers demand for
aluminium profiles used on transportation equipment industry

during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The following table sets forth our turnover and its percentage of TEEINBE " FENEL _EELFE
turnover by product category for the years ended 31 December T = H AR AR A S O
2006 and 2007: N GRET NEA R
2007 2006
—EE LA N
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AW T % ARWETIC %
Manufacture and sale of A T B B b
aluminium profiles
— aluminium profiles with — KRR SR FR Y
surface finishing FAEEIY )
1,300,069 60.5 1,183,565 63.6
— plain aluminium profiles —6 B g A A 739,262 34.4 624,056 33.5
2,039,331 94.9 1,807,621 97.1
Others (Note) Hops (it 109,343 5.1 53,623 2.9
Total Ak 2,148,674 100.0 1,861,244 100.0
Note: Our Group’s other turnover represented turnover generated from the M A AR HoAm 0 A 35 AR B K B R A
manufacture and sale of aluminium panels, moulds and spare parts L T TR DA R B A i TR B e
and the provision of processing services. Ao
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B o
Our Group’s turnover by geographical segments during the years TREJIAEEPEE - FENERF
ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 are as follows: FHHE+ T H =1 —H 1k 4 B i 38 3]
HIHA
2007 2006
—% Lt SRl
RMB’OOB % RMB’000 %

AR TIL %  ARWTC %
The PRC HlE 1,962,703 91.3 1,599,121 85.9
North America Jb3E 40,387 1.9 57,395 3.1
Europe el 24,098 1.1 60,107 3.2
Hong Kong ik 60,381 2.8 43,650 2.3
Asia Pacific (other than the g IR (R &

PRC and Hong Kong) RSN 50,334 2.3 84,653 4.6
Others HoAth 10,771 0.6 16,318 0.9
Toral Mt 2,148,674 100.0 1,861,244 100.0
For the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007, domestic sales HE EENFEN _EELFE+T A
in the PRC in aggregate accounted for approximately 85.9% and e et & W e o9 e SR Sl TN E e R R B
91.3% of our Group’s turnover respectively. AL A £E B A %85.9% 5 91.3% °
Our Group also exports directly to the United States, Europe and 75 A 18 2 i R L A 1 S R e
other Asian countries. For the years ended 31 December 2006 and M B R - B = BTN FEM _EFEE L
2007, nondomestic sales in aggregate accounted for approximately Fr T HZT—HIEFEA S RN EE A%
14.1% and 8.7% of our Group’s turnover respectively. 5 7 £E A B4 14.1% 5 8.7% ©

(),
IR
sttt

P E &R &

.
[CRR L ¢ [T
Wi
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The following table sets forth the sales volume and average
selling prices of our principal products during the years ended 31
Dececember 2006 and 2007:

FRMIEE - EEAER - FF L
Y e R IS ES TEL
R BT

2007 2006
_EELE BN

Aluminium profiles with surface

finishing
Revenue (RMB’000)
Quantity (ronnes)

Average selling price per tonne (RMB) WA T-4B1E (A K ¥or)

Plain aluminium profiles
Revenue (RMB’000)
Quantity (tonnes)

Average selling price per tonne (RMB)  RiMAF-EAE (N E#oT)

Total
Revenue (RMB’000)
Quantity (ronnes)

Average selling price per tonne (RMB)

A8 % i g TR P SRR A%

WA (AR TT)

WA (AR L)

NN )
T EE (ARHT)

{xNet —

CERTIFICATE
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48,207
24,552

624,056
28,495
21,901

1,807,621
76,702
23,567
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Management Discussion and Analysis

WM RO

COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales increased by approximately 13.0% from
approximately RMB1,724.74 million for the year ended 31
December 2006 to approximately RMB1,949.50 million for the
year ended 31 December 2007. The increase in the cost of sales was
primarily due to the increase in the purchase of aluminium ingots

to meet the production needs.
GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the factors mentioned in the sub-paragraphs headed
“Turnover” and “Cost of sales” above, our gross profit increased by
approximately 45.9% from approximately RMB136.50 million for
the year ended 31 December 2006 to approximately RMB199.18
million for the year ended 31 December 2007, while our gross
profit margin increased significantly from approximately 7.3%
to approximately 9.3% during the two years ended 31 December
2006 and 2007.

: i ——
l FTTRERFTg =t PRV R SRS

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
L B P IR A R
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B o i B 3 B

The following table sets forth the gross profit margin of our N R A L H G B B

aluminium profiles:

2007 2006
e 3 D —ETNAE

Aluminium profiles with surface finishing 28 2% T i B 4 TR A 8.9% 6.1%

Plain aluminium profiles S B A 10.9% 8.4%

The improvement in overall gross profit margin was mainly S RIS E RN AR E

attributable to the following factors:

1. After the technical modification of our production lines in 1. AEERE SRR T ENAER
2006, the equipment utilisation rate was further improved BIH RHEHREEE 2%
from approximately 79.6% for the year ended 31 December NEF A= —HIEEEL79.6%
2006 to approximately 80.7% for the year ended 31 WM ERE 2R LET A
December 2007. A better production economy of scale was =+ —HIFEE480.7% » #EET K
then achieved. HE R G Rk 25
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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2. At the same time, we have enhanced our production
technology so as to reduce wastage during the production

stage by streamlining each of the individual processes.

3. The slight change in our Group’s product mix as a result of
the increase in the sale volume of plain aluminium profiles
which has a higher gross profit margin than aluminium
profiles with surface finishing. The percentage of turnover of
plain aluminium profiles to our Group’s total turnover has
increased from approximately 33.5% to 34.4% during the

year under review.
OTHER NET INCOME

Other net income increased from approximately RMB5.91
million for the year ended 31 December 2006 to an income of
approximately RMB182.17 million for the year ended 31 December
2007. The increase was primarily due to the fact that our Group
recognized a one-off gain on disposal of lease prepayments of
approximately RMB174.94 million, net of business tax and
surcharges for the year ended 31 December 2007.

DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Our distribution expenses increased by approximately 51.9% from
approximately RMB21.42 million for the year ended 31 December
2006 to approximately RMB32.53 million for the year ended 31
December 2007. Our distribution expenses as a percentage of
turnover increased from approximately 1.2% for the year ended
31 December 2006 to approximately 1.5% for the year ended
31 December 2007. The increase in distribution expenses was
mainly attributable to the combined effects of (i) the increase in
sales incentives to our staff by approximately 50.4% or RMB0.88
million; (ii) the increase in agency fee to our distributors by
approximately 50.0% or RMBO0.45 million; (iii) the increase in
advertising expenses by approximately 150.5% or RMB4.07 million
as a result of launch of several advertising campaign for the year
ended 31 December 2007 to boost sales; and (iv) the increase in

transportation fee by approximately 39.2% or RMB5.08 million.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
S R SETE A RN T
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ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses decreased by approximately 7.6%
from approximately RMB32.29 million for the year ended 31
December 2006 to RMB29.85 million for the year ended 31
December 2007. This decrease in administrative expenses was
mainly attributable to the decrease in (i) depreciation charge of
approximately RMB1.59 million; and (ii) repairs and maintenance
of approximately RMB1.17 million. Therefore, our administrative
expenses as a percentage of turnover decreased from approximately
1.7% for the year ended 31 December 2006 to approximately 1.4%
for the year ended 31 December 2007 after the adoption of cost

saving measures.
RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

As a result of the factors discussed above, the results from
operating activities increased by approximately 259.6% from
approximately RMB88.70 million for the year ended 31 December
2006 to approximately RMB318.97 million for the year ended
31 December 2007. The increase in operating profit margin was
mainly attributable to the recognition of a one-off gain on disposal
of lease prepayments of approximately RMB174.94 million, net of

business tax and surcharges.
NET FINANCE COSTS

Net finance costs increased by approximately 24.4% from
approximately RMB22.54 million for the year ended 31 December
2006 to approximately RMB28.04 million for the year ended 31
December 2007. The increase in net finance costs was mainly due
to the increase in interest expense on bank borrowings to finance
working capital and capital expenditures for the expansion of our

business during two years of review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

We are not liable to pay any income tax expense for the year ended
31 December 2007 as our principal operating subsidiary, J&#
E@%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ/z}ﬁj((}uangdong Xingfa Aluminium Co., Ltd.)
(“Xingfa Aluminium”), is a wholly foreign owned enterprise
established in 2006. According to the Income Tax Law of the PRC
for Enterprises with Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprises,
Xingfa Aluminium, being an enterprise with foreign investment
and is entitled to tax concessions whereby the profit for the first
two financial years beginning with the first profic-making year is
exempted from income tax in the PRC and the profit for each of
the subsequent three years is taxed at 50% of the prevailing tax
rate set by the local authority. No provision for PRC income tax
has been made for the year ended 31 December 2007. However,
during the year ended 31 December 2007, a land appreciation tax
provision of approximately RMB2.08 million was recognised which
was arisen from the disposal of lease prepayments. Overall, we
recorded an income tax credit of approximately RMBO0.68 million
for the year ended 31 December 2007.

The effective tax rate of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2006 was approximately 8.9% whereas no provision for PRC
income has been made for the year ended 31 December 2007. Such
reduction is mainly attributable to the tax concessions enjoyed by
Xingfa Aluminium since its net profit was exempted from income
tax in the PRC for its second profit-making year. Further, the gain
on disposal of lease prepayments recorded by Xingfa Aluminium
for the year ended 31 December 2007 in the PRC was also

exempted from income tax in the PRC as mentioned above.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
LGS S S P A BRA 20074F JE ¥R 45

Pt (BX) / K%

Fl A A 4 (8] 2 A5 o ) B R B 2 4
FEHRAF (W) R EEN
ERST ) BANE A MR BN E
TXEFE+ T A=A H AR E AT
0] Fir 750 BH S o AR 95 m B O P 4 A 2
HME A 3 T AR Bl i > DGR GR 3 Sy 2 AN E 4
¥ nEERLIE I S BB R R A AL R
1] B SR AT B R G A v R T A - i L AR
A 2 Y AN e R LA A %
FLRS0% M MBIH - B & ~FELFE+
A=A —H k4 3 4t o 3 I A5 BLAE
Bl o R ME FTLETF A=
kA7 B2 [ eh o o B T AT L 6 8
-l 498 1 49 45 40 N R H52,080,0007C - 3£
BmE AEMREE_FE LT A
= —HIEAE R B AS TA BLR S AN R
680,0007T °

AEBEBE_FENFET+_H=1T—HIE
R B B A 158.9% > B 2 — %%
EEF A=t — BRI AR AR AT
I Iy 15 50 435 A0 B PR R N Bk R R R
SELR G SETE B R A T AR S S
A I A A T A B TR el < LA R
“EFLET AT - HIRFEE R R
B TR S 2 1A TS AEL < e A5 A A ST Al
R S AR B P A



PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND THE NET PROFIT
MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing factors, the profit for the year increased
significantly by approximately 383.7% from RMBG60.29 million for
the year ended 31 December 2006 to approximately RMB291.60
million for the year ended 31 December 2007. The increase in the
net profit margin from approximately 3.2% to 13.6% during these
two years of review was mainly attributable to the recognition of
a one-off gain of approximately RMB172.86 million on disposal
of lease prepayments in respect of the piece of land with a site area
of approximately 138,719 sq.m. owned by Xingfa Aluminium, net
of business tax, surcharges and land appreciation tax. Without
accounting for the one-off gain of approximately RMB172.86
million, the net profit margin would have increased from

approximately 3.2% to 5.5% during the year under review.
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Current and quick ratios

The following table sets out the summary of our Group’s current
and quick ratios as at 31 December 2006 and 2007:
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As at As at

31 December 31 December

2007 2006

w7 i

ZERLAE TREINAE

Rt | B Sy [

Current Ratio (Note) TMEIEL R (i) 1.69 1.08
Quick Ratio (Noze) MBI LR (f ) 1.25 0.90

Note: Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided
by the total current liabilities at the end of the year.

Quick ratio is calculated based on the difference between the total
current assets and the inventories divided by the total current
liabilities at the end of the year.

As at 31 December 2007, the current ratio and the quick ratio of
our Group had increased slightly to approximately 1.69 and 1.25,
respectively, which was mainly attributable to the combined effects
of (i) increase in inventories of approximately RMB66.47 million
to cope with the business expansion; (ii) increase in cash and cash

equivalents of approximately RMB90.32 million as a result of the
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receipt of the consideration with respect to the disposal of lease
prepayments of approximately RMB208.08 million less dividend
payment of approximately RMB118.96 million in 2007 and
(iii) derecognition of loans and borrowings and trade and other
payables of approximately RMB212.50 million and approximately
RMB324.64 million respectively of Xingfa Group and Xingfa

Innovation as a result of Reorganisation of our Group.
Gearing Ratio

The following table sets out the summary of our Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 December 2006 and 2007:

TERF AR B TRA N R 118,960,000
JCHIS B & ML & S m i g N R
90,320,0007C 3 &m)lﬂi%@iﬁﬂﬂﬁ»\
1b T 5 R B L% K L% 1 B 1 SR AT

D K 58 Gy Fe Ho b I A IE/\HIJZ’JJ\E%
212,500,0007C & £ N R #324,640,0007T
P A3 R 2R i o

BRI

T RBIIA LR FTANE R T
A= AR AEEE R

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2007 2006

S S

“EFFLE SN

+oH=1—H +-HA=1—H

Gearing Ratio (Note) AEERELE (i #) 35.5% 31.5%
Note: Gearing ratio is calculated based on the loans and borrowings BifaE: BRTE R R DUSRAT R bR LU A AR

divided by total assets and multiplied by 100%.

As at 31 December 2007, our gearing ratio was increased to
approximately 35.5% which was mainly due to the decrease in total
assets as a result of derecognition of total assets of approximately
RMB707.36 million of Xingfa Group and Xingfa Innovation

pursuant to the Reorganisation of our Group.
Inventory Turnover Days

The following table sets out the summary of the Group’s inventory
turnover days during the two years ended 31 December 2006 and
2007:

HRLI100%FT .

RoEELF+ A= —H EEHRRAE
S 6] AL 0T A L R R L e L
F) 7 AE K9 N R KK 707,360,0007C » B4
HEHEERAWRD  SABEEL RS
#135.5% o
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S

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2007 2006
BKECEELE W E BRI
FoASt o b
1A IFAERE
Inventory Turnover Days (Note) 39 29

Note: Inventory turnover days is calculated based on the average of the
beginning and ending inventory balance for the year divided by the
total cost of sales during the year multiplied by 365 days.
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Inventories balance as at the respective years end during the
two year ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 represents our raw

materials, work in progress and the unsold finished goods.

Our inventory turnover days were approximately 29 and 39 during
the two years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007. The increase
inventory turnover days from approximately 29 days in 2006 to
approximately 39 days in 2007 was due to the increase in inventory
of aluminium ingots for production for construction materials to
meet with delivery demand for the several significant construction
projects such as the Burj Tower Project in Dubai. Despite a deemed
appropriation of approximately RMB28.35 million of inventories
was made as a result of Reorganisation in 2007, there is no material
impact on the analysis of inventory turnover days. Our Group has
not made any material provisions for inventory obsolescence during
the two years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007. Aluminium
ingots, our Group’s primary raw material, is not generally
susceptible to obsolescence by passage of time. Our Group has
not experienced any material shortage of inventory during the two
years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007.

Debtors’ turnover days
The following table sets out the summary of our Group’s debtors’

turnover days during the two years ended 31 December 2006 and
2007:
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31 December 31 December

2007 2006
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Debtors’ turnover days (Note) JES IR G IR (M AE) 65 55

Note: Debtors’ turnover days is calculated based on the average of the
beginning and ending balance of trade and bills receivables for the
year divided by turnover during the year multiplied by 365 days.
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Trade receivables balance as at the respective year end during
the two years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 represents the
outstanding amounts receivable by us from our customers which
have been granted with credit period. Normally, we require our
customers to settle our invoices by cash on delivery. The granting
of credit to customers is assessed on a case-by-case basis and
we may grant credit terms of 30 to 60 days on a rolling basis to
our customers with whom we have maintained a longer business

relationship.

The debtors’ turnover days was increased from approximately
55 days for the year ended 31 December 2006 to approximately
65 days for the year ended 31 December 2007. The increase was
mainly attributable to the combined effects of (i) the increase
in turnover in the fourth quarter of 2007 by approximately
RMB169.52 million or 32.7% as compared to fourth quarter
in 2006 which caused an increase in trade receivables from
approximately RMB253.43 million to approximately RMB279.99
million as at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007
respectively and (ii) more customers utilised bills for settlement
as evidenced by the increase in bills receivables by approximately
8.2% from approximately RMB110.96 million at 31 December
2006 to approximately RMB120.05 million at 31 December 2007.

Creditors’ turnover days

The following table sets out the summary of our Group’s creditors’
turnover days during the two years ended 31 December 2006 and
2007:
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31 December 31 December

2007 2006

BECERLE BE RN
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AR IR

Creditors’ turnover days (Note) JEWS IR e R (K ) 53 76

Note: Creditors’ turnover days is calculated based on the average of the
beginning and ending balance of trade and bills payables for the
year divided by the total cost of sales during the year multiplied by
365 days.
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Trade payables balance as at the respective year end during
the two years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 represents
the outstanding amounts payable by us to our suppliers of raw
materials. The credit periods granted by various suppliers generally
range from 30 days to 60 days during the two years ended 31
December 2006 and 2007.

Our creditors’ turnover days were approximately 76 and 53 during
the two years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007, respectively.
The creditors’ turnover days of 2007 was in line with the credit
terms of 30 days to 60 days granted by our Group’s suppliers to our
Group. Creditor’s turnover days decreased gradually over the two
years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007. As at 31 December 2006
and 2007, approximately RMB267.20 million and approximately
RMB100.20 million of bills payables respectively remained on the
balance sheet which were settled after year end date which relevant
trade payables decreased accordingly due to such significant
bills payables’ balances. This led to the decrease in creditor’s
turnover days from 76 days for year ended 31 December 2006 to
approximately 53 days for year ended 31 December 2007. Further,
as a result of the Reorganisation, trade and bills payables amounted
to approximately RMB244.90 million was de-recognised and
retained by our Predecessor Entities (as defined in the prospectus
of the Company dated 17 March 2008). This further decreased our
creditors’ turnover days for the year ended 31 December 2007.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPTIAL STRUCTURE

Cash flow

The table below summarises the Group’s cash flow during the two
years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007:
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We generally finance our operations through a combination of
shareholders’ equity, internally generated cash flows and bank
borrowings. Following the issuance of new shares in March
2008, we expect to finance our capital expenditure and operating
requirements through internally generated cash flows, net proceeds
from the issuance of new shares and our cash and cash equivalents.
Our Directors believe that on a long-term basis, our liquidity will
be funded from operations and, if necessary, additional equity

financing or bank borrowings.
Capital expenditures

Capital expenditure was used for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment. For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group’s
capital expenditure were approximately RMB61.06 million. The
significant capital expenditures during the year ended 31 December
2007 were mainly for acquisition of plant and equipment for the

Sanshui Factory and payment for lease prepayments.
Borrowing
At the close of business on 31 December 2007, we had total loans

and borrowings of approximately RMB377.00 million as set forth

below:
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RMB’000

AR

Unsecured bank loans — current AT SR AT B —EP A 180,000
Secured bank loans — current IR 4R AT & k—EPHY 117,000
Secured bank loans — non-current AP ERAT B k—IERp 1Y 80,000
Total Bt 377,000

As of 31 December 2007, our total loans and borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB377.00 million. We had banking
facilities in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB763.00
million, which consisted of bank loans of approximately
RMB377.00 million and issued bills payable and letter of credit of
approximately RMB172.08 million and available banking facilities
of approximately RMB213.92 million.
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Except as disclosed in this annual report, we did not have any
outstanding debt securities issued and outstanding or authorised
or otherwise created but unissued, term loans, other borrowings or
indebtedness in the nature of borrowing including bank overdrafts
under acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance
credits, hire purchased commitments, mortgages and charges,
material contingent liabilities or guarantees outstanding at the

close of business on 31 December 2007.
Pledge of assets

Certain assets of the Group have been pledged to secure the bank
borrowings of the Group. For details, please refer to notes 19 and

22 in notes to the combined financial statements.
Capital commitment

As at the close of business on 31 December 2007, we had capital
commitments contracted but not provided for in respect of
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB40.88 million.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2007, our Group has issued financial
guarantees with an aggregate amount of approximately RMB38
million to several banks in respect of certain bank facilities granted

to the Predecessor Entities.

Our Group is also covered by a cross guarantee arrangement issued
by our Group and the Predecessor Entities to a bank in respect
of banking facilities granted to our Group and the Predecessor
Entities which remains in force so long as our Group or the
Predecessor Entities has drawn down under the banking facilities.
Under the guarantee, our Group and the Predecessor Entities that
are a party to the guarantee are jointly and severally liable for all
and any of the borrowings of each of them from the bank which is

the beneficiary of the guarantee.

As at 31 December 2007, our Directors do not consider it probable
that a claim will be made against our Group under any of the
above guarantees. The maximum liability of our Group at 31
December 2007 under the guarantees issued is the facilities drawn

down by the Predecessor Entities of approximately RMB38 million.
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Market Risk

We are, in the normal course of business, exposed to market risk
such as foreign currencies risk, interest rate risk, commodity
price risk on aluminium, credit risk and liquidity risk. Our risk
management strategy aims to minimise the adverse effects of these

risks on our financial performance.
Foreign Currency Risk

As the Group’s principal activities are carried out in the PRC, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases
that are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations in the PRC, RMB, to which they relate.
The transactions in foreign currency are primarily denominated
in USD. The Group currently does not have a policy to exercise
fair value hedges on foreign currency risk as the impact of foreign
currency on the Group’s total cost of sales are minimal. However,

management monitors foreign currency exposure to ensure that
the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level and will consider

hedging significant transactions should the need arise.
Interest Rate Risk

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that over 50% of its
exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings is on a fixed
rate basis. The Group’s loans and borrowings are mainly short-term
and on fixed rate basis for the Track Record Period. The interest
rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s loans and borrowings
are disclosed in note 22 in notes to the combined financial

statements in this annual report.
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Commodity Price Risk on aluminium

Aluminium ingots are the major raw material of the Group’s
products which account for approximately 80% of total cost of
sales in 2006 and 2007. Fluctuations on commodity price of
aluminium will have a significant impact on the Group’s earnings,
cash flows as well as the value of the inventories. The Group uses
its future contracts traded on the Shanghai Future Exchange to
reduce its risks arising from fluctuations in aluminium price. The
Group enters futures based on the inventories on hand, expected
usage of aluminium and sales requirements. The Group considers
that it is not cost effective to maintain a highly effective hedge
on transaction basis. Generally, the Group enters into futures
contracts if the sales order of a particular customer exceed 25
tonnes. Given the Group applied its future contracts in the above-
mentioned way, however, such application does not meet the
definition of hedge accounting under IFRSs. Hence, the Group has

not adopt hedge accounting.

The notional contract value and the related terms of the
commodity futures contracts of the Group are summarised as

below:
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Purchase contracts BG4
Volume (tonne) i (M) 700 3,220
Market value TH{HE 12,631 66,633
Notional contract value A # N E 13,353 63,650
Fair value INSH (722) 2,983
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Contract maturity date HRIBIHH
January, January,
February, February and
March and March
April 2007 2008
—EE U —RE
—H-ZH-=AH —H~=H
ALYE| F=A
2007 2006
—E L SR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T T AR T T

Sales contracts WES

Volume (tonne) BE (mE) 700 320
Market value T{E 12,631 6,755
Notional contract value AT 13,441 6,254
Fair value N 810 (501)
Contract maturity date A HF I H January and January,
February February and
2007 March 2008
—2E L — R

The market value of futures contracts is based on quoted market
price at the balance sheet date. The unrealised holding gains/
(losses) on the futures contracts remeasured at fair value were
approximately RMB2,482,000 and RMB88,000 as at 31 December
2006 and 2007 respectively and the changes in the fair value were

recognised in the combined income statements.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain derivative financial
instruments with an aggregate fair value totalling approximately
RMB188,000 were retained by the Predecessor Entities and had
been reflected as deemed appropriation to the equity holders of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2007.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables

from customers and other receivables.
Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics
of the Group’ customer base, including the default risk of the
industry and country in which customers operate, has less of an
influence on credit risk. Approximately 5% to 15% of the Group’s
revenue is attributable to sales transactions with a single customer
for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007.

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new
customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the
Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions
are offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings,
where available. Credit limit is established for each customer
which represents the maximum open amount without requiring
approval from the Board of Directors; these limits are reviewed
annually. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark
creditworthiness may transact with the Group on a prepayment
basis. The Group chases the customers to settle the due balances
and monitors the settlement progress on an ongoing basis. The
Group has a concentration of credit risk of the total trade and
other receivables due from the Group’s largest debtor and the five

largest debtors as follows:
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2007 2006
R o

Due from JEN LN A 3A
— largest debtor — I KREEBA 18% 7%
— five largest debtors —HREBA 52% 28%
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The maximum exposure of credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the combined balance
sheets, including derivative financial instruments. Except for the
financial guarantees given by the Group as disclosed in note 27 in
notes to the combined financial statements in this annual report,
the Group does not provide guarantees which would expose the
Group to the credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in
respect of these financial guarantees at the respective balance sheet
dates is disclosed in note 27 in notes to the combine financial

statements in this annual report.

The Group’s business is managed on a worldwide basis, but
mainly participates in five principal economic environments. The
maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and bills

receivable on the basis of geographical location of customers are as

R RRB 55 OF & AR A THE
Pl 2 MR T (B B ATAE Bl TR - R
AP B R 27 BT 48 R b A 2 B4 4 2 T AR
PRAL > A 45 B A&t o T ) 6 L Bt 2
PR DR < TR 2% 45 50 FA B % 5 B 5 90 4R B
TE i 1) B A B L B A AR 4 12 5 1 B 75
RS R MBS R 27 45 %

A B SE TSR S A o M AR TR
RGP BRI o 1R T T A A3 A
119 58 5 IE WS I e WA S BT 9 e R A
JEUg T -

follows:

2007 2006
“EE L R L
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWFo ANRIEETIT
The PRC g 373,213 315,278
Europe el 13,672 1,346
North America S 1,710 4,647
Hong Kong i 7,206 31,379

Asia Pacific (other than the PRC AR HB IR CNELHE P B A i)
and Hong Kong) 4,240 11,734
Total At 400,041 364,384

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents
its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other
receivables. The main component of this allowance is a specific
loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of
losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective
loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment

statistics for similar financial assets.
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet
its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in

the short and longer term.

The Group use activity-based costing to cost its products, which
assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements. Typically the
Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet
expected operation expenses for a period of 11 days, including the
servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such
as natural disasters. In addition, the Group maintains the lines
of credit to mitigate liquidity risk with the maximum banking
facilities and amounts utilised at the respective balance sheet dates
are as disclosed in note 22 to notes to the financial statements in

this annual report.
SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this announcement, on 31 March
2008, the Company completed its global initial public offering and
its shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.
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PROSPECTS

We are one of the leading aluminium profiles manufacturers in the
PRC and are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
aluminium profiles. Our Group was awarded as the “No. 1 of the
Top-Ten National Aluminium Profiles Enterprises’ by the CNFA
in 2003 and such status was confirmed by CNFA in February
2008.

Our aggregate annual design production capacity of aluminium
profiles at the Chancheng Factory and the Sanshui Factory was
approximately 113,400 tonnes as at 31 December 2007. The
relocation of production operation from the Chancheng Factory
to the Sanshui Factory will begin in May 2008. Up to September
2007, five smelters and eight extruders in the Sanshui Factory
were installed and currently in parallel run. Our Directors expect
the entire relocation process will be completed in December
2009. Upon integration of production facilities originally located
at the Chancheng Factory and new production facilities to be
acquired until June 2010, the Sanshui Factory is expected to have
an annual designed production capacity of aluminium profiles of

approximately 150,000 tonnes in 2010.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The proceeds from the Company’s issue of new shares on the Stock
Exchange in March 2008, after deduction of related issuance
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$207.19 million. These
net proceeds have been temporarily placed in short-term deposits
with licensed banks in Hong Kong as at the date of this report.
The Directors intend to apply these net proceeds in the manner as

set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 17 March 2008.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Su (EEEf) , aged 69, is the chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and founder of the Group. He has over
18 years of experience in the aluminium profile industry. He is
responsible for the overall management, operations, financial
aspects, corporate directions and strategies of the Group. Mr. Luo
is qualified as an T.ZEZEFEAT (industrial economist) based on
his previous experience with Nanhai Xingfa Aluminium Profiles
Factory. Mr. Luo was certified as an outstanding entrepreneur
of private enterprise by the People’s Government of Foshan City
in 2003, an outstanding entrepreneur by the China Non Ferrous
Metals Industry Association in 2005 and received an outstanding
Guangdong patent award for the patent titled #7344 &F 8¢ [ 7K
PR JHES K B (aluminium alloy flat ingot horizontal heat-top
casting device) in 2005. Mr. Luo is a deputy to the 12th Session of
the People’s Congress of Foshan City for a term of five years from
2003 to 2008. Mr. Luo Su is the father-in-law of Mr. Liao Yuqing,

an executive Director.

Mr. Luo Riming ($HW]), aged 51, is an executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for
the procurement and utilisation of equipment and infrastructure
for the business of the Group. Mr. Luo is also responsible for the
procurement of raw materials and the assessment and selection
of suitable suppliers. He has over 15 years of experience in the
aluminium profile industry. Mr. Luo joined the Group since the
establishment of the Group in 1980s. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Luo has worked at Nanhai Hardware Factory (township
enterprise), Nanhai Power Supply Bureau, Nanzhuang Electric
Appliance and Furniture Factory, Guangdong Xingfa Aluminium
Profiles Factory and Xingfa Group. Mr. Luo obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economic management by the Guangdong Radio & TV
University in 1998.

Mr. Liao Yuqing JBEEF), aged 39, is an executive Director.
He is also the supervisor of the sales and marketing department
in charge of the sales and marketing activities of the Group and
is responsible for the planning, development, implementation and

evaluation of the marketing strategies of the Group. Mr. Liao
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joined the Group in January 1993. Prior to that, Mr. Liao was
in the military between 1986 to 1991. Mr. Liao worked at the
Agricultural Bank of China Jiujiang Branch from 1991 to 1992.
Mr. Liao is the son-in-law of Mr. Luo Su, the chairman of the

Group and an executive Director.

Mr. Wang Zhihua (E&EFE) , aged 37, is an executive Director.
Mr. Wang is responsible for managing capital for operations,
human resources, promotion and advertising schemes for products
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in January 2003, from
1992 to 1997, Mr. Wang worked at Guanglian Industrial Co., Ltd.
and the Guangzhou Branch of Huaxia Securities Co., Ltd. Mr.
Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in statistics from the Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics in 1992. Mr. Wang was
certified as a securities agent for the period from September 2001

to September 2004 by the Securities Association of China.
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Mo (Bi#) , aged 43, is an independent non-executive
Director appointed on 29 February 2008. He has been a practising
lawyer in the PRC since 1993 and has been a partner of Goldsun
Law Firm (/{843 SHHT) since 1998. Mr. Chen was
admitted as a lawyer by the Department of Justice of Guangdong
Province in June 1989 and obtained =#RHAIEH (Third Grade
Lawyer) from the Department of Personnel of Guangdong Province
in 1999. Mr. Chen graduated from the Political Education
Department of South China Normal University (3w Hili#i K
) in 1986. He has been granted the (fRERREH 75 LM
AR B E)Y (Certificate of Engaging in Securities Law Business)
jointly by the Ministry of Justice and China Securities Regulatory
Commission in 1996, the (HEANE S MBS A RE S ik
A EMFEE) (Certificate of Engaging in Delimitation of
Property Rights of Collective Science and Technology Enterprises)
jointly by the Ministry of Justice, the Ministry of Science and
Technology of the People’s Republic of China and the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
the State Council in 1998, and the { T/ RS2 8 25 55 3 4%
#3%) (Certificate of Completion of Training on Independent
Directors of Listed Companies) by the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and the School of Management of Fudan University

jointly in 2001.
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Mr. Ho, Kwan Yiu (fJ# 2&), aged 45, is an independent non-
executive Director appointed on 29 February 2008. Mr. Ho is a
senior partner of a Hong Kong law firm where he acts as the head
of that firm’s litigation and also the principal representative of that
firm’s Guangzhou office. Mr. Ho was awarded the Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws by the University of Hong Kong in 1986 and
obtained his Bachelor of Laws degree from the Essex Institute of
Higher Education (now known as Anglia Ruskin University) in
1987. Mr. Ho was first admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in
1988. He was also admitted as a solicitor in Singapore in 1995,
England and Wales in 1997, and has been appointed as a China-
appointed attesting officer since early 2006. Mr. Ho has over 20

years of legal practice experience.

On the community services aspect, Mr. Ho currently sits in the
Law Society of Hong Kong as its Vice-President and Council
Member. Besides, he was nominated as the Chairman of Duty
Lawyer Service Council in 2005, Council member of the Duty
Lawyer Service Council since 2002 and a member of other various
government and advisory boards, such as the Legal Aid Services
Council; the Board of Trustees and the Council of Lord Wilson
Heritage Trust; the Costs Committee under S74(1)(d) of the
Legal Practitioners Ordinance (Cap. 159); the Transport Advisory
Committee of the Government of HKSAR. At the same time,
Mr. Ho was also appointed as a Council member of Hong Kong
Chamber of Commerce in China-Guangdong, an Arbitrator of
Wuhan International Arbitration Court. Formerly, he served as a
Co-opted Councillor of Heung Yee Kuk, the New Territories; a
director, 3rd vice-chairman and chairman of the Board of Directors
of Yan Oi Tong for the years 1993/1994, 1994/1995, 1995/1996

respectively.

Mr. Lam, Ying Hung Andy (#:3%#8) , aged 43, is an independent
non-executive Director appointed on 29 February 2008. He is an
associate member of various professional organisations, namely
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, The
Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and The Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers. Mr. Lam is also a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained
his master’s degree in professional accounting from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam has over 20 years of

experience in the accounting, banking and finance sectors and
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currently is working as the General Manager of Viking Logistics
Limited, a private company which is an airfreight operator and
transportation company. Mr. Lam was also the president of Dragon
Junior Chamber, a local chamber affiliated with Junior Chamber
International Hong Kong in 2004 and was elected as the national
vice president of the Junior Chamber International Hong Kong
in 2005. From October 2004 to November 2005, Mr. Lam was
an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of Innovis Holdings Limited (now known as Sino
Haijing Holdings Limited), the shares of which are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Siu Ki (3§JEMl) , aged 31, is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the
Group in August 2007. He is responsible for overall financial
planning, financial reporting, budgeting and implementing the
Group’s business strategies. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong
worked in two international accounting firms from 1997 to 2003.
Subsequently, between 2004 to 2007, Mr. Wong was appointed
as the Finance Director (designate) cum Company Secretary to
a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of
Singapore. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor’s degree in Accountancy
with First class honours from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Wong is a fellow member with The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Liu Yuntang ($]f0%€), aged 39, is the deputy general
manager of the Company and is responsible for production
management of the Group. Mr. Liu joined Guangdong Xingfa
Aluminium Profiles Factory in 1993. Prior to joining the Group
in October 1993, Mr. Liu worked at Nanhai Guangdong Cable
Factory Co., Ltd. from 1991 to 1993. Mr. Liu was granted a
bachelor’s degree in engineering by the Guangdong Mechanics
Institute in 1991. He was certified as assistant engineer in 1993 by
the Nanhai City Science Technology Committee and certified as

engineer in 2001 by the Foshan City Human Resources Bureau.
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Mr. Wu Xikun (R , aged 36, is the deputy general manager
for technology and deputy chief engineer of the Company. Mr. Wu
heads the research and development department and is responsible
for the Group’s production technology systems, development of
new products branding. When Mr. Wu first joined the Group in
July 1994, he worked at Guangdong Xingfa Aluminium Profiles
Factory where he was a technician of the quality control section.
Mr. Wu was granted a bachelor’s degree in material science and
engineering from the Guangdong University of Technology in
1994. Mr. Wu was nominated for the Top 10 Outstanding Youth
of Foshan City in 2006.

Mr. Du Jinhong (R:#8#E) , aged 52, is the deputy general
manager of the Company and chief financial officer of Xingfa
Aluminium and is responsible for all financial and accounting
matters of Xingfa Aluminium. Prior to joining the Group in 1999,
Mr. Du was the director (designate) of the finance department and
chief financial officer of Xingfa Group from 1999 to 2005. From
1992 to 1999, Mr. Du worked at Nanhai Hengxing Architectural
Ceramics Factory (1992 to 1993) and Nanzhuang Town Economy
Development Head Office (1993 to 1999). He was certified as
assistant accountant by the Nanhai City Science Technology
Committee in 1993. Mr. Du holds a diploma in economics
management granted by the Guangdong Administrative University

in 1997.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
LGS S S P A BRA 20074F B #7145

BB > 3635 > AR R i A i A A 2

e Bl A8 TR A o S 55 A o W S R AR G E
TS B B ) AR 0T 2R AT ) R it
Ji o A —JUILIHAF-E A B U AR S B >
S 5 A 5 R R B S A PR G B
EFHE PN ;af'aiﬁAﬂLMlﬂEE
RS R B R B B T R 2
ﬁ’ﬁ&:%??iﬁiﬁ?%%ﬁ%mFﬁJrkﬁﬂj%
4 o

80 RS A > 525 > LR 6 S A A A i
T B A B TR B — U BB g R
B o R —JLIUILAR I AR SE R > AL SR AR 7R
—IUIUIUVE 2 TR AR AT Fy B R L
V4 S 5 T A e P B A B o B LU A
E JUIUIUAFE > 5 A Se AR AT W R m v

FAREER (—ILULFEELL=E
$ T v HE GRS S B R AN W] (— UL =AR
EJUILIUE) AR — L=
i T R B A 22 B g 5 B B A
—IUIU-L AR B AT R e 3 A A L
e



The directors (“Directors”) of Xingfa Aluminium Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) present their first report together with
the audited combined financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collected referred to as the “Group”), for the year

ended 31 December 2007.

GROUP REORGANISATION AND INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 13 September 2007
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to a
reorganisation scheme to rationalise the structure of the Group in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the Company became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group on 29 February 2008 (the
“Group Reorganisation”). Further details of the Group are set
out in the prospectus of the Company dated 17 March 2008 (the
“Prospectus”) and in note 1 in notes to the combined financial

statements.

On 31 March 2008 (“Listing Date”), the shares of the Company
(“Shares”) successfully commenced dealings on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange by offering initially 125,400,000 Shares
(comprising 106,590,000 new Shares and 18,810,000 sale Shares)
at a final offer price of HK$2.28 per Share.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of other members of the Group

are set out in note 1 in notes to the combined financial statements.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s

principal activities during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007 are
set out in the combined income statement on page 69 of the annual

l‘CpOI‘t.
DIVIDENDS

Pursuant to the resolutions passed at the board of Directors’
meetings on 13 December 2007 and 24 December 2007, interim
dividends at an aggregate amount of RMB118,961,000 were
declared by Xingfa Aluminium Pte. Ltd. (being the intermediate
holding company of the Group) to its then shareholders. The

amounts declared were fully paid in December 2007.

Except for the above, no dividends have been declared and paid
by the companies now comprising the Group and the Predecessor
Entities during the year or from the period after 31 December

2007 to the date of issue of the combined financial statements.
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the

past three years is set out on page 184.
LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s loans and borrowings at the balance sheet
date are set out in note 22 in notes to the combined financial

statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment property of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 12 and 13 in notes to the combined financial statements,

respectively.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s paid-in capital for the year ended 31
December 2007 are set out in note 24 in notes to the combined

financial statements.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Scheme”) on 29
February 2008. The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards

for their contribution to the Group.

Participants under the Scheme include directors and employees of
the Group or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which the Group
holds an equity interest; any suppliers, customers, advisers or
consultants of the Group or any Invested Entity; any persons or
entities that provide research development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity; any holders of
securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; and any other groups or classes of participants whom the

Board considers have contributed or will contribute to the Group.
The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other schemes of the Group must not exceed 41,800,000 Shares,
being 10% of Shares in issue on the date of listing of the Shares
on the Stock Exchange unless approval of the sharcholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) has been obtained, and which must not

in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

No share option was granted by the Company since its adoption.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available
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for issue under the Scheme is 41,800,000 Shares, which represents
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of listing of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible participant
(including exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month

period shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares from time to time.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be
such price as the board of Directors (“Board”) may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of grant of the option but the
subscription price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets on the date of the Board approving the grant of
an option, which must be a business day (“Offer Date”); (ii) the
average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately

preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period commencing
immediately after the business day on which the option is deemed
to be granted and accepted in accordance with the Scheme
(“Commencement Date”) and expiring on such date of the expiry
of the option as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
and which shall not exceed ten years from the Commencement
Date but subject to the provisions for early termination thereof as

set out in the Scheme.

Upon acceptance of the grant of an option, the grantee shall pay

HK$1.00 to the Company as nominal consideration for the grant.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 31 March 2008.

Details of the Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new

Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2007, the Shares were not listed on the Stock
Exchange. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities

during the year under review.
RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in note 25 in notes to the combined financial statements

and in the combined statement of changes in equity.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There was not reserve available for distribution to shareholders by

the Company as at 31 December 2007.
MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2007, sales to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for 27.5% (2006: 21.5%) of
the Group’s turnover. Hang Fat Aluminium Profiles Company
Limited, which was beneficially owned by Mr. Luo Su, Mr. Luo
Riming and Mr. Liao Yuqing (each being an executive Director)
during the year ended 31 December 2007, was one of the five
largest customers of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2007.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, purchases from the five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 72.7% (2006:
80.2%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase whereas purchases
from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 43.5%
(2006: 46.1%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase and.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their
associates or any Sharcholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2007.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of

this report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. LUO Su (Chairman)

(appointed on 13 September 2007)
Mr. LUO Riming (Chief executive officer)

(appointed on 13 September 2007)
Mr. LIAO Yugqing

(appointed on 13 September 2007)
Mr. WANG Zhihua

(appointed on 22 September 2007)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Mo

(appointed on 29 February 2008)
Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu

(appointed on 29 February 2008)
Mr. LAM, Ying Hung Andy

(appointed on 29 February 2008)

Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall
hold office only until the next following general meeting of the

Company.

By virtue of article 112 of the Articles, the office of all the
Directors, namely Mr. Luo Su, Mr. Luo Riming, Mr. Liao Yuqing,
Mr. Wang Zhihua, all being executive Directors, Mr. Chen Mo,
Mr. Ho, Kwan Yiu and Mr. Lam, Ying Hung Andy, all being
independent non-executive Directors, will end at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (“Annual General
Meeting”). All the Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves

for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing
from 1 March 2008.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors have been
appointed for a fixed term of two years commencing from 1 March
2008.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the
Company considered all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 32 to 36 of the annual report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had approximately 2,502
employees. The Group’s total staff costs, including wages and basic
salaries, directors’ remuneration, commission, bonus, benefits in
kind and retirement benefits scheme contribution was amounted to
approximately RMB43.48 million (2006: RMB33.12 million).

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly.
Subject to the Group’s profitability, the Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration
policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the Group’s
executive Directors is to enable the Group to retain and
motivate executive Directors by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives achieved.

The principal elements of the Group’s remuneration packages
include basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under rules and regulations of Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all its employees in Hong Kong. All
the employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to join the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries and are charged to combined income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
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The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years
as at 31 December 2007. The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC, in
compliance with the applicable regulations of the PRC, participated
in a statemanaged retirement benefits scheme operated by the local
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement

benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group to
the schemes and cost charged to the combined income statement
represents contribution payable to the schemes by the Group at

rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out

in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 28 in notes to the combined financial
statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, its holding company or any of the
companies which have become its subsidiaries upon the Group
Reorgansiation was a party during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2007, the Shares were not listed on the Stock
Exchange.

As at the Listing Date, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:
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in the same class
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Company/Name of

Number and

the Listing Date

associated corporations Name of directors Capacity class of securities it b7 H I [F %
Sy /A gk £ S0 [iezd (QEE VI £ 5t7 s dEpig:A
(Note 1)
(Mt 1)
Company LUO Su Beneficial owner 136,978,600 32.77%
PN/NE R J=gax YN ordinary Shares (L)
136,978,600
E A (L)
Company LUO Riming Beneficial owner 96,495,300 23.09%
AN ] #EH B FREEA N ordinary Shares (L)
96,495,300 #
HE s (L)
Company LIAO Yugqing Beneficial owner 59,126,100 14.15%
AN H] B R B Hama A ordinary Shares (L)
59,126,100 A%
Notes: Mt

(1) The letter “L” represents the director’s interests in the shares.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisitions of Shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, none of the Directors hold any
interests in any competing business against the Company or any of

its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE
THEIR INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV
OF THE SFO

As at 31 December 2007, the Shares were not listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ Interests in
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above, as at the Listing Date, no other
person had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS B 32 5
A.  The following entities are connected parties of the Company A, DT ARBARFRBEANL - I

and had transactions with the Group during the year ended

31 December 2007:

Name of the entity

WIRE - FFLE T A= H
AP FE R A 7 225 -

Connection with the Company as at 31 December 2007

NCIEAL ] REFRLE T = B SRS HRY B iR
o5 SR B A [T A PR Owned as to 46%, 33% and 21% by Mr. Luo Su, Mr. Luo Riming and

(Guangdong Xingfa Group Co.,
Ltd.) (“Xingfa Group”)

JiE L AR AT B
(1w L% |)

Ji TR I P 43 A PR

(Guangdong Xingfa Innovation

Co., Ltd.) (“Xingfa Innovation”)

JoE AL BRL A H FS 43 A FR A
([ SR8 597 1)

1l 7 B R FRA ] (Foshan
Leahin Coating Co., Ltd.)
(“Leahin Coating”).

it LUy 7. BB PR 7
([orBagpt )

i 1L 7 BLEE A RE M B A R T
(Foshan Xingfa Curtain Wall,
Door & Window Co., Ltd.)
(“Xingfa Curtain Wall”)

Ao LTI B R Y A PR )
(1B R )

i 1L B 8P 3 FRS ) (Foshan
Xinggao Aluminium Co., Ltd.)
(“Xinggao Aluminium”)

il Ly B 5 8 S A PR )

(M B8Rk )

Mr. Liao Yuqing respectively. Mr. Luo Su. Mr. Luo Riming and Mr. Liao
Yuging are the controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)

and each of them is an executive Director.

Al b B RR A~ BB H A Je A R B B AR R 46% ~ 33% M 21% o Zf
WRoeAE > R B RSl e B B B PR GE R R BT AL i
WEX B BMITES -

Owned as to 91.3% by Xingfa Group.
B R BB AT 91.3% ©

Owned as to 51% by Xingfa Group.
H R R B A 519%

Owned as to 46% by Mr. Luo Su, as to 33% by Mr. Luo Riming and as
to 21% by Mr. Liao Yuging. Mr. Luo Su, Mr. Luo Riming and Mr. Liao
Yuging are the controlling Shareholders and each of them is an executive

Director.

Ay P B Se A - B WIS R B R AR A 46% ~ 33% M 21% o Hf
RGBS A R B R R B R MRS B AT E
$ o

Owned as to 46% by Mr. Luo Zhiyong (the son of Mr. Luo Su), as to 33%
by Mr. Luo Riming and as to 21% by Mr. Liao Yuqing. Mr. Luo Riming
and Mr. Liao Yuqing are the controlling Shareholders and each of them is

an executive Director.

SRR BEEE A BRCAENT )  BHWLAERBEEBLARA
46% ~ 33% M 21%  Z& H B SGAE T B B e A B M I B R > 1 4 S 4%
HAPATEDSR -

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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B. During the year ended 31 December 2007, the following
continuing connected transactions are exempt from the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules

and are included herein for information only.

1. Pursuant to a lease agreement entered into between JE
HRILEE fR FE A BR/AF] (Guangdong Xingfa Aluminium
Co., Ltd.) (“Xingfa Aluminium”) and Leahin Coating
dated 28 December 2006 (as varied and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 4 March 2008),
Leahin Coating leased from Xingfa Aluminium a
portion of an industrial building with a total gross
floor area of approximately 2,228 sq.m. situated at No.
82 West Longjin Road, Nanzhuang Town, Chancheng
District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the
People’s Republic of China which is used as warchouse
for a term commenced from 1 January 2007 and
ending on 31 December 2008 at an annual rental of
RMB160,416.

2. Pursuant to a lease agreement entered into between
Xingfa Aluminium and Xingfa Curtain Wall dated
26 December 2006 (as varied and supplemented by
a supplemental agreement dated 4 March 2008),
Xingfa Curtain Wall leased from Xingfa Aluminium
a portion of an industrial building with a total gross
floor area of approximately 2,350 sq.m. situated at No.
82 West Longjin Road, Nanzhuang Town, Chancheng
District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the
People’s Republic of China which is used as warehouse
for a term commenced from 1 January 2007 and
ending on 30 September 2010 at an annual rental of
RMB169,200.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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During the year ended 31 December 2007, the following C. mWMBzE_EFZFtFE+__HAH=+—H

continuing connected transactions are non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.35 of
the Listing Rules and waivers from strict compliance with

the announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval

IRAETE > B35 A Bl Y 5E y E 7y BTl
BRI 14A.35 WRIE T 1Y IF 56 S 15 A
B A by - Sl 1] M 5 i 5 5Kk R A
Jie A L ST s B 98 S PSR o 19 K

requirement have been sought from the Stock Exchange. E o
1. The following is a brief description of the continuing 1. PATF 2% e A B 22 5 i T A

connected transactions:

Category Description
R it 1§
1. Leasing of machinery by On 28 July 2007, Xingfa Aluminium entered into a machinery lease

Xingfa Aluminium from

Xingfa Group

LR % 5 ) i AL %
HHL I B

agreement with Xingfa Group (the “First Machinery Lease Agreement”).
Pursuant to the First Machinery Lease Agreement, Xingfa Group leases
102 units of machinery and equipment in relation to the production
of aluminium profiles owned by it to Xingfa Aluminium. The term of
the First Machinery Lease Agreement commenced from 28 July 2007
and will end on 31 December 2009, subject to early termination by
Xingfa Aluminium serving three-month written notice to Xingfa Group.
Pursuant to the First Machinery Lease Agreement, the annual rental
is RMB2,543,000. The rental for the period from 28 July 2007 to 31
December 2007 shall be payable by Xingfa Aluminium in December
2007. The annual rental for the two years ending 31 December 2008
and 2009 shall be payable in advance within the first month after the
commencement of each calendar year.

B EREELH AR > B G 2 BUR R B T — M A
Trlon ek (138 — WA ML B ok 1) o AREEEE —BERR AL B alk > ROR2E —
o AL 0 R o R R SHL i B B S o AR T A R YA 1 102
AR & Ml - 5 — A Bk 1 —FF E4E-EH Z+H/\H B
FETRLIUE T A = HE o 1R BB R 3 A ) B S
= T AR AR o ARREE S R FAE A AR
2,543,000 7C  BLERIA SN —H L LA T ] SO SRR B
AZHNANHEZFRLEL A= HHEAMHES - 82 2%
JNAE R ZERJUE+ T H = — H WA B R E AR & T AR B 46
®E WA RBESESAT -
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Category
R

Description

it 1

2. Leasing of machinery by
Xingfa Aluminium from

Xingfa Innovation

SBL % i S 1) BL 5 A i AEL I
o

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LA S SE R TRAT PR

On 28 July 2007, Xingfa Aluminium entered into the a machinery lease
agreement (the “Second Machinery Lease Agreement”) with Xingfa
Innovation. Pursuant to the Second Machinery Lease Agreement, Xingfa
Innovation leases 16 units of machinery and equipment in relation to
the production of aluminium profiles owned by it to Xingfa Aluminium.
The term of the Second Machinery Lease Agreement commenced from
28 July 2007 and will end on 31 December 2009, subject to early
termination by Xingfa Aluminium serving three-month written notice to
Xingfa Innovation. Pursuant to the Second Machinery Lease Agreement,
the annual rental is RMB860,000. The rental for the period from 28
July 2007 to 31 December 2007 shall be payable by Xingfa Aluminium
in December 2007. The annual rental for the two years ending 31
December 2008 and 2009 shall be payable in advance within the first
month after the commencement of each calendar year.

SEFEEEA AR > B S BB AT RT 3L — AR AL R
Tt (158 M &% PSR Bin ok |) o ARAR0 MRS AL R 1hh ol BLERALH
L% R 3 RE BT R AR E B BUMT Y 16 B M B - A TR
Wk H —FEELHELA A AHEG > 22FTAETF A=+ —
I > 00 ] BB 3% S T i) SHL 3 010 9% e — {3 % o R 4R LA
Ik o MRS M AR AR B O e > AF A AN R 860,000 7T o BLEE R 3
RN —FFLFE T AN R LE LA AR E S F T LA
ToH=F— HE S - e _FF/ELFTTIFET A
b Bk AR R AR AR A B A B AR AR 1 A A TR ST
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Category Description
R it 1
3. Leasing of machinery by On 31 August 2007, Xingfa Aluminium (Sanshui Branch) entered into

Xingfa Aluminium from

Xinggao Aluminium Co.,

Ltd.)

WL i S 1) L 7 B AT BR Y
GkiEWiL: S0

a machinery lease agreement (the “Third Machinery Lease Agreement”)
with Xinggao Aluminium. Pursuant to the Third Machinery Lease
Agreement, Xinggao Aluminium leases one unit of aluminium extruder
of an annual designed extrusion capacity of approximately 24,000
tonnes to Xingfa Aluminium (Sanshui Branch). The term of the Third
Machinery Lease Agreement commenced from 31 August 2007 and
will end on 31 December 2009, subject to early termination by Xingfa
Aluminium (Sanshui Branch) serving three-month written notice to
Xinggao Aluminium. Pursuant to the Third Machinery Lease Agreement,
the annual rental is RMB2,781,000. The rental for the period 31 August
2007 to 31 December 2007 was paid by Xingfa Aluminium (Sanshui
Branch) in December 2007. The annual rental for the two years ending
31 December 2008 and 2009 shall be payable in advance within the first
month after the commencement of each calendar year.
TERBEENA = H > B R 2 =R ) BB R 3E T L —
e FEL B B o (158 =M AR LB WAk 1) o AR ORE A I ok
SHL R 3 1) BB g 26 =K 70 0% ) R — AR R IR AR 7 RE 40 24,000
WEL Y $ b1 R A o SR AR E AR A —F R EE AN = —HEH
o R TERBIIE TH = HE > B R 3 =K g A
A ) B e S T T R R o AR A E
ak o AR AR 2,781,000 7C » BLEE I SE KM AR C IR %% L
FH AN —FRFLEANA=ZF—HE-FLLFE+ A=+ —
H#EEE - B2 —FFNFEL_FFNF+_H=+—HILW
A B I 4 RELZRURS 25 B 4F B 0 4% 8 A TS S AT -
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Category Description
Gl Rl
4. Leasing of properties at On 31 August 2007, Xingfa Aluminium (Sanshui Branch) entered

Sanshui by Xingfa
Aluminium (Sanshui
Branch) from Xinggao
Aluminium

L SR 3 = K 38 ) ) L
i SEAL AL =K TR
ES

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LA S SE R TRAT PR

into a lease agreement (the “Sanshui Lease Agreement”) with Xinggao
Aluminium, pursuant to which Xingfa Aluminium (Sanshui Branch) has
agreed to lease from Xinggao Aluminium two industrial buildings and
a dormitory situated in Sanshui (the “Sanshui Leased Property”), and
such additional buildings and structures constructed and delivered to our
Group for our use. The term of the Sanshui Lease Agreement commenced
from 31 August 2007 and will end on 31 December 2009, subject to
early termination by Xingfa Aluminium (Sanshui Branch) serving three-
month written notice to Xinggao Aluminium. As at 31 August 2007,
the Sanshui Leased Property comprised two industrial buildings and a
dormitory having an aggregate gross floor area of approximately 34,322
sq.m.. The annual rental for that portion of Sanshui Leased Property is
RMB2,504,000. The parties agreed that the annual rental per sq.m. for
the additional building and structures to be constructed and delivered
to our Group for use during the term of the Sanshui Lease Agreement is
RMB72.

“ERRLENAZ—H > B =K A B e 3R] S —
B AR oh e ([ =K AL 10k 1) > 450 > B 403 3 =K 43 2 Wl [l 3
I BB i i S FH ) = /K 7T 0 T e T RCOR B B — e i ([ =K LS
1) > MUK T I C ) A A2 A 4 A A 0 1 A JEC At A B A 5
Loy o —KMEWEE —FFLEAA=+—HHE > 2%
FIAETZHA =+ — HE - 0 A B 5 3 =K 0 2 R A ) B g
g = A FEE Mg Rk o R _FEFLFNANA=Z4—H =
TR R W 2 A 40 A AR SR T RR 4 34,322 T K 11 T i L o K S B — e
fi iy o azab o /KA EW R FER S AR ¥ 2,504,000 7T < #1477 (7
B N Z KA ot A RO TR N 1) A B B 22 A A B L
At AH BRRE 5 RS I AR AR B BT R AR 7298 -
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Category Description
Gl if 1l
5. Leasing of properties at Xingfa Aluminium entered into following lease agreements with Xingfa

Chancheng by Xingfa
Aluminium from Xingfa
Group and Xingfa
Innovation

S S 3 1) JBE O L % L
BEHT AR 7 7 A AR 1Y
L/ES

Group and Xingfa Innovation respectively, each dated as of 28 July

2007, in respect of certain properties at our Chancheng Factory (the

“Chancheng Lease Agreements”), pursuant to which:

TERRLHEH A NH o BB R S A B R SR EE K BB 1 H wE
A AR IR S 0 A T 26T S N SRR T ek (T MR R S ) 9%
I

(@)

(ii)

(ii)

Xingfa Aluminium leased from Xingfa Group 12 industrial
buildings, a dormitory, a research building and various structures
with a total gross floor area of approximately 45,518.86 sq.m.
situated at No. 23 Renhe Road, Nanzhuang Town, Chancheng
District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC; and

SR i 2 o JB SR AL P vl 1B SR o L i AR R e e S SRR
FE 23 BRAY T T TR — e — AR K
MY > MRS IEIREA) 45,518.86 K 5 K&

Xingfa Aluminium leased from Xingfa Innovation 3 industrial
buildings, 3 warchouses, an exhibition hall, Levels 1 to 5 of an
8-storey office building and various structures with a total gross
floor area of approximately 29,840.65 sq.m. and various structures
situated at No. 54 Renhe Road, Nanzhuang Town, Chancheng
District, Foshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC.

WL G S 1) B 1 L P vl 1 B SR o L i AR R L i S SR
54 GRR) = TR ~ AR - — AR - —iEs e
BN B S S - AEE A4 29,840.65°F 5
ko
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Category
X

Description

it 1

6. Purchase of coating materials
by Xingfa Aluminium from
Leahin Coating

B3 i 3 1) 7 B O e T
9 R

54 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
B IR A

The term of the Chancheng Lease Agreements commenced from
28 July 2007 and will end on 31 December 2009, subject to early
termination by Xingfa Aluminium serving three-month written
notice to Xingfa Group and Xingfa Innovation respectively. The
maximum aggregate rental payable by our Group to Xingfa Group
and Xingfa Innovation under the Chancheng Lease Agreements
for each of the two years ending 31 December 2008 and 2009 will
be RMB8,731,000 and RMB8,731,000 respectively. The annual
rental for the two years ending 31 December 2009 shall be payable
in advance within the first month after the commencement of each
calendar year and shall be adjusted in December of each year with

reference to the actual area occupied by our Group during the year.

B ER R _-FFEFLA T AHBS > & TR IF
+ A=A H e o W B 5 S ] o A 1) i R R L
Al EE = (8 H e AL o IR E R > R
CEBNFEREZNFET R HIEWEEAE . A
45 9 R AT JBE SR B L ) S 1) FHL 4 AR LR Al 4 N R
8,731,000 JC 2 A\ R #5 8,731,000 00 B & ~FE JL4E+ — H
3+~ H 1E W 4F BE 8 A FH 28 45 V8 4 B GR A5 R H B S A
37 76 2 2 A S5 [ A A A T T R A A4 T A AR e -

During the year ended 31 December 2007, Xingfa Aluminium
purchased from Leahin Coating paint materials for use in the

surface finishing process.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, Xingfa Aluminium spent
approximately RMB13,631,000 on purchasing paint materials

from Leahin Coating.

REEZFFTLEFT A=+ HILFER - B S m B
SR L 7 3% T DR R Y MR A R

BEFEFZLEFTF A=+ —HIR4ERE > EEREHNOAR
¥ 13,631,000 TG [] 37 B 83 R} I B 0 8% A )
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Category Description
Eibil it 1
7. Sale of aluminium profiles During the year ended 31 December 2007, Xingfa Aluminium sold
by Xingfa Aluminium to to Xingfa Curtain Wall certain construction materials specified
Xingfa Curtain Wall by Xingfa Curtain Wall. The construction materials purchased
BLgE G S ) UL B 6 5 6P by Xingfa Curtain Wall were further processed into window and

W

curtain wall and sold to its customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, Xingfa Aluminium sold
construction materials to Xingfa Curtain Wall for approximately
RMB14,408,000.

EECFLLET T H = HIREER - B S B
el 4 B BB 15 0 AT TR o BLEERRE eI A 2 @
TN TR P R AR i e 5 s

BE EBZEES A =1 H IL4ERE - et SN E T Mt
s M A9 N R WK 14,408,000 JC ©
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2. Set out below is the annual caps of each of the

2. R 3CHOH R IR A B

51
o
=

continuing connected transactions: AERE FBR -
Category  Description Annual caps
i G R ER
For the year ending For the year ending For the year ending
31 December 2008 31 December 2009 31 December 2010
BREZZENE BREZZFNE BRE_Z
+ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H
LA LA LA
1. Leasing of machinery by Xingfa RMB2,543,000 RMB2,543,000 Not applicable
Aluminium from Xingfa Group NEH2,543,000 7T NE 2,543,000 7C Nl
B 55 S 1) B R LB TR R 8
2. Leasing of machinery by Xingfa RMB860,000 RMB860,000 Not applicable
Aluminium from Xingfa Innovation N 860,000 7T AW 860,000 7C A A
BB GRS ) BLBERI AT AL B 45
3. Leasing of machinery by Xingfa RMB2,781,000 RMB2,781,000 Not applicable
Aluminium from Xinggao Aluminium NE#2,781,000 G NE 2,781,000 7C Nt
B g ) LR SRR R 8
4. Leasing of properties at Sanshui by Xingfa RMBS,000,000 RMB16,000,000 Not applicable
Aluminium (Sanshui Branch) from ARH 8,000,000 AR¥ 16,000,000 T Nt
Xinggao Aluminium
SR B3 =K ) o) B g 8 SERR R A
=K
5. Leasing of properties at Chancheng by RMBS,731,000 RMB$,731,000 Not applicable
Xingfa Aluminium from Xingfa Group NEH 8,731,000 7T NE 8,731,000 7C N
and Xingfa Innovation
L8 S 3 1) G SRS % SR R LR 6278
iR L ES
0. Purchase of coating materials by Xingfa RMB25,000,000 RMB35,000,000 RMB50,000,000
Aluminium from Leahin Coating AR 250000007 AERH 350000000 AR 50,000,000 7T
SR G 3 1) o7 SRR R B R R A R
7. Sale of aluminium profiles by Xingfa RMB50,000,000 RMB70,000,000 RMB100,000,000
Aluminium to Xingfa Curtain Wall AR 50,000,000 AERW70,000,0007C AR 100,000,000 7T

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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3. Views of the independent non-executive Directors:

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
and confirmed that the transactions have been entered

into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of

the Company;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available

to or from independent third parties; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the

Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Directors confirm that in respect of the connected
transactions and the continuing connected transactions
mentioned above, the Company has complied the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

KPMG, the auditors of the Company, have performed
certain agreed-upon procedures on the continuing connected
transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules

and confirmed the Board in writing that the transactions:
(i)  have been approved by the Board;

(i) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the

Group; and

(iii) have been entered into in accordance with the
terms and conditions under the relevant agreements

governing the transactions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

After the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on
the Listing Date, the Company has complied fully with the
requirements under the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The Company’s corporate governance report for the year under

review are set out in pages 60 to 68 of the annual report.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
in relation to securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout

the year under review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written
terms of reference based upon the provisions and recommended
practices of the CG Code on 29 February 2008. The primary
duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control systems of the
Group. At present, members of the audit committee comprise Mr.
LAM, Ying Hung Andy (chairman), Mr. CHEN Mo and Mr. HO,
Kwan Yiu, being the three independent non-executive directors of

the Company.

The Group’s combined financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2007 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who
is of the opinion that such statement complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the Stock Exchange and legal requirements,

and that adequate disclosures have been made.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 29
February 2008 with terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. The remuneration committee comprises Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu
(chairman), Mr. CHEN Mo, Mr. LAM, Ying Hung Andy and Mr.
LUO Su. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to
review and determine the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior

management.
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on 29 February
2008 with terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The nominated committee comprises Mr. LUO Su (chairman),
Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu, Mr. CHEN Mo and Mr. LAM, Ying Hung
Andy. The nomination committee is manily responsible for making
recommendations to the board of Directors on appointment of

Directors and management of board succession.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of subsequent events occuring after the balance sheet
date are set out in note 32 in notes to the combined financial

statements.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has

maintained sufficient public float as at the date of this report.
AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting to re-appoint KPMG as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

LUO Su

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 April 2008

Report of the Directors

A Rl

HiMEE e

A CESFAARER T R RN
FEZATH R HME R g - WL GER
FUE AR o N ZE B el T 38
A () ~ BRI So A4 RARIE G e AR ALK -
B 22 B 10 5 B B At TR E T
AL ~ TEAL R H A B A 2 2 M v A L
O <

RUZHE

A Al ST AR SEE IR ST A > i T E AR
THO A UHBRAZE G > WRER
FUE LR 1 - R4 T B g AR AR SEE
(ER) ~ IRz - BB e A KR
SEAE LA o P4 & B S T
248 Ty A S 1 S v A BT ) N A )
EHFFHEEER -

HiH HRBEH

JAREH AR 2 R IHZ GEY - HOR
o F B R I R A B R 32

S SR I L
A FRRAR A B EOR SO S > A A
N AHE AW AL ] EHERE 2
NRFEIR

BB

S S 68 S G S T A
115 S B AR - AT S
E S AT o A B Je JBE AU AF K o bt B
5 TR DA S 55 g w25 P
EE/AIE 2 Gl

REEFG

EY3

T “EE)NENA A+ —H

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
L R SRR RN T

Annual Report 2007

20074F B it

59



60

Corporate Governance Report
SRR R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules
(“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) as its
own code of corporate governance. The directors of the Company
(“Directors”) consider that since the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 31 March
2008 (“Listing Date”), the Company has complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate
governance of the Company to ensure that formal and transparent

procedures are in place to protect and maximise the interests of the

shareholders.

Set out below is a detailed discussion of the corporate governance
practices adopted and observed by the Company from the Listing

Date up to the date of this report (“Review Period”).
A. DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own
securities dealing code for the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that
they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Review Period.
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B. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

@)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises a combination of
executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the board of

Directors (“Board”) consisted the following Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. LUO Su (Chairman)

Mr. LUO Riming (Chief executive officer)
Mr. LIAO Yugqing

Mr. WANG Zhihua

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Mo
Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu
Mr. LAM, Ying Hung Andy

The executive Directors, with the assistance from
the senior management, form the core management
team of the Company. The executive Directors have
the overall responsibility for formulating the business
strategies and development plan of the Group and the
senior management are responsible for supervising and
executing the plans of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”).
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(ii)

Board meetings

During the Review Period, there was one full board

meeting held, at which:

—  the Directors approved the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2007
and reviewed the results announcement, annual
report and the circular to the shareholders of
the Company in relation to the general and
repurchase mandates proposal and re-election of

the Directors retiring by rotation; and

—  the Directors also reviewed the continuing
connected transactions carried on by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2007.

Prior notice convening the Board meeting was
despatched to the Directors setting out the matters
to be discussed. At the meeting, the Directors were
provided with the relevant documents to be discussed
and approved. The company secretary of the Company
is responsible for keeping minutes for the Board

meetings.
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(iii) Attendance record (iii) a8k
The following is the attendance record of the board DATR 2 S g % ] i A P r B2 AT I I B
meetings held by the Board during the Review Period: ek ERL
Attendance
at meeting
% &%
Executive Directors Hfr#EHF
Mr. LUO Su (Chairman) FEWRICE (2 1/1
Mr. LUO Riming (Chief executive officer) HEHBRSE A ATEUER) 1/1
Mr. LTAO Yugqing B E e 1/1
Mr. WANG Zhihua ERHEAE 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors P IEH T EHF
Mr. CHEN Mo BB Se AR 11
Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu o] B 22 S 1/1
Mr. LAM, Ying Hung Andy M e 1/1
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(iv) Independent non-executive Directors

(v)

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board considers that all
independent non-executive Directors have appropriate
and sufficient industry or finance experience and
qualifications to carry out their duties so as to protect
the interests of sharcholders of the Company. One of
the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. LAM,
Ying Hung Andy, has over 20 years in the accounting,
banking and finance sectors and is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the
independent non-executive Directors has submitted a
written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming
their independence and has undertaken to inform
the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there is
any subsequent change of circumstances which may
affect their independence. The Company has also
received their annual written confirmations from
all independent non-executive Directors in respect
of their independence. The Board considers that
all independent non-executive Directors are being

considered to be independent.
Relationship among members of the Board

Mr. LIAO Yuqing, an executive Director, is the son-
in-law of Mr. LUO Su, an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board. Save as aforesaid, there is no
other family relationship between any of the Directors
or chief executive officer. All of them are free to

exercise their independent judgment.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer are
segregated. Mr. LUO Su is the chairman of the Board who
is chiefly responsible for managing the Board and while Mr.
LUO Riming is the chief executive officer of the Company
who takes charge of the supervision of the execution of the
policies determined by the Board. The chairman also chairs
the Board meetings and briefs the Board members on the

issues discussed at the Board meetings.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors have been
appointed for a fixed term of two years commencing from 1
March 2008.

The independent non-executive Directors have attended the
Board meeting and provided independent judgment on the

issues discussed.
REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a remuneration committee on 29
February 2008 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The remuneration committee comprises
Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu (chairman), Mr. CHEN Mo, Mr.
LAM, Ying Hung Andy and Mr. LUO Su. The primary
duties of the remuneration committee are to review and
determine the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior

management.
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The remuneration committee has not held any meeting
during the Review Period as the remuneration package
and the service agreement of each Director have been
considered and approved at a full Board meeting held before
the establishment of the remuneration committee. After
the Listing Date, there is no new Director appointed. It
is the Company’s policy that the remuneration package of
each Director and senior management shall be determined
by reference to the duties, responsibilities, experience and

qualifications of each candidate.
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a nomination committee on 29
February 2008 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The nomination committee comprises
Mr. LUO Su (chairman), Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu, Mr. CHEN
Mo and Mr. LAM, Ying Hung Andy. The primary duties of
the nomination committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the nominees for appointment as Directors and

senior management of the Group.

The nomination committee has not held any meeting during
the Review Period as the Company has not appointed any

new Director after the Listing Date.

Before the listing of the Company, the Directors have been
provided with briefing on their duties and responsibilities
as a director of a listed company and the compliance issues

under the Listing Rules.

According to the articles of association of the Company, one-
third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire
from the office and offer themselves for re-election. The
Directors to be retired by rotation shall be those who have

been longest in office since their last appointment.
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At a full Board meeting held on 21 April 2008, the Directors
have reviewed the performance of the Directors who will
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and approved to recommend the re-election of
such Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of

the Company.

Fe ZFE )/ FENH A+~ HERTHE
Fo ek L T R R
BATH A A FBFOH AR g LR
SR BL > 7 HE RS % 5 A A
HEERATIOA > R B R AE R | g
AL

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION G. BBLhm
For the year ended 31 December 2007, apart from the REE ZEFLFET A= —HIE
provisions of annual audit services, the Group’s external R BRAR A B T A RS A AR
auditor, KPMG, was also the reporting accountants of ) A AN A S R S o e R S T
the Company in relation to the listing. The Company IR B AS N FIAT i 0 R S g i o
has not appointed KPMG to provide non-audit services. AR ) Sl A 2 A G s T
A breakdown of the remuneration of the Group’s external P I A A S o A 2 B S A T Ah
auditor is as follows: A% B B T < S A
For the year ended
31 December 2007
BREZEZLE
+=A=t—H
R4
(HK$°000)
(TH#c)
Audit service HIRB
Annual audit services R IR 330
Reporting accountants in relation to the listing A B b H g w A 6,350
AUDIT COMMITTEE H. ZEZEE

The Company has established an audit committee with
written terms of reference based upon the provisions and
recommended practices of the CG Code on 29 February
2008. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control systems of the Group. At present, members

of the audit committee comprise Mr. LAM, Ying Hung
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B
Andy (chairman), Mr. CHEN Mo and Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu, Stk R fn] F 38 5 A A o
being the three independent non-executive Directors of the
Company.
Up to the date of this report, the audit committee has held WEARE R FEEEGCRT
one meeting, at which: —REgE g

FEZATMARALEEE

—  the audit committee members have reviewed and

discussed with the external auditors of the Company —EEEFT A= —HIE
the Group’s combined financial statements for the AR A D B R AR B
year ended 31 December 2007, who is of the opinion J LA ) S A, S A T 7
that such statement complied with the applicable B ARG B g
accounting standards, the Stock Exchange and legal WERI - B 22 BT BB BIELE - IR E
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been Ve RSP 57 5 &
made; and

—  the audit committee also reviewed the reasonableness —  HEZEEHEMEIAN A
and fairness of the continuing connected transactions E2EEZELFET_H=Z+—H
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007. LA BRI 2 5 2 5 B

(EYNY/NSSE

The following is the attendance record of the committee UTAFREEEGREIFMESTZAS

meeting held by the audit committee during the Review ik I ALk

Period:

Attendance

at meeting

L ACE: S

Mr. CHEN Mo i Bk S A 1/1

Mr. HO, Kwan Yiu il 285 A 1/1

Mr. LAM, Ying Hung Andy R e A 1/1
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007.

The external auditors of the Company acknowledge their
reporting responsibilities in the auditors’ report on the
combined financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2007.

INTERNAL CONTROL

With a view to enhancing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has appointed Baker Tilly Hong Kong
CPA to perform an internal control and systems review. The
Group is in the process of improving and establishing the
internal control measures as recommended by Baker Tilly
Hong Kong CPA in certain areas, such as computer system

and budget evalution.

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the
Company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board will conduct periodical review on
the progress of the improvement and enhancement with an

effort to enhance the internal control measures of the Group.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Combined Financial Statements

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the combined financial statements of Xingfa
Aluminium Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and the
subsidiaries as set out in note 1(b) now comprising the group
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”), set out on
pages 71 to 171, which comprise the combined balance sheet
as at 31 December 2007, and the combined income statement,
the combined statement of changes in equity and the combined
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The
combined financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the “Basis of presentation” set out in note 1(c) and the

accounting policies set out in note 2.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of

this report.
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£ DR B 5 i e 2 B8 A S o

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the combined financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the “Basis of presentation”
set out in note 1(c) and the accounting policies set out in note 2
and, on that basis, give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended as if the Group’s reorganisation
had been effected on 1 January 2006 and the Group structure had

been in existence then.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

21 April 2008
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

Combined Income Statement

UL EE

for the year ended 31 December 2007

(A REIIR) HE BT ELFEAfTH = —HILFE
2007 2006
“ETLE  CETAF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ik ANR#E T AR BT
Turnover A 5 2,148,674 1,861,244
Cost of sales S A (1,949,498) (1,724,743)
Gross profit EH 199,176 136,501
Other net income HoAh e A ¥R %A 6 182,168 5,906
Distribution expenses a1z b (32,529) (21,419)
Administrative expenses AT (29,849) (32,289)
Results from operating activities REEH 318,966 88,699
Finance income BABS A 7(a) 2,435 2,368
Finance expenses WABS S 7(a) (30,478) (24,903)
Net finance costs A 5 A ¥ R (28,043) (22,535)
Profit before income tax 5% J 45 5% i ¥z A1 7 290,923 66,164
Income tax (expenses)/credit Frss (Bs2) &t 8(a) 677 (5,875)
Profit for the year AP 5 ¥t P 291,600 60,289
Attributable to: fit e
Equity holders of the Company AN F RAEREA N 291,750 59,377
Minority interests VBB HE 7 (150) 912
Profit for the year A3 Y ) 291,600 60,289
Dividends attributable to the year A A it B
Dividends declared and AERE BB IR IR RS
paid during the year 25(d) 118,961 —
Basic and diluted earnings per share 55 3 A< K $ &1 A1
(RMB yuan) (ANR¥8) 11 0.94 0.19

The notes on pages 79 to 171 form part of these financial

statements.
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Combined Balance Sheet

g ARk

at 31 December 2007

(Expressed in Renminbi)

W EELFZH=1—H (UNRBIFR)
2007 2006
ZERLAA TR
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt it AR T WNSY i
Non-current assets JEW B
Property, plant and equipment W) 2~ W2 K v 12 139,007 191,847
Investment property Evd-L/E 13 — 3,756
Lease prepayments TEATHH 4 14 — 81,484
Total non-current assets IE i B A 139,007 277,087
Current assets i B R
Inventories ety 16 239,625 173,156
Derivative financial instruments A4 LE 17 810 2,983
Trade and other receivables 28 Je HoAth FE W A 18 488,300 475,540
Amounts due from related parties i Ad iy e 28(c)(i) 4,845 170,931
Pledged deposits A AP 2K 19 32,422 135,687
Cash and cash equivalents 4 IR & ZEY 20 146,411 56,088
Assets classified as held for sale G TR A 21 10,486 ==
Total current assets i B A E A 922,899 1,014,385
Current liabilities B 1R
Loans and borrowings HRATE K 22 297,000 406,700
Trade and other payables 22 5 B FHAth A 3k IH 23 245,323 527,287
Amounts due to related parties JE AT BB )y 3K TE 28(c)(iz) 1,447 568
Derivative financial instruments i 4m T E 17 722 501
Current tax payables JREASH B B I 15(a) 2,086 3,941
546,578 938,997
Net current assets i B & s 376,321 75,388

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN RIEIIR)

Combined Balance Sheet

s E AR

at 31 December 2007

REEELEA =

2007 2006

—BREE  EEAE

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Jiza AR# T AR+

Total assets less current liabilities H8 % e D B AU 515,328 352,475
Non-current liabilities JEUn B AR

Loans and borrowings AT R 22 80,000 —

Deferred tax liabilities 5 SE R TH A 15(b) — 235

80,000 235

Net assets B R AR 435,328 352,240
Capital and reserves JBe A B fiki

Paid-in capital B HRA 24 210,000 225,000

Reserves Tttt 25 225,328 98,101

Total equity attributable to equity A A RRERE A AL

holders of the Company HE 4 HEH 435,328 323,101

Minority interests > WUB HHE 28 = 29,139

Total equity RE 45 AA %0 435,328 352,240

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21

April 2008.

Luo Su
Chairman
E 3

The notes on pages 79 to 171 form part of these financial

statements.

AT EENAENH A+ — H S e
K FZHETI) 8%

Luo Riming
Chief Executive Officer
TTIECA#
A

59579 417 VBT AR o A B R
— 4k -
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Combined Statement of Changes in Equity

ik RE i 52 B

for the year ended 31 December 2007 (Expressed in Renminbi)

74

HE—FE LA ] = A (BLA A7)
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company
A ) JBRE A N A
PRC
Paid-in statutory Retained Minority Total
capital reserves earnings Total interests equity
r 8 2 5E 2 BB
A Tl ff5 PR L&A A B 2 HiE £ A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRIEFETIE ARWFIT AR¥TILT AREFTLT ARWKTT ARKTIL
(Note 24)  (Note 25(a))
(Bit24)  (Hti250)
At 1 January 2006 ZERERNE—A
—H 155,041 29,664 39,019 223,724 28,227 251,951
Profit for the year AR 5 | — — 59,377 59,377 912 60,289
Transfer from retained  ##4 B £ B & A
earnings — 7,522 (7,522) — — —
Deemed appropriation on {5 24~ B AL
reorganisation (Note 25 wHEE (S
(b)) 25(b)) (80,041) — (29,959) (110,000) — (110,000)
Capitalisation BAEAR (it
(Note 24 (iv)) 24(iv)) 150,000 — — 150,000 — 150,000
At 31 December 2006 TRENFET
H=t+—H 225,000 37,186 60,915 323,101 29,139 352,240
At 1 January 2007 R ELFE—H
—H 225,000 37,186 60,915 323,101 29,139 352,240
Profit for the year AP Y | — — 291,750 291,750 (150) 291,600
Transfer from retained ¥4 5 {1 & 21|
earnings — 36,743 (36,743) — — =
Dividend declared during 4F A E & Ik
the year B (Kt
(Note 25(d)) 25(d)) — — (118,961) (118,961) — (118,961)
Deemed appropriation on i 24 A B AL
reorganisation (Note 25 W (Mgt
(b)) 25(b)) (75,000) (26,049) (19,513) (120,562) (28,989) (149,551)
Capitalisation BAEAR (it
(Note 24 (iv)) 24(iv)) 60,000 — — 60,000 — 60,000
At 31 December 2007 TR
A=1+—H 210,000 47,880 177,448 435,328 — 435,328

The notes on pages

statements.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

L R SETE A R T

79 to 171 form part of these financial
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RIS 7)

Combined Cash Flow Statement

B e ER

for the year ended 31 December 2007
#HE DR A = I

2007 2006
ZERLAg TR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥E T WNSY i
Operating activities BEE
Profit before taxation R A Vi A1) 290,923 66,164
Adjustments for: BT B4 TH
Depreciation g
— Property, plant and equipment — W3~ WA Rk 23,872 26,868
— Investment property — HEYE 94 187
Amortisation of lease prepayments TEA FH 4 14 6 1,143 1,852
Interest income on bank deposits SRATAR AL A (2,435) (2,368)
Interest expenses on bank loans SRAT A5 A S B S 26,211 23,471
Gain on disposal of lease prepayments 8 TEA FH 4 i 45 (174,941) —
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of HEE ) 3~ MR R
property, plant and equipment 8/ (lds) TRAE 186 (35)
Unrealised net gain of derivative i 4Rl T B R sE3
financial instruments Wi 45 3 H (88) (2,482)
Operating profit before changes in #8485 & 4 58 W) i 2845
working capital Y A 164,965 113,657
Change in inventories &5 E) (94,821) (74,679)
Change in trade and other receivables 32 5 K& HAth B g 3 H
S5 Hf (254,817) (252,649)
Change in trade and other payables 3T Gy J FoAh A 3K
bk)] 42,676 128,085
Cash used in operations RO LT Bl 42 (141,997) (85,5806)
Income tax paid [EARIEEE) (3,618) (6,905)
Net cash used in operating activities #8755 2E15 ir F B & {F 44 (145,615) (92,491)

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Combined Cash Flow Statement

HHEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2007

(Expressed in Renminbi)

e BT H = — HIFFEE (BIN R IEG7R)
2007 2006
“EE L ZEREINE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR# T ANRETF o
Investing activities REEH
Interest received EULFE 2,435 2,368
Proceeds from pledged deposits A B K IE 160,971 245,713
Payment of pledged deposits HHEHAE AT R (154,974) (292,258)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantiti 8492 ~ {75 K st
and equipment FEE QI - 112
Acquisition of property, plant and e B 2 TR SRR
equipment (55,546) (16,512)
Payment for lease prepayments TEAFH 42 (5,515) (174)
Proceeds from disposal of lease HETEA 4 rs sx0E
prepayments 208,078 =
Payment of business tax and surcharges & A FH 4 {45 2
on disposal of lease prepayments T K2 o n (9,754) —
Advances to related parties T B (48,124) (126,364)
Repayment of advances to related parties [i] [ 2 7 [ 7 G 116,367 226,048

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RIS 7)

Combined Cash Flow Statement

B e ER

for the year ended 31 December 2007
B2 EELFE A=, —HILFE

2007 2006
—BBLE  —EEAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥E T WNSY i
Net cash generated from investing BREWB S &
activities 213,938 38,933
Financing activities A TG
Interest paid BT AL (26,211) (23,471)
Cash distributed to equity holders on  FAEE A 1o BEAEREA A
reorganisation IR E 4 (21,874) —
Proceeds from loans and borrowings SRAT B R T 15 2K IE 601,130 549,600
Repayment of loans and borrowings & 15 SRAT B K (418,330) (476,900)
Dividends paid e (118,961) —
Advances from related parties BRI 228 7 B 14,565 550
Repayments of advances from related BE 7 (9 AR
parties (8,319) 99)
Net cash generated from financing B &E G B i 1331 &5
activities 22,000 49,680
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 314 I &2 E W88
cash equivalents /(W) T3 90,323 (3,878)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 R—H—HIB &R
January £ EY 20 56,088 59,966
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 RT+_H=+—Hr8
December E B EEED 20 146,411 56,088

Non-cash transactions

(i)  For the year ended 31 December 2006, Xingfa Aluminium
Pte Ltd. (“Xingfa SG”) acquired the entire equity interest
in Foshan Xingfa Aluminium Profiles Co., Ltd. (“Foshan
Xingfa”) from Hang Fat Aluminium Profiles Co., Ltd
(“Hang Fat”) at a consideration of RMB110,000,000. The
consideration payable to Hang Fat was reflected as deemed

appropriation to the equity holders of the Company.

KBRS

(i) ®WEZFEEANETH =T —HILE
B »Xingfa Aluminium Pte. Ltd. ( [ L
FESG mEE A AR A ([1E
B 1) e B 1Ly B 6 UM A PR A

(Bl BLEs | ) 2 RHE s RAE A A
’%110,000,0007G ° FEAT T 1HEE 1Y
FRAB G 2 A B T A S R I ME R A

Ao

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Combined Cash Flow Statement

HHEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2007
HE EE L | i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Pursuant to a deed of debt assignment entered into between
Xingfa SG, Hang Fat and a group of ultimate equity holders
(referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”) on 31
December 2006, Hang Fat assigned its rights in respect of
an amount of RMB150,000,000 receivable from Xingfa SG,
which included the consideration referred to in (i) above,
to the Controlling Shareholders in consideration of a same
amount. Following the debt assignment, 712 new shares
of Xingfa SG were issued and allotted to the Controlling
Shareholders in consideration of the capitalisation of
the amount due to the Controlling Shareholders of
RMB150,000,000 (Note 24 (iv)(b)).

In addition to (ii) above, Hang Fat also assigned its rights
in respect of an amount of RMB15,116,000 receivable from
Xingfa SG to the Controlling Shareholders in consideration
of a same amount pursuant to a deed of debt assignment
entered into between Xingfa SG, Hang Fat and the
Controlling Shareholders on 31 July 2007. Following the
debt assignment, 71 new shares of Xingfa SG were issued
and allotted to the Controlling Shareholders in consideration
of the capitalisation of the amount due to the Controlling
Shareholders of RMB15,116,000 (Note 24 (iv)(c)).

For the year ended 31 December 2007, certain assets and
liabilities (the “Retained Assets”) of the Guangdong Xingfa
Group Co., Ltd. (“Xingfa Group”), Guangdong Xingfa
Innovation Co., Ltd. (“Xingfa Innovation”) and Foshan
Xingfa (collectively referred to as “Predecessor Entities”)
with an aggregate amount of RMB149,551,000 which
were related to the operations of manufacturing and sales
of aluminium profiles (“Aluminium Profile Business”) were
retained by Predecessor Entities. They were reflected as
deemed appropriation to the equity holders of the Company
(Note 25(b)).

Pursuant to a deed of debt assignment entered into between
Xingfa SG, Xingfa Group and the Controlling Shareholders
on 30 November 2007, Xingfa Group assigned its rights in
respect of an amount of RMB44,884,000 receivable from
Xingfa SG to the Controlling Sharecholders in consideration
of a same amount. Following the debt assignment, 214
new shares of Xingfa SG were issued and alloted to the
Controlling Shareholders in consideration of the amounts
due to the Controlling Shareholders of RMB44,884,000
(Note 24 (iv)(d)).

The notes on pages 79 to 171 form part of these financial

statements.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS )

MR AR BLEES G ~ fH 5 B — 41 fiz 4 R
RN (TEEREBE R | ) i = FEN
AT ] = HET L 6 B 17
e o 1L [ A S SR T A A L
FESGHIH AR ¥150,000,00070 2 FE
F o GLEE b 3G I A AR T
HE 1B R 2 ARAE 5 [R) 55 < 3 o 58 B S
BT B A R BT S LB 712
J LB S G L » AR 2o 5155 M A 425
R IE N 150,000,000 7 78
A ([f7E24(iv)b) -

Bk 3G i 4 > AR PR BLEESG - fE
H TN iy g e a2 < o
EH =+ — HRT 5L 00 {5 155 4 g 1 k>
L 8 I ] 5 R I RO S A B i L
BESGHIA N KH15,116,00070 2 #E
Il B ot ) B 4 B o (R AR
YERE R R AT S B 58 71 B3R S G
ST IBE o AR 25 195 IR A T 2 0 e R R
NE¥15,116,000 0 R EAR (K 7t
24(iv)(c) °

HEZFZTELFET_H=1+—HI
R B SR AL SE S AR I N IR
149,551,000 7C 9 {3 1Ly L %% 57 0 4 7
R ([ fe il BLag | ) - FE B as 42
A BR S w) (TR AROLgE | ) K i
BRI A BRAF] (TELEEAIHT] )

(Hif (AT H ) & T ERE Ak
AT B AFIAE ([REEE]) -3
G KA R TARAF
BERERFA N (ff7E25b)) -

R 45 BILEE S G~ J3 B L 2 B 425 A gt B
R ER LA+ —H =T HE i
5 0T T R » B R L O 1 R i L
SGANEH 44,884,000 70 [ HEF| DA%
AR T 2 IR R - R o
RUAR » PENE R R AT KRB B 214 1%
B S G > FOAE S b e JREAS) 22
JBE IR N 54 4,884,0000C (Mt
24(iv)b) -
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS 7 )

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A B

Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
September 2007 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

As at 31 December 2007, 10,000,000 nil-paid shares
were held by a group of ultimate equity holders
(referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”). The
Company did not carry on any business during the
period from the date of incorporation to 31 December
2007. Accordingly, there was neither balance sheet item
nor profit or loss item in the financial statement of the
Company as at 31 December 2007.

These financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 21 April 2008.

Pursuant to a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of
the Company and its subsidiaries now comprising the
group (the “Group”) completed on 29 February 2008
to rationalise the group structure for the public listing
of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the Aluminium Profile Business with
relevant assets and liabilities of the Predecessor Entities
were transferred to the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group and the Company became the holding company
of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. The
shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 31 March 2008.

BB SR ERE A R A A ([ A
DT —EEFEEE N +=
H AR 45 B 2 BE 5 20 W) R 58 22
B (—JUN— 3 > REE
FAEFT) i Bl 2 3 b o S
2 WA PR T o a4
% 1) b 3k £ Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KYI1-1111,
Cayman Islands °

W oEELFE A =
H > 10,000,000 A% A 4% B 2K 19
JE i — M K RERR A A
(A BB R ) Re s - Bk
WAL B R BT B4E+ —
A=1+—HHM » &2 &%
BB AT SERS - PRAS 28 F]R
CEEEEF A=A
S i 2 I 4 ' s A (R AR IE
s EIRER -

EHFOR -FFNENA
T F R R R A B R
2= ¢

MRYEAR 23 7 e B A SR T
Wi JB8 2 W) (DA St M A< 4 1) )
REFFNFE_A_HIHASE
R AL ([ E A ) Bl A AR f 42
> LA AR 2 ] B4 1% 7 v B
38 5y BT A BR A =] ([ 22 BT 1)
EARAB LT - SRR SR
el /T B 2~ 7 B A B & E XA
B o O T BN A 4R i
B A R > T AR 2 ] Rl
oy B 74 4 1 TS WS 2 w1
P A] o AR RIBAIR —F
TNEZH =+ — HRBR T
£l
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ 7 B 85 i A B

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the

prospectus dated 17 March 2008 (the “Prospectus”)

issued by the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries now comprising

the Group as set out below are principally engaged in

manufacturing and sales of aluminium profiles in the

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Name of company
kL

China Xingfa (BVI)
Limited
(“Xingfa BVI”)

China Xingfa(BVI)
Limited ([ EL%EBVI])

Xingfa Aluminium
Pte Ltd.
(“Xingfa SG”)

Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid up/registered

establishment capital

aE L, O AT R AR E
K H & A&

The British Virgin USD1,000

Islands (the “BVI”)

2 October 2007

ey ) areid

([ e o it 1)
“EZFLETHZH 1,000 % 7T

Singapore  SGD43,666,000
3 April 2006

Xingfa Aluminium Pte s 43,666,000
Led. ([ BLEESG ) “EFTNE HmgoT
H=H
B LS e S A R the PRC RMB180,040,000
NG| (Guangdong 26 May 2006
Xingfa Aluminium
Co., Ltd.) (“Xingfa
Aluminium”)*
JEE RS SR 2 TR aslE] NG
ml (BB ) ~ TEENFERH 180,040,0007T
—+NH
* This entity is a wholly owned foreign enterprise

established in PRC.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
L R SETE A R T

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(U R )

A B E AR A9 A O AR 2 R R
“FFNFE=A+-LHTIEY
BT ([ B ]) -

N SCRT A 7 e B R AR AR
TR B a8 s W] A AR
FEANE (7 Hp g J) 7 2 3 A
B BT ST o

Attributable
equity interest
B A R 42

Direct Indirect  Principal activities
H¥% fii F R
100% — Investment holding
Eid el
— 100% Investment holding
T
— 100% Manufacturing and
sales of aluminium
profiles
A2 T 8 S B A

& 2% Tl 2 T R B AR S Y A1
A3



(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS 7 )

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A B

Note 1(b) describes the Reorganisation of the Group
that took place prior to its listing on the Stock
Exchange on 31 March 2008. Since the Reorganisation
was not completed until 29 February 2008, the effect
of the Reorganisation is not reflected in the Company’s
financial statements for the period from 13 September
2007 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2007.

However, since all entities which took part in the
Reorganisation were under common control of the
Controlling Shareholders before and immediately
after the Reorganisation and, consequently, there
was a continuation of the risks and benefits to the
Controlling Shareholders that existed prior to the
Reorganisation. These combined financial statements
have been prepared by using the merger basis of
accounting as if the Aluminium Profile Business had
been operated by the Group and the current group
structure had been in existence throughout the periods

presented.

Accordingly, the combined income statements,
combined statements of changes in equity and
combined cash flow statements of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 include the
results of operations of Aluminium Profile Business of
the Predecessor Entities and the results of operations
of the Company and its subsidiaries now comprising
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2006
and 2007 (or where the companies were established/
incorporated at a date later than 1 January 2006,
for the periods from the date of establishment/

incorporation to 31 December 2007).

BRFRE 1 (b) il A 52 | i — 2%
JNEZH =+ — HAEW LA
M AT AT AL 2 5R1 » B E
HEE ZE/E A+
HoEM > St EAl 2 28R
TR NF H ZEELFILA
+=HGEMBESLEH) & &
ELEF A=+ —H 1M
P A 7k 2% R R B o

R HRETE W KEAZ A
) AE AL i el R AL R Y
PR 42 B M SROAC [R] e ) e e
J R T AR B URIE = A
T AL A A7 E 2 AR B g
Mid o A HAB IR ERRIES
DF B w105 A o 26 8 TR S S
— AR E A R B A S
e T 25N — a5
1 -

BB > A5 B & BF i s 3
D R 4 5 ) R B F B A
BAR T LA 5 2 F) b 2
MREEB L _FEART
TELEEMARAR -FF
NAE—H— B &AL/ G
WAL o R A B OOL / GEARGE
FMEE_"FFTLHET A
=t HIEHIH) AEEET

AGITIDES Y i
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ 7 B 85 i A B

The Predecessor Entities’ assets and liabilities which
are related to the Aluminium Profile Business are
combined using their existing book values from the
Controlling Shareholders’ perspective. The combined
balance sheets of the Group as at 31 December 2006
have been prepared to present the state of affairs of the
Aluminium Profile Business of the Predecessor Entities
and the state of affairs of the Company’s subsidiaries
now comprising the Group as at 31 December 2006.
The Retained Assets retained by the Predecessor
Entities at 28 July 2007 were treated as deemed
appropriation to the equity holders of the Company
at 28 July 2007. Accordingly, the combined balance
sheets as at 31 December 2007 have not included the
Retained Assets but have been prepared to present the
state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries now

comprising the Group as at 31 December 2007.

All material intra-group transactions and balances have

been eliminated on combination.

These combined financial statements do not form
part of the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2007. However, they will
form the basis of the comparative information in the
Company’s financial statements for the year ending
31 December 2008. This is because, when adopting
the merger basis of accounting, in the period in which
the Reorganisation is first reflected in the financial
statements, the financial statement items for any
comparative periods should be included in the financial
statements as if the Reorganisation had taken place

from the beginning of the earliest period presented.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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TEANFETA=Z+—HHE
HEERMERL - BIIFSLF
3 20 Ao S5 1) BA IR L B T A
B 3 A 4 [ S 4 ) B A
RV - HETSAFRR —FE L
FEEH - NERENREE
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS 7 )

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A B

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which include all applicable
individual IFRSs, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and related Interpretations, promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”). These financial statements also comply
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the TASB issued a number of new and revised
IFRSs. For the purpose of preparing these financial
statements, the Group has adopted all these new and
revised IFRSs throughout the years presented, except
for any new standards or interpretation that are not yet
effective for the accounting period ended 31 December
2007. The revised and new accounting standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective for the
accounting period ended 31 December 2007 are set out
in Note 31.

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted and consistently applied by the Group in the
preparation of these financial statements is set out

below.

7% B 5 i o 2 i T i v
S 2= B A A ) 0 R B
e 1 A 5o [ S Y B
BLAF BT A 908 P AR B s
HE Q) ~ o R o R R B
B o AMBIREMDTEFEL
R 91 4 4 8 AR RE S A v W 5C
Jofr i 7 T AR B S 7 P 95 2 K

s

7E °

BEA B WMERTIEEH I B
Wt R 2 B A 2 TEH
T M KEAE R I s A E
RIJ o f A A B AR IR - AR AR
B B 20 4F R B I B 4R
AT A 2SR T M R A T B B
S e M MR E
FLEF A=+ —HILFE
18 A% A 280 A AT ] T o B
RERRSN - MR B %
FLETF A= —HIEFRE
o) R 2B B R AE T B ] & wt
e J e FEROR M RE 31 -

A S 8 4 S A B S % BT 4R
Je B R B 2 B st BUR R
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ 7 B 85 i A B

D2

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of measurement

Items included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the entity (“functional currency”). These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”),

rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share

data.

These financial statements are prepared on the
historical cost basis except that the derivative financial
instruments are measured at fair value (Note 2(f)(i1)).

The methods used to measure fair value are set out in

Note 3.

(c) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from

other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is

revised and in any future periods affected.

Judgments made by management in application of
IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial

statements and estimates with a significant risk of

material adjustment are discussed in Note 30.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIFSY )

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Subsidiaries and controlled entities are entities
controlled by the Group. Control exists when
the Group has the power directly or indirectly to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.
The financial statements of subsidiaries and
controlled entities are included in these financial
statements from the date that control commences

until the date that control ceases.

Minority interests represent the portion of the
net assets of subsidiaries and controlled entities
attributed to interests that are not owned by
the Company, whether directly and indirectly
through subsidiaries and controlled entities, and
in respect of which the Group has not agreed
any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition
of a financial liability. Minority interests are
presented in the combined balance sheet within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. Minority
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the combined income statement
as an allocation of the total profit or loss for the
year between minority interests and the equity

holders of the Company.

Intra-group balances and any unrealised
income and expenses arising from Intra-group
transactions are eliminated in preparing these

financial statements.

(@)

(ii)

(iii)
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Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the
respective functional currencies of the Group entities at
exchange rates at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional
currency at the exchange rates at that date. Foreign
currency differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of
foreign operations are translated to RMB at exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign

currency differences are recognised directly in equity.

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise
trade and other receivables, pledged deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings,
trade and other payables and amounts due from/

(to) related parties.

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost less allowance for impairment of
doubtful debts, except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance

for impairment of doubtful debts.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIFSY )

(i)

Non-derivative financial instruments

(continued)

Loans and borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with
any difference between the amount initially
recognised and redemption value being
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees

payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables and amounts due to
related parties are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with Note 2(n), trade
and other payables and amounts due to related
parties are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
balances and call deposits.

Accounting for finance income and expenses is

set out in Note 2(t).
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(i)

(i7)

Non-derivative financial instruments

(continued)

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised
if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial assets expire or if the
Group transfers the financial assets to another
party without retaining control or substantially
all risks and rewards of the assets. Regular
way purchases and sales of financial assets are
accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that
the Group commits itself to purchase or sell the
assets. Financial liabilities are derecognised if
the Group’s obligations specified in the contract

expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses aluminium futures contracts
to mitigate its market risk on aluminium price
fluctuations. In accordance with its treasury
policy, the Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading

purposes.

The Group does not adopt hedge accounting.
Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value, attributable transaction
costs are recognised in profit or loss when
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,

derivatives are measured at fair value.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIFSY )

(71)

(2)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Changes in the fair values of derivative financial
instruments are recognised directly in profit or

loss under “other net income” as they arise.

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses (Note 2(k)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of an asset. The
cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost
of materials and direct labour, any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to
a working condition for its intended use, and
the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are
located. Purchased software that is integral to
the functionality of the related equipment is

capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they
are accounted for as separate items (major

components) of property, plant and equipment.

Construction in progress represents property,
plant and equipment under construction and
machinery pending installation, and is stated at

cost less impairment losses (Note 2(k)).
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(i)

(77)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

Cost comprises direct costs of construction
during the construction and installation
period. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and
the construction in progress is transferred to
property, plant and equipment when all of the
activities necessary to prepare the assets for their

intended use are substantially complete.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in the
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that
the future economic benefits embodied within
the part will flow to the Group and its cost can
be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-
day serving of property, plant and equipment are

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment. Buildings held for own use which are
situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than
20 years after the date of completion. Leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease

term and their useful lives.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(N R B )

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(iii) Depreciation (continued)

The estimated useful lives of other property,

plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and machinery 10-15 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Office equipment and others 2-10 years

No depreciation is provided in respect of
construction in progress until it is substantially
complete and ready for its intended use. Upon
completion and commissioning for operation,
depreciation will be provided at the appropriate

rates specified above.

Depreciation methods, useful life and residual

value are reassessed at the reporting date.
Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent cost of land use rights
paid to the PRC government authorities. Land use
rights are stated as cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses (Note 2(k)). Amortisation is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over

the respective period of the rights.
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D2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

(k)

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both.
Investment property comprises cost of building.
Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (Note 2(k)).
Depreciation for investment property is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of 20 years, after taking into account of its

estimated residual values.
Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based
on the weighted average cost principle, and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories
and bringing them to their existing location and
condition. In case of manufactured inventories and
work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
the production overheads based on normal operating
capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
Impairment of assets
(i) Financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired
if objective evidence indicates that one or more
events have had a negative effect on the estimated

future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount, and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows

discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIFSY )

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)

Individually significant financial assets are
tested for impairment on an individual basis.
The remaining financial assets are assessed
collectively in groups that share similar credit

risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or

loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-
financial assets, other than inventories and
deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists then

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
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(i) Non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-
generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset
group that generates cash flows that largely
are independent from other assets and groups.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the units and then to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on

a pro-rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less cost to sell. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks

specific to the assets.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment

loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(BN R B 7T)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

M

(m)

(n)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising
assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing
use are classified as held for sale. Immediately before
classification as held for sale, the assets (components
of a disposal group) are remeasured in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally
the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.
Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated
to assets and liabilities on pro-rata basis, except that no
loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets, employee benefit assets and investment
property, which continue to be measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment
losses on initial classification as held for sale and
subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised

in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.
Employee benefit

Obligations for contribution to defined contributed
pension plans are recognised as an expense in profit or

loss when they are due.
Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance with the

Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with Note 2(o) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group, under the guarantee, and (ii)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount

initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

Provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event,
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of

the time value of money and the risks specific to the

liability.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when
the Group has approved a detailed and formal
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has
commenced or has been announced publicly. Future
operating costs are not provided for. The Group did

not have any detailed and formal restructuring plan up

to the date of this report.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIFIY )

(i)

(77)

Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at
the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade
discounts and volume rebates and excluding
value added tax or other sales taxes. Revenue is
recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
recovery of the consideration is probable, the
associated costs and possible return of goods can
be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing

management involvement with the goods.

Transfers of risks and rewards vary depending on
the individual terms of contract of sales. For sales
of aluminium profiles, transfer usually occurs
when the product is received at the customer’s
warehouse; however, for some international
shipments transfer occurs upon loading the

goods onto the relevant carrier.
Services income

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in

profit or loss upon the completion of transaction.

(1)

(ii)
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i A B

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9)

(r)

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Government grants

An unconditional government grant is recognised in

profit or loss when the grant becomes receivable.

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred
income when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to the grant. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same period in which the expenses are recognised.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic

basis over the useful life of the asset.
Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an
integral part of the total rental income, over the term

of the lease.
Operating lease payment

Payments made under operating leases are recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integral part of the total lease expenses, over the term

of the lease.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN R B )

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t)

)

Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds
invested and foreign currency gains. Interest income
is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest

method.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on
borrowings and foreign currency losses. All borrowing
costs are recognised in profit or loss using effective

interest method.
Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Research
and development costs comprise all costs that are
directly attributable to research and development
activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis
to such activities. Because of the nature of the Group’s
research and development activities, the criteria for the
recognition of such costs as an asset are generally not
met until late in the development stage of the project
when the remaining development costs are immaterial.
Hence both research costs and development costs are
generally recognised as expenses in the period in which

they are incurred.
Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the profit
or loss except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in equity, in which case they are

recognised in equity.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i e B

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be

utilised.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI BRI 7 )

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A P

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they

will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable

profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the

liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i e B

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v) Income tax expense (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,

if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

L R SETE A R T

the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIFIY )

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party

is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over
the Group in making financial and operating
policy decisions, or has joint control over the

Group;

the Group and the party are subject to common

control;

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint

venture in which the Group is a venturer;

the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent,
or, a close family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint control or

significant influence of such individual;

the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such

individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan
which is for the benefit of employees of the
Group or of any entity that is a related party of

the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that individual in their dealings with

the entity.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i A B

D2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(x) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing related products or
services (business segment), or in providing products
or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments.
No segment information is presented in respect of the
Group’s business segment as the Group is principally
engaged in the manufacturing and sales of aluminium

profiles.
DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures
require the determination of fair value, for both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been
determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
based on the following methods. Where applicable, further
information about the assumptions made in determining
fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset and

liability.
(i) Derivatives financial instruments

The fair value of future aluminium contract is based

on their listed market price.
(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes,
is calculated based on the present value of future
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the

market rate of interest at the reporting date.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS 7 )

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A P

Geographical segment information is the Group’s sole

reporting format. In presenting information on the basis

of geographical segment, segment revenue is based on the

geographical location of customers. The Group’s assets and

liabilities are almost located in the PRC and accordingly, no

i 8 53 0 R 2 A 4 I B M — R

7 e 25

W 2 )G %2 % )5 P A M [ ) 03 o AR SR
B YR e B R R R
Bl 4 2 51 o WA E - AR MEA

[ 53 35 R - 43

analysis of segment assets, liabilities and capital expenditure B 2 o
is presented.
2007 2006
“BRLE  CEEAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRE T AR HFr
Turnover A 1,962,703 1,599,121
The PRC =]
North America b3 40,387 57,395
Europe [l 24,098 60,107
Hong Kong U 60,381 43,650
Asia Pacific (other than the PRC and Clily N7
Hong Kong) (RNELAE B B A s ) 50,334 84,653
Others HoAth 10,771 16,318
Total M5t 2,148,674 1,861,244
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i A B

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sale of aluminium profiles. Turnover represents the sales
value of goods supplied to customers. Turnover excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after allowance
for goods returned and deduction of any trade discounts. The
amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in

turnover during the year is as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(U R )

SR I A R b A B o
WA 1 & F SR Y E A E o ik
A B4 38 (6 B At 8 B
C N FRiB B K AL E 5 I 4n e
AN E R A A& R B AR
Al R

2007 2006
“ERLAE TARTINAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AN BHF oo
Manufacture and sale of aluminium A B SR T A
profiles 2,039,331 1,807,621
Manufacture and sale of aluminium A B R AR
panels, moulds and spare parts e EL K ZZ AR A 108,920 42,099
Provision of processing services AT TR 423 11,524
2,148,674 1,861,244
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS 7 )

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A P

2007 2006
- 2 2 o 2 ZETRE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Btz AR# T AR T IC
Compensation from patent BRI = HE 18
infringements i 936 3,540
Government grants BUR A R i 415 1,845
Rental income A IA
— investment property — WEYE 329 329
— others — HAth 78 56
Realised net gains/(losses) sEEATAE SR T E B
on settlement of derivative g5, (Est8) 1548
financial instruments 3,159 (2,985)
Unrealised net gains of A A T
derivative financial R 58 B A 4 15 AR
instruments 17 88 2,482
Gain on disposal of lease B TE AR B i A
prepayments 14(iv) 174,941 —
Services income generated At B SR AR
from design and installation BT A5 ARSI A
of aluminium panels 1,668 388
Others HAth 554 251
182,168 5,906
(i)  The Group received compensation from patent infringers in 0) REEE YA B E TR E
connection with certain litigations. F R HEREAE -
(i)  Government grants in form of cash subsidies were received (i) A4 V#2737 BOR 35 BUR

from several bureaux of the local government. The
entitlement of certain government grants was unconditional
and was under the discretion of the relevant bureaux.
They were granted for future development of the Group.
The entitlement of the remaining government grants was
conditional. They were granted for subsidising certain
research projects, exporting activities of the Group, and
maintaining the status of the Group’s brand name “Xingfa” as
a well-known trademark in the PRC. The relevant conditions
included, among other things, completion of research
projects, achievement of certain export amounts and keeping
the relevant trademark registered and used consecutively for
more than three years. The Group was entitled to these grants
when the respective conditions were fulfilled and approvals
were obtained from the relevant bureaux.

LA o T BUR i B <5 e A
I 1S T T 1 O {6 B L o R AR R
B HARER R 2 T o LR BUN A
ERHAGGR L EAAREEZ
AWFFEIEH - O 2EH AR A
EEIE e AR Y (s i
BRA TR o A B 0 .45 52 A F
FIHHE - A T B R R
w M A Bl T R P Sl % A o T
i = AR AE o 7% 4 [ 7 AUAE B A
1 B HRAS A B 5 5 H v A 0
A BRI
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Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI R IFSY o)

BrBiRTE A (FNER) FEA

2007 2006

—BRLE  CEEAE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANRE T AR HFC
Interest income on bank deposits SRATAE AR E A (2,435) (2,368)
Finance income upr N (2,435) (2,368)
Interest expense on bank loans SRAT B R BB 52 26,211 23,471
Net foreign exchange losses A1 Jl 48 1 AH 4,267 1,432
Finance expenses WAHS 3L i 30,478 24,903
Net finance costs A WS S T A 28,043 22,535
Salaries, wages and other benefits 4 - L& & HAAEF 41,438 31,075

Contributions to defined ) R AR AR A K

contribution retirement plan 2,041 2,047
43,479 33,122

Staff costs included directors’ remuneration (Note 9).

The employees of the Group in the PRC participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme operated by
the local government whereby the Group is required to
contribute to the scheme at a rate of 10% of the eligible
employees’ basic salary. The local government authority
is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable

to the employees.

The Group has no other obligations for payment of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits to the

employees other than the contribution described above.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting)

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 7 B 5 e A P

BrBiRTE A2 (FNER) FEA - ()

(continued):
2007 2006
“EFLE  EEAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T ANEHET T
Depreciation s
— Property, plant and equipment — Y2k - WER KM 23,872 26,868
— Investment property — HEW 94 187
Amortisation of lease prepayments T 5T FH 4 4 8 1,143 1,852
Research and development costs (iz) WFEE LA (id) 2,265 2,113
Auditors’ remuneration % BRI I 4 195 221
Cost of inventories (Z) Z’?E‘fﬁzliﬁ) 1,949,498 1,724,743
Operating lease charges: minimum  £8&f4& : HKHE
lease payments
— plants and machineries — B St 2,345 —
— properties — M 4,473 —

(i)

(ii)

Cost of inventories for the year ended 31
December 2007 includes RMB53,363,000
(2006: RMB49,962,000) relating to staff
costs, depreciation, amortisation expenses and
operating lease charges, which amount is also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed
separately above or in note 7(b) for each of these

types of expenses.

Research and development costs include staff
costs of RMB1,102,000 for the year ended 31
December 2007 (2006: RMB651,000) which

amount is also included in Note 7(b).

i) WmE_EFELHEFH
=+—HIEEE 7
B A L fE BB AR
A YT R BB B SR
B A\ R ¥ 53,363,000 7
(ZEERNFE: AR
49,962,000 7C) » B FFA
b 3T B EE 7 (b) 43 BH B
#5125 BB S AR o fF
18 RATE A S & A o

() #WmZE_FELHE+H
=+ —HIRERE > pFEE
WA % B T lA AR
1,102,000 0 (— & &
N N R 651,000
gt ) o B FF A M EE7(b)
f o
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i e B

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT)

(a) Income tax expenses/(credit) in the combined

income statement represents:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R IFSY o)

P BB 32 (4 )

(a) & Pk %s 3= A B9 BT 45 B B
5 () 45 -

2007 2006
e
RMB’000 RMB000
AR#TL AT
Current tax PP 39 B2 36
Provision for PRC income tax T [ T 15 48 A = 5,175
Provision for PRC land appreciation  H7[5] - Hb 384 (B Fd 43
tax 2,081 —
2,081 5,175
Deferred tax A% 2 Bt JH
Origination and reversal of Fifh R 22 7 e A % fEE el
temporary differences (2,818) 700
Effect of tax rate change B R ol 5 2 2 60 —
(2,758) 700
(677) 5,875

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. No
provision for Singapore Corporate Profits Tax and
Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group has
no assessable profits subject to Singapore Corporate
Profits Tax and Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year
(2006: Nil).

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI BRI 7 )

8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT)

(continued)

(a) Income tax expenses/(credit) in the combined

income statement represents: (continued)

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations
of the PRC, the PRC entities of the Group and the

Predecessor Entities are liable to PRC enterprise

income tax as follows:

Xingfa Aluminium is a wholly foreign owned
enterprise and is entitled to tax concessions
whereby the profit for the first two financial
years beginning with the first profit-making year
is exempted from income tax in the PRC and the
profit for each of the subsequent three years is
taxed at 50% of the prevailing tax rate set by the
local authority. No provision for PRC income tax
has been made during 2007 and 2006 as 2006 is

the entity’s first profic-making year.

J& PR s AL A R /A (Guangdong Xingfa
Group Co., Ltd.) is a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC. It is liable
to the PRC enterprise income tax at a rate of

33%.

i 1) B 5% SR A A IR W] (Foshan Xingfa
Aluminium Profiles Co., Ltd.) is located in
the coastal economic open zone of Foshan,
pursuant to the Income Tax Law of the PRC for
Enterprises with Foreign Investment & Foreign
Enterprises and relevant rules, the income tax

rate applicable to the entity is 27%.

J BB 2% A B %y A BR A A (Guangdong
Xingfa Innovation Co., Ltd.) is recognised as
an Advanced Technology Enterprise according
to the approval from Guangdong Provincial
Department of Science and Technology. Pursuant
to the approval of Local Tax Bureau of Foshan in
2003, income tax rate applicable to the entity is
15%.
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8.

T

4E

T

5 7 B 5 e A P

BibH %~ (35 ) (4)

& P e 2 % A Y P 45 B BA

(4% 48 (4)

R4 I BT A AR B S B4
A5 B ) o B 2 m) AT 4
JEAE T 57 A A A S BT

BLgE G E T RANE
*> THABERER B
1 48 ) 45 BE A = A AR B
ICAF T 0 4 v I BT 15
Bl HAR =& FE 5
7 W B 1 S Y H R B R
A S0% BB - B —F
TNER/ AR E MR
TER AR E > I e —
ZELER_FEANEF
wHEE B TS B -

JEE BB 4 [E A5 R
Jo AR A e I 9 R B ST Y
AR A A JH B R
33% 45 A0 T B 4 2 BT 15
ﬁ@c

b 1Ly L %5 5 TR A AT PR A
) AL % 1L T T A R
B 5 > AR b B bR
P& A 25 0 Hh B A 2 BT
5Bl i K AR B AR > 5%
N )8 T A B 2R
F527% °

JEE BB % A 8 I A A FR
4 ) I R B B Al
JEE R AT F e T BT A 2 o
R 1 1L Ti7 # J7 B S =)
TR R = AR R S
5%~ Al T A5 A Bl
R 15% o
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i e B

8.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT)

(continued)

(a)

Income tax expenses/(credit) in the combined

income statement represents: (continued)

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the
Tenth National People’s Congress passed the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “new tax law”) which
has taken effect on 1 January 2008. In December 2007,
the Implementation Rules of the Corporate Income
Tax Law of the PRC and “Guo Fa [2007] No. 39” were
promulgated to specify certain implementation details
and grandfathering arrangements of the new tax law.
As a result of the new tax law, Xingfa Aluminium is
subject to a unified tax rate of 25% and will continue
to enjoy the existing preferential tax treatment until

the end of above mentioned tax holidays.

Pursuant to the new tax law passed on 16 March 2007,
a 10% withholding tax will be levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the PRC effective
from 1 January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. On 22 February 2008, Caishui (2008) No.
1 was promulgated by the tax authorities to specify
that dividends declared and remitted out of the PRC
from the retained earnings as at 31 December 2007 are

exempted from the withholding tax.

The financial impacts due to the new tax law have

been reflected in these financial statements.

Annual Report 2007
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8.

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R IFSY o)

PR AMBLB S (HE ) (40)

a)

& P U 45 2% A HY BT 15 B B
% (%) 8 ¢ 4d)

TEELEZA+ANA > BT
2B ARMAEREE KRS
T8 el o 208 o ) A 2E T A5 B TR
(FBLE D > FBER X
JNAE— H — H AR - (P E 4
2 P AR T B A 191 ) R [ [
[2007] 565 39 %% it — & & L4
A A EL SR R A
25T B KA W 2 B o
BB L% > B R T
B— PR 250% BB > 0 & 44
EHBEARGER  HEBRK
B e 2y 1k

WRER —FZLE=H+NH
IR BB > B A B A
B TR B BRI 109 T
e R _FFNE—H—H
AR AL o fif r Y ST AP R
B R VA I 2 T A BB 0
P> ST R A B T 4 B
R R-EENF_H -+
H o B85 5 =) 2 if B4 (2008)
Frut MEMU —FFELF
ToHA=—HRREAENE
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(BN R B 7T)
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDIT)

(continued)

(a)

Income tax expenses/(credit) in the combined

income statement represents: (continued)

Pursuant to “Fo Fu Ban [2003] No. 46” and “Fo
Di Shui Fa [2003] No. 68” issued by the relevant
government authorities in Foshan, the land
appreciation tax rate applicable to the Group is 1% on
the sales proceed on disposal of land use right. Gain on
disposal of land use right, net of land appreciation tax
and surcharges, is subject to the relevant income tax

rules and regulations of the PRC as mentioned above.

Reconciliation between income tax expense

and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

5 7 B 5 e A P

8. FiiRBiBH S (IEHR) (4)

a) A BFlcas R AR T 1S BB
(3 15 ¢ (A7)

AR5 A LTI A (B8 ST A4 08 A
BT i JF 3 2003146 98 | K[ i
i B B (2003168 5 | 0 A 4L ]
JH 9 B - ol R A 2 B S P
FEENTE 19% S04k 1 s R
HH B L i R G i3S (B
b 398 (B K% B 2 ) ZE 4 b
St m B AR B T A B i 1 K
BHIBIRL o

(b) %38 R Bt R 5t 50 B 5 B
P ¢ 8L e A A

2007 2006
—ERLE ZREIRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T AR ¥TF o
Profit before income tax 5% Jir 55 1 i A 290,923 66,164
Notional tax on profit before 2 A B A 3 RE I 2 ) B
taxation, calculated at the rates w0 R AL A i A 0 44
applicable to the jurisdiction FPiIH
concerned 96,004 21,834
Effect of tax rate change o 3% e 8l 1) 5 2 60 —
Tax effect of non-deductible AST] SR BA S 0 Bl 5
expenses 1,673 1,936
Effect of tax concession TR T (99,808) (17,895)
Tax effect on land appreciation tax = Hb 38 (B A 119 A JEU S 28 (687) =
Provision for land appreciation tax 1= Mt (B B 43 it 2,081 —
Income tax (credit)/expenses RSB (FE4)  BH 52 (677) 5,875
Effect of tax concession represents the difference T JE {8 B 2 2R e A | 0 A VEE iy

between standard income tax rate and preferential
income tax rate enjoyed by the Group as set out in

Note 8(a).
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

B OF A B R 4 P
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(U R IR )
Details of directors’ remuneration of the Group are as RNEFEFEMSFEHEW R
follows:
2007
R
Salary,
allowance  Contribution
and benefits  to retirement
Fees inkind  benefit plan Bonus Total
Wi B R B A
s BH wl 31 % fE4L it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETE  ANRETHE  ANRETLE ANRETL ANRETFL
Executive directors WS
Mr Luo Su FERRSEA: - 118 - — 118
Mr Luo Riming AW — 121 7 — 128
Mr Liao Yuqing BEEEE — 121 7 — 128
Mr Wang Zhihua Eh#ELA — 52 3 20 75
Independent non- Bar AT E
executive directors
Mr Chen Mo S8 — — — — —
Mr Ho Kwan Yiu fIRZEEE — — — — —
Mr Lam Ying Hung, Andy ~ MR SEA: — — — — —
Total 5 — 412 17 20 449

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

B OF A s e 2 B
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN R B )
Details of directors’ remuneration of the Group are as RNEFEFEMESFEIEW T - (4F)
follows: (continued)
2006
%%
Salary,
allowance  Contribution
and benefits o retirement
Fees in kind benefit plan Bonus Total
Fra o B R BIRAEA
i ety AT EIfER fE4L At
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

ANBETE  ARFETT ARB¥TE AW TT AR TT

Executive directors WS

Mr Luo Su 3 St — 96 — — 96
Mr Luo Riming HWEA — 100 7 — 107
Mr Liao Yuqing B — 100 7 — 107
Mr Wang Zhihua EHEERE — 37 3 5 45
Independent non- Bar ki E

executive directors
Mr Chen Mo B ER A = = — — —
Mr Ho Kwan Yiu (DEEEirta — — - — —
Mr Lam Ying Hung, Andy ~ MR3EHESEA: — — — — —
Toral At — 333 17 5 355
XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED 115

L R SRR RN T



Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 7 B 85 i e B

An analysis of directors’ remuneration by the number of

directors and remuneration range is as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(U R IR )

i o T N B 35 B o [ 1) < 2
SRR

2007 2006
—BREE  CTEAE
Number of Number of
directors directors
HE AR H A
Nil to Hong Kong Dollars (‘HKD”) ZHITE 1,000,000 #E T
1,000,000 7 7

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note
9 during the year (2006: three). The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining two individuals

(2006: two) are as follows:

HAREHMA L =ARHEE
(ZFFTNE  =5) BEARFREW
2 1 I S A EE o 4k R (T N
M =) o BRI A e R L
(ZFFNAE - W) B & A
o

2007 2006
—BBEE  CEBARE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T AR HF T

Basic salaries, allowances and FEARF 4 > ERG S A AR R
other benefits 128 82

Contribution to retirement ABARAE R 5T # R
benefit plan 9 3
Bonus {EAL 40 30
177 120
1 16 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

o DF B 5 i R M RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI BRI 7 )
2007 2006
—BBEE B BAE
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A8
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 FWEIC R 1,000,000 HE TT 2 2

The calculation of basic earnings per share during
the year ended 31 December 2007 was based on the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
of RMB291,750,000 (2006: RMB59,377,000) and the
311,410,000 (2006: 311,410,000) shares in issue and
issuable, comprising 10,000,000 ordinary shares as at 31
December 2007, 10,000,000 ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the Reorganisation, and 291,410,000 ordinary shares
issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue as detailed in the
prospectus dated 17 March 2008 issued by the Company as
if the shares were outstanding throughout both 2006 and
2007.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for
the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007, and therefore,
diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings

per share.

BE_FZLET+_HA=1+—H
1F 4 BE Y B R R AR A TG AR i R
CEREEFELHFT A =T HAR
A ERERE A N AL B AN R
291,750,000 7T ( = FZ N 4F 0 AR
59,377,000 JC) K& B2 B4 K n] B4 T
& 311,410,000 % (— & & 5 4F ¢
311,410,000 % ) (2 4% 10,000,000
B k- ARIEEMAD BEATW
10,000,000 A% % 78 A% > M AR 8 & A
b EEAT (FEIE A A R R & )\AFE
= A& H T R ) T
291,410,000 i 3 48 B > 79 U0 5% 5
et — T TN T TR LA —
HE TR -

BE_FTEANFEL-FTLFE+Z
H=+—H 1L w4 - 3 8 8 1
S 2 e > B e A B
Jie S A AR
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

o PF B 5 i R P RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R A7)
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. T3 - BRas Bk thi
Office
Plant, Motor equipment  Construction
Buildings machinery Vehicles and others in progress Total
WA Bkl
WE R RS et FeAt EELR A5t
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ANRETFE  AREFE  AREFT  AREFT  AREFE  ARFFT
Cost: JRA
At 1 January 2000 “EENE—H—H 108,605 218,890 7,137 7,052 2,219 343,903
Additions NE 3,465 8,093 439 1,550 2,965 16,512
Disposals i — — (1,540) — — (1,540)
Transfer from construction in % A7 &JEH
progress 2,955 2,229 — — (5,184) —
At 31 December 2006 ZERNE
+ZH=1—"H 115,025 229,212 6,036 8,602 — 358,875
Accumulated depreciation: BathiE
At 1 January 2006 “EENE—H—H (46,190) (86,639) (5,465) (3,333) — (141,623)
Charge for the year KR (5,691) (19,798) (452) (927) — (26,868)
Written back on disposals HERE — — 1,463 — — 1,463
At 31 December 2006 ZEEN
+=A=+—H (51,881) (106,433) (4,454) (4,260) = (167,028)
Net book value: R T R
At 31 December 2006 CERNE
+-A=+—H 63,144 122,779 1,582 4,342 — 191,847
118 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

B OF W B e 4 B
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)
Office
Plant, Motor  equipment Construction
Buildings ~ machinery Vehicles ~ and others i progress Total
LN
By RERESG i Rt FREIH gt
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
ANREFn  ANRBEFn  ANRETn  AREFx  AREFFZ  AREFx
Cost: %
At 1 January 2007 “FFt4E-A—H 115,025 229,212 6,036 8,602 — 358,875
Additions NE 1,253 36,295 2,260 2,926 12,812 55,546
Disposals HE (661) — — — — (661)
Transfer from construction in  #{ H /£ & A H
progress — 9,563 — 49 (9,612) —
Transfer to assets held for sale  HEE ZH{EHEGE (2,281) — — — — (2,281)
Deemed disposal upon HIERE AR (553)
reorganisation (ii1) (113,336) (22,447) (4,012) (5,714) — (145,509)
At 31 December 2007 CEERLE
+ZA=+—H — 252,623 4,284 5,863 3,200 265,970
Accumulated depreciation: BEE .
At 1 January 2007 ZEREF—A—H (51,881) (106,433) (4,454) (4,260) = (167,028)
Charge for the year RS (3,247) (19,556) (383) (686) — (23,872)
Written back on disposals B 475 — — — — 475
Transfer to assets held for sale BB EH{EHEGE 453 — — = = 453
Deemed disposal upon BB AL (361)
reorganisation (iis) 54,200 2,101 2,973 3,735 — 63,009
At 31 December 2007 XA
+ZA=+—"H — (123,888) (1,864) (1,211) — (126,963)
Net book value: W A
At 31 December 2007 “EELF
TZA=1—H — 128,735 2,420 4,652 3,200 139,007

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ Bf B 5 i e Btk

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

All property, plant and equipment owned by the Group
are located in the PRC. Buildings represented medium-

term leaschold properties.

There was no property, plant and equipment pledged
as securities for bank loans as at 31 December 2007

(2006: RMB47,768,000) (Note 22(b)(i1)).

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain property,
plant and equipment with aggregate net book value
of RMB82,500,000 were retained by the Predecessor
Entities (Note 25(b)) and had been reflected as deemed
appropriation to equity holders of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2007. These property,
plant and equipment were leased to the Group under
operating leases with effective from 28 July 2007 (Note
28(a)(i1)).

Annual Report 2007
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(ii)

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UK IR )

RSO EEREN N IEE S £
LB A B o #Z AT
AP EHEYE -

WoERELES A=+ —
Ho i #&45 T % 2% #aH
K % i B K AE & SR AT
B IS R (B F N AR
A R ¥ 47,768,000 70 ) (M #F
22(b)(ii)) °

(i) RIFFEA > REFEEGIEA

# 82,500, ooomZEﬂF%% o
S &l R /N NG
25(b) R8> WF A i E
EELFE T H =+ —HIE4E
Fﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%dxﬂﬂ%%ﬁﬁ

o FLEEWEE - HEER R E
*E%E’:LEEJ:E/EHQJM\
HAEMMWKEHAHHETALE
[ (Bt it 28(a) (i) °



Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 I B 85 R A B

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RS R)
2007 2006
—gBLE  CTEIAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ T ANR¥T o
Cost: A
At 1 January —H—H 4,162 4,162
Transfer to assets held for sale RS RMERFE AR (4,162) —
At 31 December +=—HA=+—H — 4,162
Accumulated depreciation: Zohn s -
At 1 January —H—H (406) (219)
Charge for the year AR T H (94) (187)
Transfer to assets held for sale B REREE S E 500 =
At 31 December +—H=+—H — (406)
Carrying amount: MR :
At 31 December +—-HA=+—H — 3,756

A SR AR SR A AR A BB 3K o
ZEMAOML — B —EHE
BE T T A AR AR AT R R A A o T
HHAMEAFERAHE - &Y
ERN AR P HHEYE -

The Group leased out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one
to five years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases include contingent rentals. The investment property

represented medium-term leasehold properties held in the

PRC.

MZEERNET_A=+—H > %
2 BT (E BB A 4% B 2N T L
N R % 3.832,000 7T o 48 57 & Fii ff
BT I M A BR A T A S A B E
FAFABAFBNEMESEEE
AT AT 0 5 AR [ 3t 2 S P 2 A 1 -

The aggregate fair value of the investment property
as at 31 December 2006 on an open market basis was
RMB3,832,000. The valuation was carried out by an
independent firm of surveyors Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns
Limited, who have among their staff, Fellows of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the

location and category of property being valued.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED 121
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(i) Interests in leasehold land represent prepayments of

land use rights premium to the PRC authorities. The
Group’s leasehold land is located in the PRC, on which

the Group’s manufacturing plants were built. The

Group is granted land use rights for a period of 42

years to 50 years.

(i)  As at 31 December 2007, there was no land use rights
being pledged to banks for bank loans obtained (2006:

RMB74,414,000 ) (Note 22(b)(i1)).

o PF B 5 i R P RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R A7)
2007 2006
ZERELAE TARTNAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ T ANR¥T o

Cost: WA :
At 1 January —H—H 91,205 91,031
Addition NE 5,515 174
Disposal e (25,250) —
Transfer to assets held for sale SR ERRE A E (5,470) —
Deemed disposal upon Reorganisation — #1F iA 5 4HRE 4 i (66,000) —
At 31 December +—-HA=+—H — 91,205
Accumulated amortisation: ey -
At 1 January —H—H (9,721) (7,869)
Charge for the year AR ST HY (1,143) (1,852)
Disposal e 1,867 —
Transfer to assets held for sale R R R 474 —
Deemed disposal upon Reorganisation 5 {EjiA 5 4H IRF 7 i 8,523 —
At 31 December +—-H=+—H — (9,721)
Carrying amount: I T .
At 31 December +=F=+—H — 81,484

122 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, land use rights (area
of approximately 144,355 square metres) with an
aggregate carrying value of RMB57,477,000 were
retained by the Predecessor Entities and had been
reflected as deemed appropriation to equity holders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007
(Note 25(b)). These land use rights were leased to the
Group under operating leases for 29 months effective

from 28 July 2007 (Note 28(a)(ii)).

The land use rights (area of approximately 138,719
square metres) of Xingfa Aluminium with an
aggregate carrying value of RMB23,383,000 were
sold to an independent third party during the year
at a consideration of RMB208,078,000. Gain on
disposal of lease prepayments, net of business tax
and surcharges, amounting to RMB174,941,000 was

included in other net income (Note 6).

(iii)

5 I B 85 R A B

MpEA BEHESITAR
57,477,000 JC 2 - Hh fi F
(Tf & %0 144,355 °F- 77 K ) H i
BNFRE - iR E S EE
EEFTH=Z+—HILEES
FyANE T LT AN 7 e
N 3 25(b)) © %% + Ho ffi
FAERBEREMHL (B %
FTEEEH - /\HBAER
Ly B120 M08 A ) A T AR 4L H
(W7E 28(a)(ii)) °

WL % G 25 14 B Th AR (N LW
23,383,000 7C Y+ #b fii F HE
(TA1 T 49 138,719 °F- 77 K ) it #%
EoEZEFE L A=+
HIE4FE & T Mo ss = -
f& & & A K ¥208,078,000
JG o B R TE A A 4 2 0k g
(FnBs s 2E B K I n 2 ) N R
174,941,000 JC 71 A e Ath g A
FHE (it 6) »
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ Bf B 5 i e Btk

15. INCOME TAX IN THE COMBINED 15.

BALANCE SHEET

( ://‘/_’l}" )

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIS )

& OF B a5 15 R B BT A B

(a) Current taxation in the combined balance @ HHEEABEENBEY
sheet represents: PiIE 2y -
2007 2006
“ERLE ZREIRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR# T AR ¥F T
At 1 January mw—H—H 3,941 5,671
Provision for PRC income tax P T A5 50 8 A
(Note 8(a)) (B17E 8(a)) — 5,175
Provision for PRC land appreciation 1 [ - b 384 (B A 435
tax (Note 8(a)) (K7t 8(a)) 2,081 -
PRC income tax paid B A o B B A3 (1,537) (6,905)
PRC land appreciation tax paid BT [ - s (E B (2,081) —
Deemed disposal upon PR T B A0 I 43 B (B
Reorganisation (Note 25(b)) it 25(b)) (318) —
At 31 December wW+—_H=+—H 2,086 3,941

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LS G 24 FRA B )
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 B B B A
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)
15. INCOME TAX IN THE COMBINED 15. 4 0F & B B 3 W 0 P 15 B
BALANCE SHEET (continued) (3Z)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: b) CHABLHREEERA
fig -
The c?mzo.nent; of delf{.erredd btalx asset}sl/(liabil;tie}:) O T A A T S 1 R
i n e o)l e el R 0B
' EEBIR
Depreciation
charges Change in
in excess of fair value ~ Impairment
related of divertive loss on
depreciation financial bad and
allowance Tax losses instrument  doubtful debt Total
A R fiiH: &
B IHZ AR
EEM BEEE  AVEE A e 15 At
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETLE  ARETLT  AREFLT  ANREFT  ARETE
Deferred tax arising &4 B FFIHHE 24
from: HERLIA :
At 1 January 2006 RFENE
—H—H 73 — (25) 417 465
Recognised in profic A H & KR
or loss 96 — (796) — (700)
At 31 December i TR ENE
2006 +ZA=+—H 169 - (821) 417 (235)
At 1 January 2007 NZEFLE
—H—H 169 — (821) 417 (235)
Recognised in profic A H & i RA
or loss 65 1,995 758 — 2,818
Effect of tax rate R U ) 3 2
change (40) — — (20) (60)
Deem disposal upon  #{F A E 4 k¢4 it
reorganisation ([7t25())
(Note 25(b)) (194) (1,995) 63 (397) (2,523)
At 31 December R-ZTtH
2007 +ZA=+—H — — — — —

Annual Report 2007 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ Bf B 5 i e Btk

15. INCOME TAX IN THE COMBINED

BALANCE SHEET (continued)

(c) Retained earnings of the subsidiary in the

PRC

At 31 December 2007, the Group had undistributed
profits of RMB205,153,000 retained by its subsidiary

in the PRC. The Directors consider that no provision

of deferred taxation liabilities is required for these

undistributed profits as the declaration and remittance

of these retained profits out of the PRC is currently

exempted from the payment of withholding tax (Note

B.Aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfwwﬁﬁ

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UK IR )

(c) R W 25 0 4 B4 28

“EEEFE+HA=+—H>
PN | N
205,153,000 7C > H A B B JE

ATIRE

o FH % B IRE I AR B Y

I R K REE M A B 55 4 R G
AT EAOBL (At 8(a)) > TR
258w S R 4 IR ik
e R SE B & (A -

8(a)).
16. INVENTORIES 16. 78

2007 2006

ZERELE TRLNAE

RMB’000 RMB000

AR¥ETF T AREF T

Raw materials JERL R 165,773 105,828

Work in progress TS5 11,724 13,979

Finished goods R 62,128 53,349

239,625 173,156
Certain inventories with aggregate carrying value of W _EELFE+ZH=1+—H R
RMB53,773,000 were pledged as securities for bank loans of T A8 (E A N R 53,773,000 76 (%
the Group as at 31 December 2007 (2006: RMB75,578,000) EANF - AR 75,578,000 0) Z 44
(Note 22(b)(ii)). T A AR A SR B SRAT B 2

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain inventories with an

aggregate carrying value of RMB28,352,000 were retained

by the Predecessor Entities and had been reflected as deemed

appropriation to equity holders of the Company for the year

ended 31 December 2007 (Note 25(5)).

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

Annual Report 2007
074F B it 15

PR (Hff7E 22(b) (i) °

Mg EH BmAE AR
28,352,000 JC Z # T 17 B H 7 & A

ARE > R EE

2 o S

H=+— R 1L E5 B AR B F
AN T EMERE A N (B FE25(b))



(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

The Group uses commodity futures contracts to mitigate
its market risk of aluminium price fluctuation. The Group’s
policy on the mitigation of market risk of aluminium price

fluctuation is set out in Note 29(a)(i). The notional contract

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 I B 85 R A B

7SR T (8 ) v o 0 S A AR 1 1
By A T R B o A SR 1 B
U B T 35 JEL By B BB SRS RS SR
29(a) (i) © 45 €& A0 T {0 B AH B sk

value and the related terms are summarised as below: HEZE AR

2007 2006
“EELE  CEBAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ T ANR¥T o

Purchase contracts PG4
Volume (tonne) B (M) 700 3,220
Market value TH{E 12,631 66,633
Notional contract value H G HTHE 13,353 63,650
Fair value INH (722) 2,983
Contract maturity date X2 H January, January,
February, and February,
March 2008 March and
April 2007
ZERR)N\4A TARTAAE
—H->ZARk —H =)
=A = H %4

Sales contracts HEAL
Volume (tonne) B (ME) 700 320
Market value T {E 12,631 6,755
Notional contract value A F A X EE 13,441 6,254
Fair value INSE 810 (501)
Contract maturity date S #IFNHH January, January and

February, and February 2007

March 2008
ZERE)N\AE SRR
—H-~ZHAkK —HAKk=H
=H
XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED 127
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ Bf B 5 i e Btk

The market value of futures contracts is based on quoted
market price at the balance sheet date. The unrealised
holding gains/(losses) on the futures contracts remeasured at
fair value were RMB88,000 as at 31 December 2007 (2006:
RMB2,482,000) and the changes in the fair value were

recognised in the combined income statements (Note 6).

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain derivative
financial instruments with an aggregate fair value totalling
RMBI188,000 were retained by the Predecessor Entities and
had been reflected as deemed appropriation to the equity
holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2007 (Note 25(b)). The notional contract value and the
related terms of derivative financial instruments retained by

the Predecessor Entities are summarised as below:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UK IR )

W& A AT EUAE B S mEst
%; ﬁxgﬁi/tiJr A=+—

s AT EEFR RN HE AL
%“ﬁﬂ’]%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ/ ) A AR
He 88,000 TG (- EE /N4E 1 AR W
2,482,000 JC ) > T 2> - (B 5 8 it &
Pl s 2 R TERR (Mt 6) »

WEEH A FEHALEAREK
188,000 JG Z # T 117 45 4 Bt T B |
MEARMRE > TR#EE —FE L
E+ T H=+—H IL4EES A
FE 3 BT 48 25 7 B HE 5 A A (K a#
25(b)) o AT B A F AR B AT AE S
il T H 2 4 3% 4 40 T (E S OR B A5 K
iR~

RMB’000
WY i

Purchase contracts RIS 4
Volume (tonne) L (M) 3,230
Market value T (B 63,633
Notional contract value HFEA K TEE 63,445
Fair value INFE 188
Contract maturity date HHIEIHIH August,

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
B A IR AT

September and
October 2007
—EE L
AH -~ LA
S aWE!



Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

o DF A 5 i R W RE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS R)
2007 2006
SEELE RN
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ T ANR¥T o
Trade receivables A8 o E WAL Sk T 279,992 253,429
Bills receivable JE fg 2 120,049 110,955
Other receivables oAb RE IS R TE 88,259 111,156
488,300 475,540

The Group’s credit policy is set out in Note 29(b).

Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables
(net of impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts) and bills
receivable with the following aging analysis as of the balance
sheet date. The credit period ranges from 30 days to 60 days,

according to the credit history of each customer.

ARG B 2 A5 BEBOROR M RE 29(b)

REEEH - 5EA 5 K H At JE dig 3K
TE 1) 22 5 IR WAk T (17 [ 7% 35 B ek
B8 J eI R AR A &5 A H A IR S 43
Bram b o FEHBEEMEF NG
EEBME > N T30 HFEG0H -

2007 2006

—BREE  CTEAE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR ¥ T ANEHT T

Current &R 400,041 358,560

3 to 6 months past due =% Nl A — 4,189
More than 6 months but less than 12 T A 17 = ) O (= e

months past due HUPLF — 1,635

Amounts past due w478 — 5,824

At 31 December wmt+—_H=+—H 400,041 364,384

Movement in allowance for impairment in respece of trade

and other receivables are set out in Note 29(b).

Included in bills receivable are bills discounted to banks
with recourse amounted to RMB7,000,000 as at 31
December 2007 (2006: RMB8,200,000). The proceeds from
discounted bills are included in the secured bank loans as set
out in Note 22(b)(ii).

A7 B8 52 7 e I Al 88 AR VL 1Y k{9
i 5 B O B RE 29(b).

A EBELET A= —HRE
Wi 8 45 SR AT P A B R RE Y B B
= N R %7,000,000 78 (- EE N
£ N %8,200,0007T) o W H =
P A5 K E A 5 22(b) (i) A
A HEAHERAT K o

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements
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18.

19.

20.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UK IR )

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. 285 B b W e sk I (40
(continued)
Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain bills receivable WP EH EmaE ANRKE
and trade and other receivables with an aggregate carrying 244,351,000 TG Z 45 T FE W Z 2 DL K
value of RMB244,351,000 were retained by the Predecessor A2 7y R oAt JE i 2k TE i R B A ) AR
Entities and had been reflected as deemed appropriation to B e hsE —_FEXLETHA
equity holders of the Company for year ended 31 December = — H R4S 5 R 3 i T A
2007 (Note 25(b)). A R RHEREA N (% 25(b)) -
PLEDGED DEPOSITS 19. K7
Bank deposits have been pledged to bank as securities for AT RCIEM T RATIE A TR
certain banking facilities (Note 22 and 23). Pursuant to the TTE 2R (it 22 K 23) - 1RIE
Reorganisation, certain pledged deposits with an aggregate HAH > MR AR (E AR 97,268,000
carrying amount totalling RMB97,268,000 were retained by TCZ & T A F A 2 B R B 7 AR
the Predecessor Entities and had been reflected as deemed B WweR#EzE —FELE+T+_H
appropriation to equity holders of the Company for the year =1 — H 1S A HAE o T A
ended 31 December 2007 (Note 25(5)). N ERERE A N (At 25(b)) °
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. BERBRGEHEY
2007 2006
—ERRLE TARTINAE
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥ETF I AR ¥T o
Cash and bank balance 4 MR AT &5 R 146,411 56,088

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain cash and cash
equivalents with an aggregate carrying amount totalling
RMB21,874,000 were retained by the Predecessor Entities
and had been reflected as deemed appropriation to equity
holders of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2007 (Note 25(b)).

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB are
deposited with several state-controlled banks in the PRC
in the ordinary course of business. RMB is not a freely
convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange restriction imposed by the

PRC government.

Annual Report 2007
20074F B 1

Wy EH, RmAEANREK
21,874,000 JC 2 # T Bl & L B 4 5%
EYHATSAFRRE > WA=
SEEEEF A=t HIEFEE
G B A 23 BT 45 8 A I RERE B A
(M7t 25(b)) -

HEEREED > UANRWFEBD
HeEkBes¥EYHEATRZRE
BEARAT - NRBER AT B i Stk
B W o T A e o B I AP R
ST HR BB 9 S MEBR ] -



Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

As part of the Reorganisation, the Group has reviewed the
operating structure of the Group and has concluded to sell
certain lease prepayments, property, plant and equipment
and investment property which are believed that they would
not contribute significant financial effect to the Group in

the future.

Efforts to sell these assets have commenced in early 2007.
Pursuant to two conditional sale and purchase agreements
entered into between the Group and a related party on 12
October 2007 and 6 December 2007, the Group agreed
to dispose of the above assets to the related party at an
aggregate consideration of RMB23,000,000 (Noze 28(b)(vi)).
The agreements are conditional and are subject to the
completion of transferring of the title deeds of the above
assets. The directors consider that the transactions could be
completed before June 2008. The rental income generated
from the investment property were RMB329,000 for the
years ended 31 December 2007. (2006: RMB329,000)

5 I B 85 R A B

MIETEMA > ARECHREER
o R E M E RS HIRA G H A
S5 WA B K B B T TR AR
& W AR G A BB Y -

W EE-EEYE IR EC e
SR E o MR AR [ B — 4 B A
TR EZEESA A A E
FH4E+ = A N B ET R W IE A
e E R > AEEUAREAR
23,000,000 JC [ 3% B # A+ M &
& Wl B (M AL 28(b)(vi)) o 75 T
ik JE i o€ B L it 7 Y I A A
BPEBR T EE - EERBHELERL
S W & )NAE N H RTSE Y o %
E_ZELE+TL_A=Z+—HIL4E
EHREYWEREHSRA L AR
329,000 G (ZFE R4+ AR
329,000 JC) ©

31 December

2007

—E L

+oH= R

RMB’000

ARETF

Lease prepayments (Note 14) TEAT R (Bt 7 14) 4,996
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) Wit ~ WE MR (M aE 12) 1,828
Investment property (Note 13) YeEYZE (Mt 13) 3,662
Total L 10,486

At 31 December 2007, certain property and investment
property of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of
RMB5,490,000 did not have title certificates.

MNoEZELETF A=+ —H &
45 3] JE 1 4408 A A\ R 55,490,000 TG
[ T 2 e 5 iy 2E N0 e SERE S o

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

B OF B 1 4 B
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R A7)
22. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 22. #TEX
(a) Loans and borrowings were repayable as (a) SRITERBBBWT :
follows:
2007 2006
—BREE  CTEAE
RMB’000 RMB000
ANR¥ T AR WHF oo
Bank loans SRATEK
— repayable within one year — JHIN—ENE R 297,000 406,700
— repayable after one year but — IR FRE WA
within two years A& 18 40,000 —
— repayable after two years but — ZRR W AR AR H LA
within five years A fE 40,000 —
377,000 406,700
Less: loans and borrowings repayable i - B 26 i B £ 15 H.
within one year classified as JHR — N E R
current liabilities WATHNK (297,000) (406,700)
80,000 —
132 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 I B 85 R A B

2007 2006
—ERFLE ZEETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARH T ARHT T
Secured bank loans: AR RATEK
— Fixed interest rate ranging from — [& & AR A
5.31%-6.75% per annum 5.31% £ 6.75% 102,000 195,200
— Fixed interest rate at 6.75% per — AR [ A %
annum for the first year. Variable 6.75% » HAZ 4R
interest rate at prevailing market e IR T 45 0] 2R e
interest rate for the remaining FE 2 VT B AR
T 95,000 =
Unsecured bank loans: AL SRAT X
— Fixed interest rate ranging from — [ & A A A T
5.31%-7.25% per annum 5.31% %£.7.25% 100,000 161,500
— Variable interest rate at prevailing — & 5147 i 5 F| Z Ji
market interest rate FE Z T B F| 5 80,000 50,000
377,000 406,700

(i)  Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Predecessor
Entities have obtained the consents of relevant
banks to transfer the operations of Aluminium
Profile Business together with the selected assets
and liabilities to the subsidiaries now comprising
the Group. Pursuant to the relevant PRC Laws,
bank borrowings totaling RMB212,500,000
would not be included in the liabilities assumed
by the subsidiaries now comprising the Group
after the Reorganisation and were retained by
the Predecessor Entities. They had been reflected
as deemed appropriation to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2007

(Note 25(b)).

() ARIFEA > BTSN A
3 AH B SR AT IR 2% > K 4R
R SEHS DA KA € E
e B i T T A 4 |
T B JE S T o AR BE AH BE
MR A, A AR
212,500,000 [ R
THEEANGFAREARE
2 45 [ LR Bt N W BT
AR BAE - N AT B
INFEREE o AR AT 5
BEREE FTLE
T ZH =+ —HIEFE
G By A5 AE o B T (M A
25(b)) ©

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ Bf B 5 i e Btk

(ii) The secured bank loans were secured by the

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UK IR )

(i) MREHEH - HHIMRT

following assets of the Group as at the balance B LA F LN
sheet date. TEHEH -
2007 2006
ZERELAE TN
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ T ANR¥T o
Carrying value of assets: EREMREE
Lease prepayments (Note 14) TEAS AL 4 (M 7F 14) — 74,414
Property, plant and equipment Y3 ~ #ésw KA (K
(Note 12) iF12) — 47,768
Inventories (Note 16) T8 (M 16) 53,773 75,578
Bills receivable (Note 18) TE S ZE 98 (Mt 18) 7,000 8,200
Total M5t 60,773 205,960

Bank loans amounted to RMB190,000,000
as at 31 December 2007 were also secured by
certain property, plant and equipments and lease
prepayments of a related party with carrying
value of RMB153,370,000 (Note 28(b)(v)).

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
LB S SE R TR PR A F

W EE L+
A=+ —H AR¥
190,000,000 JC [ $f 17 £
K BNt DABR T
g3 Hil N B ¥ 153,370,000
T T R &
B B T A5F FH 4 A S
([17E 28(b)(v)) °



Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LA R IES )

(i1i) Certain bank loans amounted to RMB370,000,000

(iv)

v)

(2006: RMB310,500,000) were guaranteed
by certain related parties as disclosed in Note

28(b) (iv).

Among the guaranteed bank loans, bank
loans amounted to RMB15,000,000 were also
guaranteed by a third party as at 31 December
2006.

All of the bank loans are denominated in RMB.

The Group has total banking facilities amounted
to RMB763,000,000 as at 31 December 2007
(2006: RMB798,000,000) which were utilised
to the extent of RMB438,175,000 (2006:
RMB549,076,000).

5 I B 85 R A B

Gii) ® 40 B EE28(b)(iv) Y
PR AN R
370,000,000 JG ( ~ &N
0 N R 310,500,000
JG) M T ERAT B 2
T BRI T ER o

W EENAET A
=+—H  GEHEET
FacH AR 15,000,000
JG 18R AT B 3RS 1l 2R =
TR o

(iv) FT A SRAT B DL Rt
{5 o

v) AEER -EFZFLF+ A
=T — HIEFRITEEAE
A K #763,000,0007C (- &
TN N R ¥798,000,000
Jt) » Hoe AR # 438,175,000
T EENE: AR B
549,076,000 7C) ESE F ©

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

3 DF 0 5 ik 3 B
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LU R A )
2007 2006
“FFLE = A%
RMB’000 RMB000
ANR¥E T AR T
Trade payables 5 EAT 3K T 53,578 142,689
Bills payable JEA S48 100,197 267,200
Other payables and accruals HAth A 2 TE K E T 90,744 113,313
Deferred income PEGE T A 804 4,085
245,323 527,287

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables and
bills payable with the following aging analysis as of the
balance sheet date. The credit period granted by various

suppliers ranges from 30 days to 60 days.

REEEH - 5EA S5 K HAth A 3K
TH 75 AN BR % 43 M7 19 22 5 JE A5 K T

T AT SR o AR L R 4% T 1
FHREHANF30 HE G0 H -

2007 2006

N

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR ¥ T NER BT T

Due within 1 month or on demand — 1 A A3 B R i 21,239 137,605
Due after 1 month but within 3 — A & AE =48 A A3

months 76,536 123,334
Due after 3 months but within 6 =X (DR T EvaY (DR E il

months 56,000 148,950

153,775 409,889

(i)  Bills payable as at 31 December 2006 and 2007 were (i) MR EESNER L

secured by pledged bank deposits in Note 19.

(i) Deferred income consists of deferred government
grants. The grants from local government were
conditional and the conditions would be fulfilled upon
the completion of several research projects and the
approval obtained from the relevant authorities. These
grants will be recognised as other income when the

conditions are fulfilled.

136 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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TH=1+—H" mﬁm%u
B 5E 19 4 B 1 A7 K 0 SR AT AF
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I

(i) 2 S W A 5 A0 A BT A B
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

(iii)

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Predecessor
Entities have obtained the consents of relevant
banks and creditors to transfer the operations of
Aluminium Profile Business together with the
selected assets and liabilities to the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group. Pursuant to the relevant PRC
Laws, bills payable and amounts due to creditors of
RMB182,000,000 and RMB142,640,000 respectively
would not be included in the liabilities assumed by
the subsidiaries now comprising the Group after the
Reorganisation and were retained by the Predecessor
Entities. They had been reflected as deemed
appropriation to equity holders of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2007 (Note 25(54)).

For the purpose of these financial statements, the paid-

in capital in the combined balance sheet was presented as

follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 1 January 2006, the paid-in capital represented
an aggregate amount of paid-in capital of Predecessor
Entities, after elimination of investments in

subsidiaries.

Xingfa SG was incorporated on 3 April 2006 and
became the holding company of the subsidiaries now
comprising the Group. The paid-in capital as at 31
December 2006 represented the aggregate amounts of
paid-in capital of Xingfa SG and Xingfa Group, after

elimination of investments in subsidiaries.

The paid-in capital as at 31 December 2007
represented the aggregate amounts of paid-in capital of

the Company and Xingfa SG.

(iii)

5 I S 85 R A B

WEEA oS A" CER
FHEASRAT A RE N R 3 > %
S 7R BF SETE AN 48 E A K B
e T B R A A TR 1 A
OS] o AR PEAH B R B A ) o
AT S4B R AN G N S 43 Tl
£ N R 182,000,000 C K A
R 142,640,000 7C > ¥ A &
AR B AR BN A 4 [ N
B A B 2 ] BT AR A 1 B i >
M AT B AR EE o RE R AT R
R EMHIEERERE FF
LEFTZH=Z+—HIL4ERES
By BT AN 7 e HE R
N o (Bt 25())

A R BB R A AR OR B
EERERANE A RS W

o

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

WEREAEF A=
I OB 55 2R
A T T S5 28 7) EEAB A
il

"D_l -

13

o

R

’ >

P

BlLEESGA ZFF N H =
H 55 ik A% S7 S B 2 AR 5 15 B 1g
TN B N ) 2 HERE N W o
ZEENFELTZH=FT—H>
BHORA S B BRI A
G B EE SG M B R 8L 9% B
B IBEAS B o

R EREET A=
H Z BB AR A A 7] L B g%
SG B A M5 -
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£ Bf B 5 i 2 Bk

(iv)

The share capital of Xingfa SG as at 31 December
2007 consisted of 1,000 ordinary shares. The ordinary
shares were paid up in either cash or capitalisation of
amount due to the Controlling Sharcholders detailed
as follows:

(a) On 3 April 2006, Xingfa SG was incorporated in
Singapore. On the same day, 3 shares of Xingfa
SG were issued and allotted to the Controlling
Shareholders in consideration of cash of
Singapore Dollars (“SGD”) 3.00 (equivalent to
approximately RMB14.00).

(b)  Pursuant to sharcholders’ resolution of Xingfa SG
on 31 December 2006, 712 new shares of Xingfa
SG were issued and allotted to the Controlling
Shareholders in consideration of capitalisation of
the amounts due to the Controlling Shareholders
of RMB150,000,000.

(c) Pursuant to shareholders’ resolution of Xingfa
SG on 31 July 2007, 71 new shares of Xingfa
SG were issued and allotted to the Controlling
Shareholders in consideration of capitalisation of
the amounts due to the Controlling Shareholders
of RMBI15,116,000.

(d)  Pursuant to shareholders’ resolution of Xingfa SG
on 30 November 2007, 214 new shares of Xingfa
SG were issued and allotted to the Controlling
Shareholders in consideration of capitalisation of
the amounts due to the Controlling Shareholders
of RMB44,884,000.

The Company was incorporated on 13 September
2007 with an authorised capital of HKD100,000
divided into 10,000,000 shares of HKDO0.01 each and
10,000,000 nil-paid shares were issued thereafter.
At 31 December 2007, 10,000,000 nil-paid shares
were held by the Controlling Shareholders. After the
completion of the Reorganisation on 29 February
2008, the paid-up capital of Xingfa SG was transferred
from the Controlling Shareholders to the Company.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

PRC statutory reserves were established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the
articles of association of the Predecessor Entities
and the subsidiary which are incorporated in the
PRC. Transfers to the reserves were approved by the

respective boards of directors.

(i)  Statutory surplus reserves

Predecessor Entities which are domestic
companies with limited liabilities in the PRC
are required to transfer 10% of their net profits,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of the registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of
a dividend to equity holders. Statutory surplus
reserve can be used to make good previous year’s
losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-
up capital by issuing additional capital to the
equity holders in proportion to their existing
equity interests, provided that the balance after
such conversion is not less than 25% of their

registered capital.
(ii) Statutory public welfare fund

Prior to 1 January 2006, the Predecessor Entities
which are domestic companies with limited
liabilities in the PRC are required to appropriate
5% to 10% of their net profits, as determined
in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations, to the statutory public welfare
fund. This fund can only be utilised on capital
items for the collective benefit of the employees
of the Predecessor Entities. The fund is non-
distributable other than on liquidation. The
transfer to this fund must be made before

distribution of a dividend to equity holders.

5 I S 85 R A B
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109% 18 4% 2 ¥k 7E B % fk
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2 0 BBk i A R AR 3K
8 8 A 4F B s 18 (4
A) o AT EE [ AR A
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2 o0 T AR B o e
1% R B 15 D 7 g i
EARZ 25% °

(ii) L w

CZRENE—H—HHT
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(i7)

(iii)

Statutory public welfare fund (continued)

Pursuant to the revised PRC Company Law, the
Predecessor Entities are no longer required by
law to make profit appropriations to the statutory
public welfare fund commencing from 1 January
2006. The balance of the statutory public welfare
fund as at 31 December 2005 of RMBS§,219,000
was transferred to the statutory surplus reserve
on 1 January 2006.

Statutory general reserve

Foshan Xingfa and Xingfa Aluminium, which
are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC,
are required to transfer at least 10% of their net
profit, as determined under the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to statutory general reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to equity holders. Statutory general reserve can
be used to make good previous years’ losses, if
any, and may be converted into paid-up capital
by issuing additional capital to the equity holders
in proportion to their existing equity interests
provided that the balance after such issue is not

less than 25% of the registered capital.

The deemed appropriation represented the following

assets and liabilities retained by the Predecessor

Entities during the Reorganisation and reflected in the

combined statement of changes in equity for the year
ended 31 December 2007.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

(b)

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

o DF BA 5 i R W R E
25. RESERVES (continued) 25 ﬁﬁﬁ-ﬁ (#5)
Reorganisation (continued) (b) A (#)
Note RMB’ 000
Kt 7t NRHTFIC
Assets &R
Property, plant and equipment Y2~ v S 12(iii) 82,500
Lease prepayments TAA R 4 14(iii) 57,477
Deferred tax assets % A A E 15(b) 2,523
Inventories bty 16 28,352
Derivative financial instruments A4 T H 17 188
Trade and other receivables 22 5 B HoAth JRE S ZRIE 18 244,351
Amounts due from related parties R i B 2 T i T 28(c) 172,831
Pledged deposits H A 19 97,268
Cash and cash equivalents HE KB &%EEY 20 21,874
707,364
Liabilities i
Loans and borrowings SRATE K 22(b)(i) (212,500)
Trade and other payables A2 5 B Fo A FE A 3K IE 23(iii) (324,640)
Amounts due to related parties JREAS B8 8 Ty K I 28(c) (20,355)
Current tax payables JREAS B 44 5 1 15(a) (318)
(557,813)
Net assets B FE 149,551
Distributable reserves (c) WIE43 Uk ff fhi

(c)

There was no reserve available for distribution to

equity holders by the Company as at 31 December

2007. On the basis set out in Note 1 (c), the aggregate

amount of distributable reserves of the subsidiaries

now comprising the Group as at 31 December 2007
were RMB177,448,000 (2006: RMB60,915,000). The

Group’s capital management policy is set out in Note

29(d).

Annual Report 2007

20074F Bt

W _FEELFET H =1 —
H > A4S w36 48 vl 53R T ik
REREA NI A - AR9E b S
FE 1 (c) bl B E 5 AL [ B Iy
JERNAFR S EELFET A
=+ — H i ] {43 UK i fh 48
B N R 177,448,000 76 (—
TR NR 60,915,000
JG) o AL [E Y G AR IR EUR
HOR Bt EE 29(d) °
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Pursuant to the resolutions passed at the Board of
Directors’ meetings of Xingfa SG on 13 December
2007 and 24 December 2007, interim dividends at an
aggregate amount of RMB118,961,000 were declared
by Xingfa SG to the then equity holders. The amounts
declared were fully paid in December 2007. The
directors consider that the dividend payment during
the year is not indicative of the future dividend policy

of the Company.

Except for the above, no dividends have been declared
and paid by the subsidiaries now comprising the Group
and the Predecessor Entities during the year or from
the period after 31 December 2007 to the date of issue

of these financial statements.

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

Wgh —FELFE+ A+ =
HE-ZEZZELF+H =+
H B % SG o & a4 0 1Y
PR 2 > BLEESG M IR A
F5E NE IR HARE S N R
118,961,000 JG ° JIr ‘& K X IH
ERFELFE T AAE -
R AN AR A I R A3 R
I A H) H & R BUR 948

'

B b 41 - AR B WO
2 T BT B2 R AR A R 5
—EELEFASt—A%
2R BEFE IR F 00 0
IR IR R -

RS E > TR S ORI M

not provided for in the financial statements were as

Eolllavss B AR BAT EARMEM T
2007 2006
“FFLEF “ETNE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR¥TIC AR T T
Property, plant and equipment Y ERR Y G ]
— Contracted for but not — CATAUE R A
provided for 40,883 812
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

At 31 December 2006 and 2007, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases are payable as follows:

5 I S 5 R A B

H=+—H > &REHERE
IR & R giiko) IRE N

AR AT
2007 2006
ZFFLE “ETAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR¥TIC AR T T
Within 1 year — AR 4,355 =

The significant leasing arrangements under operating
leases of the Group are set out in Note 28(a)(ii).
The leasing arrangements are cancellable upon a 3
months’ notice from the Group. Hence, operating lease
commitments represent the aggregate amount of 3

months’ rental expenses.

As at 31 December 2007, the Group has issued financial
guarantees with an aggregate amount of RMB48,000,000 to
several banks in respect of certain banking facilities granted

to the Predecessor Entities. The guarantees will expire in
2009.

The Group is also covered by a cross guarantee arrangement
issued by the Group and the Predecessor Entities to a bank
in respect of banking facilities granted to the Group and the
Predecessor Entities which remains in force so long as the
Group or the Predecessor Entities has drawn down under
the banking facilities. Under the guarantee, the Group and
the Predecessor Entities that are a party to the guarantee are
jointly and severally liable for all and any of the borrowings
of each of them from the bank which is the beneficiary of
the guarantee.

The directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be
made against the Group under any of the above guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Group at 31 December 2007
under the guarantees issued was RMB38,000,000 (2006:
Nil) (Note 28(b) (iv)).

AL B A T R R E A
B 2 Pk R B 5E 28(a) (i) © FHL
B PRl i A S = A
AT HGH o UL > 8L
AR % =R A BOFL & B S A
%E o

MRE-EBEELFFHA=+—H » &
42 [ B 5k AT B A F R A TR AT
G B 2 RERAT 8 B3R o N R
48,000,000 JG 119 B 5 5 £ - 5% 5 f7
A BB SLAEFH o

AR I 25y 74 5 ) T B ) A
BT 52 8RAT {5 45 140 BRAT % ) 1 A
B IR L PRI ZYERA > AL E K
BT 5 2> A AR 9% SRAT A5 B SO
RO — H ARk o REEZIRSER >
A28 ] i B o m AR By U AR AT A0 05
FEE LAl & A AR sRAT R I
P BAT AT AR EE > M SRAT R IR 2
At N o

550 S R 4 [ S K FT RE BRAT T |
MAELR AR R R R EE
EHEFZHA=+—H » REFRE
CEHEANEE RS AR
38,000,000 JC ( L E NAE ¢ AE) (Ff
it 28(b)(iv)) °
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In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered

into the following material related party transactions.
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the directors

are of the view that related parties of the Group include the

following individuals/companies:

Name of related party

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

IR A B 25 5 T 48 R 1) R 2R D7 A > AR
EETVERT U T ERBE LS -

RREFZLE+ A=+ B ILE
B EERAUT AL/ AT AALH

B# T

Relationship with the Group

[oH 32K D LA 42 1 ] 1%
Luo Su Controlling Shareholder
AR PERERROR
Luo Riming Controlling Shareholder
 H W] PEREIEOR
Liao Yuqing Controlling Shareholder
ZES FEREIRR
Liu Yuntang Key management personnel
g2 e INY
Chen Hongzai Key management personnel
PR L FTEEMAR
Hong Fat Effectively owned by the

Controlling Shareholders
fa 5% R PR PR SRR R R

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

Name of related party

R 328y 44 1

5 I S 85 R A B

Relationship with the Group
S A 45 ) B 1%

Foshan Leahin Coating Co., Ltd. (“Leahin Coating”)
(B Ll S7 B R FRA ) (2)

il 1Ly 57 LR BR S R ([ Sr BLER R ) ()

Foshan Xinggao Aluminium Co., Ltd. (“Xinggao Aluminium”)
LT B e S A BR AT (5)

i L T B SR A R A ([ B S8R 2E D) ()

Foshan Xinghui Ceramics Co., Ltd. (“Foshan Xinghui”)
(B Ly T AR B S A PR A W ) (2)

Al L o B o s A BR 2 ) ([ Ly B 1) ()

Foshan Xingfa Curtain Wall, Door & Window Co., Ltd.
(“Xingfa Curtain Wall”) (i 11 iy BLEE 55565 P9 % A FRAF]) (3)

iy L T BB e P A PR ) (BB s ) (o)

Xingfa Group (%)

JoE RO % (i)

Xingfa Innovation (7)
SELEEAHT (ii)

(i)  The English translation of the company names is for
reference only. The official names of these companies

are in Chinese.

(i) Following the consummation of the transfer of
operations of Aluminium Profiles Business from the
Predecessor Entities to the subsidiaries now comprising
the Group on 28 July 2007, these Predecessor Entities
have become related parties of the Group from that

date.

Effectively owned by the
Controlling Shareholders

H P RE R B R
Effectively owned by the
Controlling Shareholders

M RE O B R
Effectively owned by the
Controlling Shareholders

H P RE R B R
Effectively owned by the
Controlling Shareholders

P RE R B R
Effectively owned by the
Controlling Shareholders

M RE R B R
Effectively owned by the
Controlling Shareholders

R PR PR ST R AT

() ZHENARECELEMgS
% o R AR IEX ST A
AR

() MFEZELHFEELA=1+/NAH:-
I B 2 A ] A 4 [ B R
RFF Ja 2 ) sl 405 TR b S S 5 A
1% > 2SR SN F B E H AR
By AR SEE 2 By
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Particulars of significant transactions between the

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

75 [ S 2t B 4 5 A A A

Group and the above related parties during the years TR ERZGFHHEWNT
are as follows:
2007 2006
“ERRLAE A
RMB’000 RMB000
AR T A BT oC
(i)  Sales and purchases Q) HE
Sales of goods FHE T
Hang Fat VERS 3 88,638 39,656
Xingfa Curtain Wall L % 2% 14,408 3,172
Total F 103,046 42,828
Purchases of raw materials it IR R
Hang Fat 15%% 36,769 99,079
Leahin Coating Al iy 13,631 16,888
Xingfa Group JE R B % 8,946 —
Xingfa Innovation L %% Al Hr 18,165 —
Total st 77,511 115,967

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI R IEZoR)

(ii) Operating lease arrangements

On 28 July 2007, the Group has entered into
certain lease agreements with Xingfa Group
and Xingfa Innovation respectively in respect
of leasing of certain land use rights, building
and machineries from them under operating
leases. All leases run for a period from 28 July
2007 to 31 December 2009, with options to
renew the leases when all terms are renegotiated.
Aggregate annual lease payment payable to
Xingfa Group and Xingfa Innovation amounted
to RMB9,173,000 and RMB2,961,000

respectively. The leasing arrangements are
cancellable upon a 3 months’ notice from the
Group. None of the leases includes contingent

rentals.

On 31 August 2007, the Group has entered into
certain operating lease agreements with Xinggao
Aluminium in respect of leasing of certain
land use rights, buildings and machineries
for an aggregate annual lease payment of
RMB5,285,000. All leases run for a period
from 31 August 2007 to 31 December 2009,
with options to renew the leases when all terms
are renegotiated. The leasing arrangements are
cancellable upon a 3 months’ notice from the
Group. None of the leases includes contingent

rentals.

(ii)

5 I S 85 R A B

HE L

SEZFLEFE LA A
H > 2 42 [ 43 il B Ji SR
L% e BLEE A B R LA
B AR 98 R AL & 1) 5% 5
o ) FlLF #5 F  HfE
BE - EFE RSN T
HEWw TAEMAE
MM —FELELA
AR E EENE
+oHA=+—H > \EH
T B BT A % kA% T R g
AEAH o M AT R BB EE I
L 2% 81 19 4F B A B K
HMES B ANRE
9,173,000 7C K A R #
2,961,000 JG ° 7 4 [ 7]
A = A A I A 0 E
TH T % Pk - A
RS o

W EE L AE A
= —H > 74 B
R ERT L A T A
%> TR AT - Al
& E Y|
AR Ty N R %5,285,000
gt o MM A EBE LA
NA=Z+—HZE _FZE
E+—A=+—HK
FEL %0 25 ] i 1% v A A5 A5
AR A o A8 42 B ] ik
=i A A A
L 42 Bk o LAY A B
FEER 4 -
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Recurring transactions (continued)
(ii) Operating lease arrangements (continued)

The annual lease payments of the above lease
transactions were determined with reference
to the market annual rental for similar
arrangements provided by Jones Lang LaSalle

Sallmanns Limited.

The directors are of the opinion that the above
transactions with related parties were conducted on
normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of
business and the terms are fair and reasonable so far as

the shareholders of the Company are concerned.

(b) Non-recurring transactions

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

(ii) BEHELZH

FA AR 5 2 A A
& )12 % it B W4T T M
AR FEBEOZHET
A T 35 AL o

EHER S > L BB IETIN LS TS
H H S Hs HP 1 — B SE IR OEAT - Pk
AR TR F-EH -

il

(b) FHFHERZH

(i) Sales of goods (i) HELY
2007 2006
SEELE  CEBEAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T ANEHT T
Xinggao Aluminium L = 4 2 2,219 1,098
XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS R )
(ii)) Rental income (i) HELHA
2007 2006
—ERLE ZRERIRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T AR T
Leahin Coating S7 B R 160 160
Xingfa Curtain Wall ] 2% 2 i 169 169
Total by 329 329
(iii) Short-term advances to/(from) related parties (iii) [ Ty H 8 /() 1
Vil T
2007 2006
SEELE BB
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ET T AR ¥T o
Xinggao Aluminium Bl = 4R 2 24,700 55,764
Foshan Xinghui ity 11 Bl 6,000 70,600
Xingfa Group J oL RE 17,424 —
Total a5t 48,124 126,364
Xingfa Curtain Wall L% 2 (9,000) =
Xingfa Group B o B % (5,368) —
Hang Fat 18 %% (197) (550)
Total At (14,565) (550)

Advances to/(from) related parties are unsecured,

BREE 7 HE A/ (BRI At BAGEK ST - R

interest free and have no fixed terms of SUER AR T

repayment.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED 149
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R EA )
28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. H KBTS (41)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Non-recurring transactions (continued) (b) FERHERZ (4
(iv) Financial guarantees (iv) HMHER
Certain bank loans were guaranteed by the REERR > HTHRITE
following related parties as at the balance sheet A R ISR -
date.
2007 2006
—BREE  CTEAE
RMB’000 RMB000
ANR¥ T NERWHF oo
Luo Su HREAR — 50,000
Luo Su, Luo Riming, Chen FREMR - AR H B BRI
Hongzai, and Liao Yuging K B R — 163,000
HERR A H B~ PR
Luo Su, Luo Riming, Chen H-BEEELEBA
Hongzai, Liao Yuqing and 4
Liu Yuntang — 15,000
Foshan Xinghui il 11 B — 5,000
Foshan Xinghui, Luo Su, Luo i 11 BELORE - ZE K - AR
Riming, Chen Hongzai and H OB~ bR e B
Liao Yuqing & B — 7,500
Leahin Coating, Foshan SF B R~ 1) B
Xinghui, Xinggao (S0
Aluminium, Luo Su, Chen BRUE -~ & H B &
Hongzai, Luo Riming and B E
Liao Yuqing — 70,000
150 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

(iv) Financial guarantees (continued)

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

5 I S 5 R A B

(iv) HMBER )

2007 2006
2 2 S ZEENGE
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥E T AR BT
Xingfa Group, Leahin Coating, —J& FUBL#E ~ 7L AR} -
Foshan Xinghui, Xinggao o 11 SR ~ L 40
Aluminium, Luo Su, Chen ¥ BRER - BRULE
Hongzai, Luo Riming and Liao A H B BB
Yuqing 190,000 —
Xingfa Group, Luo Su, Chen JRE RS - ERAR - B
Hongzai, Luo Riming and Liao HEFT - REH B
Yuqing TR
30,000 —
Xingfa Group, Foshan Xinghui, & HUBL#E - f# 1) Bk -
Xinggao Aluminium, Luo Su, BLS R 2 - RER -
Chen Hongzai, Luo Riming BRULT - &8 H B )
and Liao Yuqing B
70,000
Xingfa Group, Foshan Xinghui, & HUBLEE - f# 1) B -
Luo Su, Luo Riming, Chen AR BEHW - PR
Hongzai and Liao Yuqing PR I B R B
50,000 —
Xingfa Group, Xingfa RS - BLEEAIHT -
Innovation, Foshan Xinghui, il L B - FEAR
Luo Su, Luo Riming and Liao S H R & B E B
Yuqing 30,000 —
Total st 370,000 310,500

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Financial guarantees (continued)

The Group issued financial guarantees to banks
in respect of certain banking facilities amounted
to RMB48,000,000 to Xingfa Group as at 31
December 2007 (2006: Nil). Such guarantees
were utilised to the extent of RMB38,000,000 as
at 31 December 2007 (Note 27).

Bank loans secured by assets of a Predecessor
Entity

Certain bank loans amounted to RMB 190,000,000
as at 31 December 2007 were secured by certain
property, plant and equipments and lease
prepayments of a Predecessor Entity with aggregate
carrying values of RMB 153,370,000 (2006: Nil).

Disposal of assets to Xingfa Curtain Wall

Pursuant to two conditional sale and purchase
agreements entered into between the Group and
Xingfa Curtain Wall on 12 October 2007 and 6
December 2007, the Group agreed to dispose of
certain lease prepayments, property, plant and
equipment and investment property to Xingfa
Curtain Wall at an aggregate consideration of
RMB23,000,000 (Note 21). The agreements are
conditional and are subject to the completion of
transferring of the title deeds of these assets.

The directors are of the opinion that the above
transactions with related parties were conducted
on normal commercial terms in the ordinary
course of business and the terms are fair and
reasonable so far as the equity holders of the
Company are concerned.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RS R )
28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. H KBTS (41)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) il B 2 Jy W 45 i
As at each balance sheet date, the Group had the BERHERE » A4 B HEHE
following balances with related parties: THIFERIT
(i) Trade and other receivables (i) K5 RHE MBI
2007 2006
SEELE SRR
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥ETF T AR ¥T o
Trade related Bl 5 47 B
Hang Fat LER::3 6,265 31,379
Subtotal /NEE 6,265 31,379
Non-trade related LIRS 7 A
Xinggao Aluminium L 4 2 — 57,252
Foshan Xinghui HIES — 113,534
Leahin Coating A7 B R — 145
Xingfa Innovation L% )8 189 -
Xingfa Group B R B % 4,656 —
Subtotal /NG 4,845 170,931
Total At 11,110 202,310
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28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (continued)

(ii) Trade and other payables

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

28. HKBE G R G (45)

(c) BT W45 8% (4%)

(i) R RHAMHE

2007 2006
—ERLE ZRERIRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T AR ¥TF o
Trade related Bl 5 47 B

Leahin Coating BYALCIRZSg S8 3,138 5,552
Subtotal INEE 3,138 5,552

Non-trade related LIS 7 A
Hang Fat IER:3 747 550
Xingfa Curtain Wall Bl T e 700 18
Subtotal /NEtE 1,447 568
Toral i 4,585 6,120

The amounts due from/(to) related parties are
unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms

of repayment.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, certain amount
due from/(to) related parties with an aggregate
carrying amount totalling RMB172,831,000
and RMB20,355,000 were retained by the
Predecessor Entities and had been reflected as
deemed appropriation to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2007
(Note 25(b)).

154 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2007
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Key management personnel compensation

Remuneration for key management personnel,

including the amounts paid to the Group’s directors

5 I S 5 R A B

28. ERKBE ARG (4
d) FEEHABME

X 38 UN=Pd. EACIT ]
it 9 B B E 10 73 Fll B 45 3 S A

as disclosed in Note 9 and the senior management as TAEEERELEREMNE
disclosed in Note 10, is as follows: 44 IR
2007 2006
SEBLE BB
RMB’000 RMB000
AR¥ETF T AR ¥T o
Short-term employee benefits 5E 118 B AR A 705 506
Contribution to retirement benefit
plan B RAR AT E R 3 31 28
Total Bl =t 736 534
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (Note G HEFIALB TR | (ff
7(b)). 53?7(b))
Contributions to defined contribution (e) I E ZHAL Kk A8 P 5T 31 3t 3%

retirement plans

The Group participates in defined contribution
retirement plans organised by municipal and provincial

governments for its employees in the PRC.

The details of the Group’s defined contribution
retirement plan are described in Note 7(b). There
was no material outstanding contribution to post-

employment benefit plans as at 31 December 2007.

Annual Report 2007
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The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use

of financial instruments:
. market risk;

. credit risk; and

o liquidity risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to
each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s

management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. The Group’s risk management policies are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Group’ activities. The
Group, through its training and management standards and
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment in which all employees understand their

roles and obligations.

Increasing market fluctuations may result in significant
cash-flow and profit volatility risk for the Group. The
Group’s income or the values of its holding of financial
instruments are affected by changes in commodity
price of aluminium, foreign exchange rate and interest
rate. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within the
acceptable parameters, while minimising the costs on

managing the risk.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
L R SETE A R T

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

7 A [ [A] i ) 4 1 T L T T R DL R
JEBE

)
o fr H K
o WiEHE & )E b

A B E 2 5 A7 B A 4 9 O i B 2
e A R B~ AR 4R B EE R B
Bz B~ BOR AR DL R A4
HEEHAER -

T S ST B SR AN AR Y
A R R o AR T o E A
Fox 7 2L I SR LA s % o i A 2 11 i
TE B ) JEL B~ R A Ja B R e
22 1 £ e > B B Sl A R AE B R
PATA o A 42 1] 5 30 gt v L o 8 B 1R
AR DA BT SR L R A 4
BIER 2 B E) o AREW S EER
Al R A BE L B T o B R B AL
ELRHR B BR 5 > R PT A R B IR O
%2 BRRE R RAE -

35 H it i B s g EEOR L
T B T B < U B i R )
JELBg o AR5 B 22 A BB
il T L ) (L2 0 T O (A%
A1 HEE HE < [ ) A< SR L i 5 2 o
T 35 B A B A B R 4
T 35 JE B 7E 7 #6352 19 7K > [A]
T8 5 e g A P A Bk 22 B MK
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIES )

The Group seeks to manage and control the market

risks primarily through its regular operating and

financial activities, and uses derivative instruments

when deemed appropriate. All such transactions are

carried out within the guidelines set by the Board of

Directors.

(i)

Commodity price risk on aluminium

Aluminium ingots are the major raw materials
of the Group’s products which account for
approximately 80% of total cost of sales.
Fluctuations on commodity price of aluminium
will have a significant impact on the Group’s
earnings, cash flows as well as the value of the
inventories. The Group uses its futures contracts
traded on the Shanghai Futures Exchange to
reduce its risks arising from fluctuations in
aluminium price. The Group enters futures based
on the inventories on hand, expected usage of
aluminium and sales requirements. The Group
considers that it is not cost effective to maintain

a highly effective hedge on transaction basis.

The outstanding balances of future contracts
entered as at the balance sheet dates are disclosed
in Note 17.

5 I S 5 R A B

A A ] A — R % B
B i B BLOE ) A7 A TR (i@
) B L g 1 i 3 JE g o BT
A BR 52 oy 340 1 2 2 i o Y
H51EAT -

) S P i (R 1 LB

5 B 2 AN 42 B S
BEJR AL RL o A AR 6 B AR
A K 80% o #5 T b E 45
T B S A A 1 Y L A
Hema i EEER
AR REMEAAE L
BB TEENE
H K REAK G (E A5 I E
B JEL RS o A 4R E AR BE T
SAAF - TR E
SHEEERIET RS o
AL L A EK
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(ii) Foreign currency risk

As the Group’s principal activities are carried
out in the PRC, the Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk on sales and purchases
that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations in
the PRC, RMB, to which they relate. The
transactions in foreign currency are primarily
denominated in Unite States Dollars (“USD”).
The Group currently does not have a policy to
exercise fair value hedges on foreign currency
risk as the impact of foreign currency on the
Group’s total cost of sales is minimal. However,
management monitors foreign currency exposure
to ensure that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level and will consider hedging
significant transactions should the need arise.
Included in assets and liabilities are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which

they relate:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UK )

(ii)  SPEE R B

F P A 4 A 32 3 R
TE B AT o AR 4
B F BRI JF D) A%
ST e b Ty RE B N R
FIE > T B A7 B L o
S [ 22 By 3 FE DL 3% T 5
(B o F 7 4 BE 35t A 4 (4]
A B R AR Y B
il > AR B2 8 B I Sl 4
I T - {8 3 b 41 i
B %) B3R - SK T > R
i B 4 A R B o T AR
T R\ B 46 5 A W] 4 2 K
WERKLY - st AEE
R BT RS 2 RE &
W DA Ah & W 5 R Y K OE
mrE o

2007 2006
—_EE L BN
Trade and other receivables 22 5 T HoAth JE i 31 I
USD(°000) EIt(T)
10,756 4,035
Cash and cash equivalents Bl R B 558
USD (°000) EIu(Tiz) 145 459
HKD (°000) It (L) 446 15
SGD (°000) Brmg T (Foc)
41 79
Trade and other payables 3 5 B HAth e A5} 3 T
USD (7000) EIu(Fz) 841 —
HKD (°000) Wt (L) 1,489 =
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UN BRI R)

(ii) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i)  IPEEE B (4

Sensitivity analysis

The following foreign currency sensitivity
is calculated based on the major net foreign

currency exposure of the Group as at the balance

UK IE 7T (A7)

RBEALBERAH B K
= ZA B i LB w5 R
471 BEE SRR B 20 B B (M1

sheet date, assuming 5% shift of RMB against e N\ B 58 5% e REE % Y
USD are as follows: s5%) !

A 5% strengthening of the RMB against USD
at 31 December would have decreased profit by
the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular interest

rates, remain constant.

R+_H=+—H AR
W b0, 35 JC THE 5% € 8 %
FildEe N SCRT 7~ BRI D
5% 03 BT A8 B BT A Ath
2 O =R R ) FEEA

1
i}
"

2007 2006
2R LA RN

Effect in RMB’000 PN S STl

USD *£70 213 72

A 5% weakening of the RMB against the above
currency at 31 December would have had the

equal but opposite effect on the above currency

1B A1 11 52
R A=t —
AR M 5 i 45 7

to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all {H 5% & ¥ X &
other variables remain constant. G A R A A A ELAH 1)
.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LN R )
(iii) Interest rate risk (iii) A
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that A A [ R B SR e R R
over 50% of its exposure to changes in interest 509 < & 5] 3 5 5
rates on borrowings is on a fixed rate basis. The JEL B A G2 A R o AR
Group’s loans and borrowings are mainly short- EHSTEREERSA
term in nature and on fixed rate basis. The B R BT 5 R e o AR
interest rates and terms of repayment of the [ SR AT B R 2 B R K
Group’s loans and borrowings are disclosed in U B 5E 22 B 5 -
Note 22.
Sensitivity analysis RS E T
A change of 100 basis points in interest rate 2R B I 100 ] HE A B €
would have increased or decreased profit by B =%k D AN R 5
RMB as follows: R AT
2007 2006
—FFLE —FETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AW T 0 ABRBTH#T

Profit decrease as 100 basis s AR B i B0 100

points increase A A 650 500
A 100 basis points decrease would have had the R 5% AT A oAt 5 B AR e AN 5 > 32 100 1M
equal but opposite effect on the above currencies FEAS B e b B A AR A S R E
to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all A Bz B 5288 o

other variables remain constant.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RS R )
(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) (iii) A
Effective interest rates B %
In respect of income-earning financial assets and R A 2 A
interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following I EsBMAaBEmns -
table indicates their average effective interest TREIHRGEREBRZ
rates at the balance sheet date. Majority of these TR A R o KA
items mature in the next 12 months. A BIE B i R AR AR
ARz -
2007 2006
—_ERLE BRI
Variable rate instruments FETE
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B 448 Y) 0.77% 0.72%
Bank loans SRATEFK 7.05% 6.58%
Fixed rate instruments EERTH
Pledged deposits FEEIRLIREE /e 3.13% 2.25%
Bank loans SRAT R 6.45% 6.32%
XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED 161
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Fair value

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and

liabilities approximate their respective fair values

as at the balance sheet date.

The following methods and assumptions were

used to estimate the fair value for each class of

financial instruments:

(a) Cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,

trade and other receivables, trade and other

payables and amounts due from/(to) related

parties.

The carrying amounts of these financial
assets and liabilities approximate their fair

value because of the short maturities of

these instruments.

(b)  Interest-bearing borrowings

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing
borrowings approximate their fair value as

majority of the borrowings are short-term

in nature.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if
a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises
principally from the Group’s receivables from

customers and other receivables.
Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The demographics of the Group’ customer
base, including the default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate, has less of an
influence on credit risk. Approximately 5% to 15% of
the Group’s revenue is attributable to sales transactions
with a single customer for the years ended 31
December 2007 and 2006.

The Group has established a credit policy under
which each new customer is analysed individually
for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered.
The Group’s review includes external ratings, where
available. Credit limit is established for each customer
which represents the maximum open amount without
requiring approval from the Board of Directors; these
limits are reviewed annually. Customers that fail to
meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group on a prepayment basis. The
Group chases the customers to settle the due balances
and monitors the settlement progress on an ongoing

basis.

5 I S 5 R A B

5 B R 5 i % el &l TR
32 5y 75 AN BEJRAT 5 #0 B AT i 4
B W BB R BB - A
I JL e £ A | A 2 1o 14 R
%5 BE K H At R WA
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FE A I 2 o A 4L [ %
BB F s R (RIS R T
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—KFZELS o

AL H B AT SR UK - R R
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Rl > 857 4T 45 % AR B
FFAR o AN B H) 3 B 6 45 A1 AT
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(Expressed in Renminbi)

(YU RS 7 )
The Group has a concentration of credit risk of the AL RS S EBRES > LN
total trade and other receivables due from the Group’s RN NV PN SN
largest debtor and the five largest debtors as follows: H5 N 238 5 B FAth IR it RV A8
# o
2007 2006
—ZFFLE TN
Due from U AR A3 E
— largest debtor — BRREBEA 18% 7%
— five largest debtors — AKREHA 52% 28%
The maximum exposure of credit risk is represented HAKEEEELGIIEEABENZES
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the A& 2 BRAE > AL T A -
combined balance sheet, including derivative financial
instruments.
Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group s BRF 5 27 JIT 4 8% H A 48 [ R4 2 B
as disclosed in Note 27, the Group does not provide PRAN > AR [ AS € gt By T B A0 45 0L B 4
guarantees which would expose the Group to the credit HEIE LR o NG B A B 5% 55 A HS 4 OR T T
risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect i 18 e R A B R B A B 5 27 PR RR o

of these financial guarantees at the balance sheet date
is disclosed in Note 27.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UN BRI R)

The Group’s business is managed on a worldwide basis,
but mainly participates in five principal economic
environments. The maximum exposure to credit risk

for trade receivables and bills receivable on the basis of

5 I B 85 R A B

ACSE B S A A
A A F AR B
o F R T BT AE 8 AT 19 2
y WEWSCER TEL % B Wi 52 482 P e

geographical location of customers are as follows: KEERBEWT
2007 2006
“EEEE 2T
The PRC 1 [5H] 373,213 315,278
Europe R 13,672 1,346
North America JEZE 1,710 4,647
Hong Kong s 7,206 31,379

Asia Pacific (other than the PRC 51 ORK b [ O & 36

and Hong Kong) B 4,240 11,734
Total A5t 400,041 364,384

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers. The Group establishes an allowance for
impairment that represents its estimate of incurred
losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The
main component of this allowance is a specific loss
component established for groups of similar assets in
respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet
identified. The collective loss allowance is determined
based on historical data of payment statistics for

similar financial assets.

AL — AR P R AR A o A
A B AL 52 5 T A B WO I 2 A w s 4R A
AT o RZ B Y T2 40 2 A ) 8T
7 AL i A L e A T 0 5 Ml R T A o
A4 R B TR - A IR R 9 AR ]
B R A 2 A AT MR e
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Impairment losses

The movements in the allowance for impairment in
respect of trade and other receivables during the year

are as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

i {E] My 15

AR BE N A B 22 5 e HoAt
B WA 3k T 1Y ek (L 9% A A ) A
o

2007 2006

—_ 2R L BN

Balance at 1 January —H— H B & 2,244 2,244
Deemed disposal upon e 58 - W AH Ml 1R AL AR

Reorganisation HAAR (1,774) —
Balance at 31 December W+ _—H=+—HHm&;

75 470 2,244

Based on past experience, except for the above
amounts that the customers were unable to repay
the outstanding balance, the Group believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade
and other receivables not past due; over 99% of the
total balances, which includes the amount owed by the
Group’s most significant customer, and which relates
to customers that have a good track record with the

Group.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group use activity-based costing to cost its
products, which assists it in monitoring cash flow
requirements. Typically the Group ensures that it
has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected
operation expenses for a period of 11 days, including
the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the
potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.
In addition, the Group maintains the lines of credit
to mitigate liquidity risk. The maximum banking
facilities and amounts utilised at the balance sheet date

are as disclosed in Note 22.
Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for equity holders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by

securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher sharcholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, net
debt is defined as interest-bearing loans less cash and
cash equivalents, and the capital is defined as the total
shareholders’ equity. The net debt-to-capital ratio at
31 December 2007 was 53.0%. It is the management’s
intention to maintain the ratio in the range of 55% to
65% in the future. To achieve this end, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders,

issue new shares or raise new debt financing.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

30. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

The methods, estimates and judgments the directors used in
applying the Group’s accounting policies have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial position and operating
results. Some of the accounting policies require the Group to
apply estimates and judgments, on matters that are inherently
uncertain. The critical accounting judgments in applying the

Group’s accounting policies are described below.
(a) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment and investment
property are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives, after taking into account the

estimated residual value.

The Group reviews annually the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any. The depreciation expense
for future years is adjusted if there are significant

changes from previous estimation.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(LI RIES )

(i)

(ii)

In considering the impairment losses that
may be required for certain property, plant
and equipment, investment property and lease
prepayments, recoverable amount of these assets
needs to be determined. The recoverable amount
is the greater of the net selling price and the
value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate
selling price because quoted market prices for
these assets may not be readily available. In
determining the value in use, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to
their present value, which requires significant
judgment relating to items such as level of
turnover and amount of operating costs. The
Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as

turnover and operating costs.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts
are assessed and provided based on the directors’
regular review of aging analysis and evaluation
of collectibility. A considerable level of judgment
is exercised by the directors when assessing the
credit worthiness and past collection history of

each individual customer.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment
losses would affect the net profit or loss in future

years.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

£ BF B 5 i e Bk

31. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 31.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the
accounting period ended 31 December 2007 and which have

not been adopted in these financial statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matter that
may be relevant to the Group’s operations and the combined

financial statements:

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI R EA )

RkE 22 LHE+ A
= b — Bk AR B AR R R
I 16 AT~ 3 e B K i R
116 1 3 2

CEES R ENRE T [
3 SR TR 5 TR 2
BE-FELEF A= AL
F I 6 10 M K AR 50T
M B AR T A B 3 A
BV RT - R R R -

RN REE > TIMERT ~ AR
B e TR T HE BELAS 4% I B R84 R B s
BERAR

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

T 5 H M sk % B
4y o) 7 w01 1 A 2
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009
I 5% R U 25 1 9% PSR R B 251 “EZNF—A—H
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2009
BR gt vE RIS 23 58 fEH A “EEAFE—~A—H
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
I ¢ P 5 0 7 R 25 8 % KEE I “EETNFE—-HA—H
The directors have confirmed that the Group is in the R EED > AN AR B E FEAG TE B O R
process of making an assessment of what the impact of these EAERT ~ ER) MmO S 2 - 42
amendments, new standards and new interpretations is ARk > REETE RN EAEET ~ B
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it HI Jz 3 B AN o i B 5 280 /A 4 [ 1) K8 45 22 45
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have T2 BTG AR o

a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and

financial position.
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Notes to the Combined Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(UNRBIR)

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a)

(b)

Group reorganisation

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 13 September 2007. The subsidiaries now
comprising the Group underwent and completed a
reorganisation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange on 29 February 2008. As a
result of the Reorganisation, the Company became the

holding company of the Group (Noze 1(5)).

Authorised share capital

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by
the equity holder of the Company on 29 February
2008, the equity holder approved the increase of
the authorised share capital of the Company to
1,000,000,000 shares with a par value of HKDO0.01

each.
Listing of the Company’s shares

On 31 March 2008, the Company was successfully
listed on the Stock Exchange following the completion
of its global offering of 125,400,000 shares to the

investors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Company’s Financial Statements

A2 W) S B e 2 BB S B B

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Xingfa Aluminium
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 174 to 183,
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and
the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash
flow statement for the period from 13 September 2007 (date of
incorporation) to 31 December 2007, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of

this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Company’s Financial Statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of

the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2007
and of its result and cash flows for the period from 13 September
2007 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2007 in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

21 April 2008

AR ) S 5 e 2 98 S R e

FRA 192 LA s 2 B AT 190 7 o A
HEQGUAT 1A% LA - 28 Lo v I ZOR T AR
SPAETERLE > G # L EOM A s T AR LS B
20 B 55 3 R T AN A A A T R B R R
B BRAREE o

W% LAY R B A A T > DA IR B
S 5 0 3R e M R P TR AR R AR < IR
AR B T A% BT ) B - £ 4 S
I B R G R A ) B o 2 K
Box 14 A o 72 AT 5% S5 Ja B T ik R > A% B
fli 25 . B ) i) B 2 7 3 510 5 Bk 5 A
A R ] DASERHE B R AR > (HE
F14 317 JF 75 2% WA A 42 1 AY A A T B R
BR-FRTFEAEF EEREN G
BOR B AR & VAR Al w A S B
DA 55 o 5 2 110 A B 5 o

ARG > RAMVEBRFZEIR L0 B
A O AR T AR T g

FAM w2y - bt B B R O U AN A e
R R ARR_FFEFE T+ A=+—HK
MBURA B AFAH —FFLEALAT=
H GEMSLEH) 2 - FFLE+HZH
=t R MR AR SRR W%
I o % B 5 o 4 1) R 7 v 2 ) ) 1Y 45
P K E B 1l <

5 S 6 5 R S
A

FshE

HEFTIE1057

KT KJE 8
—EE)MEN A+ —H

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
L R SRR RN T

173



Income Statement

W s %

Jor the period from 13 September 2007 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2007 (Expressed in Renminbi)
R S e e - e B T

RMB
AR
Turnover (= %011 —
Profit for the period AR —
The notes on pages 178 to 183 form part of these financial 1787 183 2 B 3k WA 35 > 4L AR T
statements. 43 0
174 XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RIS 7)

Balance Sheet

B AR

as at 31 December 2007

HREEELFE=A=A—H

Note RMB

Bt A B
Non-current assets I i B —
Current assets B A —
Current liabilities i ) £ —
Net current assets it Bl A —
Total assets less current liabilities AR 7 T e B £ —
Non-current liabilities FE i By A 5 —
Net assets B REE —
Share capital iz A 5 —

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21

April 2008.

The notes on pages 178 to 183 form part of these financial

statements.

[y
YHE SIS AR ) 4 o

Luo Riming

FE/NENH -+ —HEERGH

Chief Executive Officer

TR
#EHW

5178 2 183 H 2 [t ik 2 o 75 i 3 2 A0 A0

Ay o
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Jor the period from 13 September 2007 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2007 (Expressed in Renminbi)
R S e e - e B T

Share capital

JeA
Note RMB
it AR
Issue of share at date of incorporation iR E H#ATI Y 5 —
Balance at 31 December 2007 “ERFRLETA=ST HZAR —
The notes on pages 178 to 183 form part of these financial 17875 183 2 I 3T /5 W S 36 2 4 B
statements. 43 o
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LI RIS 7)

Cash Flow Statement

BlEimak

for the period from 13 September 2007 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2007
W = FEEEEAAT=H (MR rEH) £ FFEFE+H="1—H1LHH

RMB

ARH

Cash flow from operating activity BB 2 Bl e =

Cash flow from investing activity REWH BB —

Cash flow from financing activity il 1 B 2 B —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period WKk Bl KBl &5 HIHH =
The notes on pages 178 to 183 form part of these financial 51787 183 2 B 3k I WA S 35 > 4L AR T

statements.

Ay o

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Company’ s Financial Statements

7R ) B 5 e A B

Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
September 2007 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

These financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 21 April 2008.

Pursuant to a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”)
of the Company and its subsidiaries now comprising
the group (the “Group”) completed on 29 February
2008 to rationalise the Group structure for the
public listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), the business operations of
manufacturing and sales of aluminium profiles (the
“Aluminium Profile Business”), with relevant assets
and liabilities of the Guangdong Xingfa Group
Co., Ltd., Guangdong Xingfa Innovation Co., Ltd.
and Foshan Xingfa Aluminium Profiles Co., Ltd.
(collectively referred to as the “Predecessor Entities”),
were transferred to the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group and the Company became the holding company
of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. The
Predecessor Entities, the Company and the subsidiaries
now comprising the Group are under common control
of a group of ultimate equity holders (referred to as the
“Controlling Shareholders”).
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Notes to the Company’ s Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN RIEIIR)

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND (continued)

(b)

Reorganisation (continued)

The shares of the Company were listed on the
Stock Exchange on 31 March 2008. Details of the
Reorganisation are set out in the prospectus dated 17
March 2008 issued by the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries now comprising
the Group are principally engaged in the Aluminium
Profile Business in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC?).

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”), which include all applicable
individual IFRSs, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and related Interpretations, promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”). These financial statements also comply
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the TASB issued a number of new and revised IFRSs.
For the purpose of preparing these financial statements,
the Company has adopted all these new and revised
IFRSs throughout the period presented, except for
any new standards or interpretation that are not yet
effective for the accounting period ended 31 December
2007. The revised and new accounting standards and
interpretations issued but not yet effective for the
accounting period ended 31 December 2007 are set out

in Note 7.
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Notes to the Company’ s Financial Statements

7R ) B 5 e A B

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b)

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgments
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The directors
consider that there are no critical accounting estimates
or area of judgement required in the preparation of

these financial statements.
Basis of measurement

Items included in the financial statements are measured
using the currency that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events and circumstances
relevant to the entity (“functional currency”). These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional and

presentation currency.

These financial statements are prepared on the

historical cost basis.
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to
the functional currency at exchange rates ruling at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting
date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the exchange rates at that date. Foreign currency
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Company’ s Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN RIEIIR)

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

No director received any emolument from the Company
during the period from 13 September 2007 (date of
incorporation) to 31 March 2007.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared during the period from 13
September 2007 (date of incorporation) to 31 December
2007.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company was incorporated on 13 September 2007
with an authorised capital of HKD100,000 divided into
10,000,000 shares of HKDO0.01 each and 10,000,000 nil-
paid shares were issued thereafter. At 31 December 2007,
10,000,000 nil-paid shares were held by the Controlling
Shareholders.
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Notes to the Company’ s Financial Statements

7R ) B 5 e A B

The subsidiaries now comprising the Group underwent

and completed a reorganisation for the listing of

the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on 29

February 2008. As a result of the Reorganisation, the

Company became the holding company of the Group.

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of company

kA

China Xingfa
(BVI) Limited

HAEBVI

At

Xingfa Aluminium Pte

Ltd.
BLEESG

Guangdong Xingfa
Aluminium Co., Ltd.*

BLEEE ()

the PRC.

Place and date of

Issued and fully

incorporation/ paid up/registered

establishment
AL M A
K H

The British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”)
2 October 2007

ey ) ace il
ZERELAETHZA

Singapore

3 April 2006

3
“EZENENA=R

the PRC
262006
[
ZRENE
fLAZ+NH

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED

L R SETE A R T

capital
CEITRME
ALNEN

USD1,000

1,000 7T

SGD43,666,000

43,666,000
Hrn oo

RMB180,040,000
AR
180,040,0007C

This entity is a wholly owned foreign enterprise established in

(Expressed in Renminbi)
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Direct Indirect

HiE i3

100% —

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities
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Notes to the Company’ s Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN RIEIIR)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)
(b) Authorised share capital

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by
the equity holders of the Company on 29 February
2008, the equity holders approved the increase of
the authorised share capital of the Company to
1,000,000,000 shares with a par value of HKDO0.01

each.
(c) Listing of Company’s Shares

On 31 March 2008, the Company was successfully
listed on the Stock Exchange following the completion
of its global offering of 125,400,000 shares to the
investors.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2007

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2007 and which have not been adopted
in these financial statements.

Of these developments, the following relate to matter that
may be relevant to the Company’s operations and these
financial statements:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

I % Y ) S5 1 5% B S SR ) 2 51

The directors have confirmed that the Company is in the
process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and new interpretations is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations
and financial position.
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Three Years Summary

AR
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(LN B )

Summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and

minority interests of the Group for the last three financial years is

set out below:

WE =AM B AEENOTEERREE
B RA LB DB R SR ST

For the year ended 31 December
BETA=1—HILEE

2007 2006 2005

2 i ZREINE XTI

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T AT ANEWTFoC

Turnover -] 2,148,674 1,861,244 1,309,103

Profit before income tax % B A5 58 iy s A 290,923 66,164 36,877

Income tax (expenses)/credit  FFf8Hi (%) / iK% 677 (5,875) (11,062)

Profit for the year IR A Vi ) 291,600 60,289 25,815

Attributable to: JREAL «

Equity holders of the AT BAERFA A

Company 291,750 59,377 24,774

Minority interests D BB R £ (150) 912 1,041

As at 31 December
R+H+oHA=1+—H

2007 2006 2005

R = T e

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ANRHETIC ARHT T

Total assets R 1,061,906 1,291,472 990,941

Total liabilities A (626,578) (939,232) (738,990)

Minority interests BB R £7 — 29,139 28,227

Total equity KAt 2 435,328 352,240 251,951

The summary above does not form part of the audited combined

financial statements.

XINGFA ALUMINIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED
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